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To Our Shareholders

In the lives of most companies, there are

very few events that can be described as

truly momentous—even in an annual

report, where hyperbole rarely is spared.

For Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter,

Discover & Co., there were two such

events in 1997.

The first was our merger, which brought together two highly profitable, successful companies,

creating a powerful new company—one with enormous financial strength, global scope, and

an unmatched breadth of market leadership across a number of businesses. The combination

Philip J. Purcell, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer (right);

John J. Mack, President & Chief Operating Officer

W E  A C C O M P L I S H E D  O U R  T R A N S I T I O N  T O  O N E  C O M P A N Y  I N  R E M A R K A B LY  S H O R T

O R D E R  A N D  W I T H  A  R A T H E R  S I Z A B L E  I N C R E A S E  I N  R E V E N U E S  A N D  E A R N I N G S

was widely heralded as raising the bar and dramatically affecting the competitive contours in

the financial services marketplace. Our merger has been followed by many others as the

wave of consolidation has continued, and it is clear at the beginning of 1998 that, by anticipating

the trend, each of our companies gained a quality partner.

The second event—perhaps more an achievement than an event—was making the business

decisions that would put the merger in place. This certainly was more difficult than the initial

agreement and the formal consummation of the merger because when companies combine, there

inevitably is the need to integrate certain functions, change old ways of doing things, and work

together. We accomplished our transition to one company in remarkably short order, with very

few distractions, and a rather sizable increase in revenues and earnings. In serving our customers
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1 9 9 7  N E T  I N C O M E *
( I N  M I L L I O N S  O F  U S  D O L L A R S )

F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

F I S C A L F I S C A L
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S , Y E A R  Y E A R  
E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  D A T A ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

N E T  R E V E N U E S
Securities $ 9,390 $ 7,898
Asset Management 2,476 1,336
Credit and Transaction Services 2,967 2,789

Total $ 14,833 $ 12,023

N E T  I N C O M E *

Securities $ 1,650 $ 1,269
Asset Management 531 277
Credit and Transaction Services 468 434

Total $ 2,649 $ 1,980

Earnings per common share:

Primary $ 4.25 $ 3.22
Fully diluted $ 4.15 $ 3.14

Total assets $302,287 $238,860
Shareholders’ equity $ 13,956 $ 11,702

Return on average common shareholders’ equity 22% 20%

1 9 9 7  N E T  R E V E N U E S
( I N  M I L L I O N S  O F  U S  D O L L A R S )




A SSET  MANAGEMENT 

$53 1 

( 20%)

SECUR I T I ES 

$ 1 , 650 

( 62%)

CRED I T  AND  TRANSACT ION  SERV ICES 

$468 

( 1 8%)

ASSET  MANAGEMENT 

$2 ,4 76 

( 1 7%)

CRED I T  AND  TRANSACT ION  SERV ICES 

$2 ,967 

( 20%)

SECUR I T I ES 

$9 , 390 

( 63%)

*See accompanying financial statements and footnotes beginning on page 66.
*Excludes merger-related expenses aggregating $63 million net of tax in fiscal year 1997.
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F I S C A L  Y E A R ( 1 )  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  E X C E P T  S H A R E  D A T A ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5 1 9 9 4 1 9 9 3

I N C O M E  S T A T E M E N T  D A T A :
Revenues

Investment banking $    2,694 $    2,190 $    1,556 $    1,102 $    1,642
Principal transactions:

Trading 3,191 2,659 1,685 1,614 1,778
Investments 463 86 121 154 157

Commissions 2,086 1,776 1,533 1,323 1,284
Fees:

Asset management, distribution and 
administration 2,505 1,732 1,377 1,317 1,074

Merchant and cardmember 1,704 1,505 1,135 940 771
Servicing 762 809 680 565 506

Interest and dividends 13,583 11,288 10,530 8,715 7,336
Other 144 126 115 127 104

Total revenues 27,132 22,171 18,732 15,857 14,652
Interest expense 10,806 8,934 8,190 6,697 5,620
Provision for consumer loan losses 1,493 1,214 722 530 433

Net revenues 14,833 12,023 9,820 8,630 8,599

Non-interest expenses
Compensation and benefits 6,019 5,071 4,005 3,535 3,687
Other 4,466 3,835 3,464 3,133 2,737
Merger-related expenses 74 — — — —
Relocation charge — — 59 — —

Total non-interest expenses 10,559 8,906 7,528 6,668 6,424

Income before income taxes 4,274 3,117 2,292 1,962 2,175
Provision for income taxes 1,688 1,137 827 705 803

Net income $    2,586 $    1,980 $    1,465 $    1,257 $    1,372

Earnings applicable to common shares(2) $    2,520 $    1,914 $    1,400 $    1,192 $    1,317

P E R  S H A R E  D A T A : ( 3 )

Earnings per common share
Primary $      4.25 $      3.22 $      2.30 $      1.96 $      2.24
Fully diluted 4.15 3.14 2.25 1.93 2.20

Book value per common share 22.11 18.43 15.63 13.38 11.43
Dividends per common share 0.56 0.44 0.32 0.25 0.15

B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A N D  
O T H E R  O P E R A T I N G  D A T A :
Total assets $302,287 $238,860 $181,961 $159,477 $161,519 
Consumer loans 20,033 21,262 19,733 14,731 11,091
Total capital(4) 33,577 31,152 24,644 20,933 15,112 
Long-term borrowings(4) 19,621 19,450 14,636 12,352 7,702 
Shareholders’ equity 13,956 11,702 10,008 8,581 7,410 
Return on average common shareholders’ equity 22.0% 20.0% 16.4% 15.8% 21.7%
Average common and equivalent shares(2)(3) 594,182,885 594,478,535 608,246,433 606,721,462 586,639,815

S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A

(1) Fiscal 1993 through fiscal 1996 represents the combination of Morgan Stanley’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended November 30 with
Dean Witter Discover’s financial statements for the years ended December 31.

(2) Amounts shown are used to calculate primary earnings per common share. 
(3) Per share data have been restated to reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split. 
(4) Excludes the current portion of long-term borrowings and includes Capital Units.
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S E C U R I T I E S
Our securities business is built on two powerful franchises—Morgan Stanley

and Dean Witter—the first primarily serving corporations, governments, and

institutions and the second primarily focusing on individual investors.
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The Morgan Stanley franchise is based on a long tradition of financial strength and quality that

is carried out today by 10,000 investment bankers, sales and trading professionals, product spe-

cialists, research analysts, and support staff who serve both the providers and users of capital

in markets around the world.

In 1997, we further strengthened our position of market leadership. We were once again

ranked #1 in worldwide completed and announced M&A transactions. In underwriting, we

again were in the top three in equity and equity-related issues, we rose to #2 in high-yield debt,

and we maintained our strong position in US investment grade debt. We were selected as lead-

manager or advisor for many of the year’s most prominent transactions in all corners of the globe,

including the proposed $23 billion merger of Union Bank of Switzerland and Swiss Bank

Corporation, Unibanco’s $1.2 billion global share offering—the largest ever by a Brazilian com-

pany, the $18 billion merger of Guinness and Grand Met in the UK, and Raytheon’s $3 bil-

lion debt offering, a much sought-after mandate awarded to Morgan Stanley Dean Witter after

competition among 19 firms. 

S E C U R I T I E S

W E  F U R T H E R  S T R E N G T H E N E D  O U R  M A R K E T  L E A D E R S H I P  I N  I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G

Our institutional equity sales and trading presence continued to grow its market share around

the world. The quality of our equity franchise was recognized with awards in many categories

of service, including “Equity House of the Year” and “Equity Derivatives House of the

Year” by International Financing Review.

Morgan Stanley’s prominence in investment banking is matched by the breadth, leadership,

and skill of our sales and trading activities in global markets. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter is

the firm of choice for many issuers because of the market knowledge we gain from our trad-

ing activities and our constant daily contact with investors and counterparties. Our corporate
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S E C U R I T I E S
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I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G  R E V E N U E S

9796959493
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P R I N C I P A L  T R A D I N G  R E V E N U E S

9796959493
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9,946



D E A N  W I T T E R  A C C O U N T  E X E C U T I V E S

9796959493
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( I N  B I L L I O N S  O F  U S  D O L L A R S )



D E A N  W I T T E R  C L I E N T  A S S E T S



Our broad expertise and ability to execute transactions in today’s global markets have placed

us at the center of several large-scale economic trends. In 1997, we were the leading M&A advi-

sor in the financial services sector as consolidation in this industry accelerated. As global

competition in telecommunications intensified, we provided advisory services and arranged

financing for a number of telecommunications companies in the US, Europe, and Asia. We also

have been at the forefront of the global consolidation and the convergence activity in the

energy and utilities industries. We continue to be the leader in research, financing, and

advisory services for technology companies as this sector undergoes further rapid change. We

also are leaders in helping to meet the infrastructure needs in developing countries and in

this past year led four major infrastructure financings in China. As the US health-care system

moved further toward “corporatization,” we provided M&A advisory services, high-yield

financing, senior debt, and securitization of assets for the formation of Multicare, a long-term

health-care company.

Innovation continues to be one of our hallmarks. This past year we extended securitization to

new markets and asset classes with Autolink’s £231 million securitization of toll roads in

MSDWD 16

S E C U R I T I E S

finance professionals work closely with professionals on our trading floors—and now with the

Dean Witter sales organization—to structure transactions designed to meet the goals of both

issuers and investors. 

One of our greatest strengths in serving both investors and issuers is our global equity research

team, which includes 15 economists, 12 strategists, and 181 analysts covering more than 2,000

companies worldwide. The Morgan Stanley Dean Witter merger significantly enhanced our

research capabilities and in 1997, we were ranked #1 in first team positions on the Institutional

Investor All-America Research Team and #2 in total positions.

I N S T I T U T I O N A L  I N V E S T O R  I N  ’S  F I R S T - E V E R  S U R V E Y  O N  G L O B A L  R E S E A R C H

T H E  G L O B A L  E Q U I T Y  R E S E A R C H  G R O U P  W A S  N A M E D  N U M B E R  O N E  I N  G L O B A L  R E S E A R C H  
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I N D I V I D U A L  I N V E S T O R
B R O K E R A G E

S A L E S  A N D  T R A D I N G

S E C U R I T I E S  R E S E A R C H
A N D  A N A LY S I S

I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G
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Scotland, the Sino Commercial Properties Funding $300 million financing backed by commercial

property in Hong Kong, Canary Wharf’s £550 million securitization of commercial property leases,

and the ground-breaking $3.6 billion rate reduction bonds for Pacific Gas and Electric and San

Diego Gas and Electric. The firm applied its expertise as a world leader in the market for

Collateralized Bond/Loan Obligations (CBOs/CLOs) and completed a $1.3 billion CLO trans-

action managed by Van Kampen American Capital, one of our mutual fund companies. We also

expanded the global reach of the non-investment grade market by lead-managing four European

currency high-yield offerings: a DM 175 million issue for Exide Holding Europe, a DM 140 mil-

lion issue for Central European Media Enterprises, a FFr 500 million issue for Financière Néopost,

and a dual-tranche offering for COLT Telecom plc (£50 million and DM 150 million).

Our second major franchise in the securities business is Dean Witter—led by our 9,946 pro-

fessional account executives in 399 branches nationwide who provide financial advice to

individual investors. Over the last five years, the number of Dean Witter account executives

has grown by a greater amount than any of our major full-service competitors in the US. In

S E C U R I T I E S

S INCE  THE  COMPLET ION  OF  THE  MERGER ,  NEW  ISSUE  SALES  BY  DEAN WIT TER

ACCOUNT EXECUT IVES  HAVE  INCREASED  DRAMAT ICALLY

1997, we added 853 new account executives—giving us the highest number in our history. We

also gained 700,000 new account relationships—another record, which brought the total num-

ber of accounts to 3.5 million. And we increased individual client assets entrusted to account

executives by $51 billion to stand at $302 billion at the end of the fiscal year.

The strategic importance of our full-service individual investor securities business is under-

lined by the growth in recent years of the individual investor market, fueled in large part by

the rapid increase in mutual fund assets. Sixty-four percent of financial assets in the US now

are controlled by individual investors compared with 47% 10 years ago, and individual stocks

and equity funds now have replaced real estate and bank deposits as the largest component
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of net worth for American households. As the financial services industry continues to consol-

idate, as product categories proliferate and become blurred, and as the sheer volume of

financial information continues to expand, the financial advice of our account executives

nationwide will play an increasingly important role in serving individual investors and will

provide us with a key competitive advantage.

The strength of the Dean Witter franchise among individual investors already has had a very

significant positive impact on our underwriting business, particularly on our ability to win

mandates for preferred stock offerings, REITs, and large block trades. The successful distrib-

ution of $575 million of SunAmerica stock showed that our account executives can play a role

in block transactions, which are becoming increasingly important for many corporate issuers.

Our account executives also played a key role in the $2.5 billion secondary issue of First

Union common shares, the largest secondary offering in history. More than 20,000 individual

clients invested approximately $500 million in this

issue through Dean Witter account executives. 

As 1997 drew to a close, our individual investor clients

benefited from the expanded opportunities created

by the merger, and corporate issuers benefited from the

new company’s expanded distribution strengths. In the

financial services marketplace, two powerful franchises

had become one: Morgan Stanley Dean Witter. We

believe there is no better name in financial services than

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter and no company with

a more powerful combination of strengths to meet the

needs and goals of our clients and customers around

the world.

9796959493

57

71

78

84
86

N U M B E R  O F  T O P - R A T E D  

A N A LY S T S  W O R L D W I D E *

*	 INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR 1997 

	 RANKED ANALYSTS
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ASSET  MANAGEMENT
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter managed $338 billion for institutional and

individual investors at year-end 1997 to rank # 2 worldwide among domestic full-

service securities firms. This business generated $531 million in net income in

1997, and we believe it is destined for significant growth in the next 5-10 years

driven by increasing global demand for asset management products and

services. 



MSDWD 22

We have benefited from the remarkable growth of the US mutual fund business in recent years,

with assets going from $789 billion in 1987 to $4.4 trillion today. We believe that the demand for

asset management services will continue in the US and should accelerate dramatically in Europe,

Asia, and Latin America as a result of four secular trends: 

■ An aging population in the developed world and a growing middle class in the developing

world;

■ Increased privatization of pension plans to meet shortfalls in government-sponsored plans;

■ Increased control by individuals over retirement assets; and

■ The movement away from savings and fixed income products to equities in order to meet

long-term financial goals such as providing for retirement.

A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T

A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  N E T  I N C O M E  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  W A S  A  R E C O R D

$ 5 3 1 M I L L I O N — 9 2 %  A H E A D  O F  1 9 9 6

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter is in a strong position to take advantage of these trends. Our com-

petitive advantages include: a broad base of both institutional and individual clients; a comprehensive

product menu that can be tailored to meet particular client goals; a global presence; and the abil-

ity to differentiate ourselves in a crowded, but consolidating, marketplace. 

In meeting the growing demand for asset management services, we have three well-established

distribution channels: direct relationships with corporations, governments, universities, and

other institutions through Morgan Stanley and Miller Anderson & Sherrerd products and services;
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DEAN WITTER INTERCAPITAL

MORGAN STANLEY ASSET MANAGEMENT

Morgan Stanley Asset Management (MSAM) is a
global provider of outstanding performing products
and services for sophisticated institutional clients
across traditional and alternative asset classes. MSAM
operates with over 50 investment products span-
ning the risk/return spectrum that are managed in
locations around the world. MSAM also manages a
large family of domestic, international equity, and
multi-class funds for institutional, high net worth, and
retail investors.

Van Kampen American Capital (VKAC) is a top-tier
retail non-proprietary mutual fund provider that has
client relationships in several retail distribution chan-
nels for its broad range of domestic and interna-
tional products. VKAC has over 60 open-end funds,
37 closed-end funds, and 2,500 series of tax exempt
and equity unit investment trusts. Approximately
46% of VKAC’s $51 billion in retail fund assets are
in equity, and 54% are in fixed income. Its products
are sold primarily through brokerage firms, banks, and
financial planners.

Dean Witter InterCapital is adviser and administra-
tor to the company’s family of proprietary mutual
funds for individual investors. InterCapital develops,
markets, and manages a broad spectrum of funds,
which are sold through Dean Witter account execu-
tives. There currently are 143 InterCapital funds
and portfolios with more than $102 billion in assets
and more than 2 million investors. Approximately
45% of the assets are in a variety of equity funds,
which have been the fastest growing segment in
recent years. InterCapital has provided Dean Witter
clients with solid performance and exceptional cus-
tomer service over the years.

I N S T I T U T I O N A L  I N V E S T M E N T  M A N A G E M E N T

I N D I V I D U A L  A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T

Miller Anderson & Sherrerd (MAS) provides a vari-
ety of financial products and mutual funds with first
class, long-term investment results and service to
institutional clients. Blending strategic thinking with
disciplined investment analysis, MAS has compiled
an outstanding long-term performance record across
a broad range of asset classes and investment styles.
MAS’ strength in fixed income and domestic equi-
ties complements the firm’s long-standing strengths
in global products.
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A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T

direct relationships with more than 2 million individual investors who are Dean Witter clients;

and relationships with millions of individual investors who purchase Van Kampen American Capital

products through other brokerage firms, banks, and financial planners.

OUR  ASSET  MANAGEMENT  BUS INESSES  PROV IDE  A  W IDE  RANGE  OF  PRODUCTS  

AND  SERV ICES  FOR  BOTH  INST I TUT IONAL  AND  IND IV IDUAL  CL I ENTS

Morgan Stanley is recognized globally as a leader in institutional investment management. Our

reputation has been built on a record of performance and a standard of professional service that

is widely recognized. We had an outstanding year in 1997 in institutional fund performance.

Our comprehensive set of products includes domestic and international equities, global fixed

income, multi-asset class products, and alternative asset class products such as private equity,

venture capital, real estate, and commodities funds. All are backed by strong research and sophis-

ticated risk analysis. The mix of products for a particular client is determined by disciplined

attention to the client’s investment goals.

As a result of this approach, our institutional assets under management grew by $35 billion in

1997—with $12 billion coming from asset appreciation and a record $23 billion coming from

net new business. Institutional assets managed by the Company have grown to $145 billion.

In addition, our private investment products under the asset management umbrella enable

clients to implement a diversified asset allocation strategy. We continue to grow this business,

including adding a $300 million emerging markets private investment fund to our stable of pri-

vate investment funds. Morgan Stanley now has raised over $8 billion of commitments for 12

funds that invest in controlling equity, buyout transactions, venture capital, real estate, and spe-

cial situations. The funds in these fast-growing asset classes have historically delivered solid

performance, providing the Company and its investors with superior long-term returns and a

more diversified portfolio.
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M I L L E R  A N D E R S O N  &
S H E R R E R D

V A N  K A M P E N  A M E R I C A N  C A P I T A L

D E A N  W I T T E R  I N T E R C A P I T A L

M O R G A N  S T A N L E Y  A S S E T
M A N A G E M E N T
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A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter’s second key distribution channel is our full-service relationships

with individual investors through Dean Witter’s 9,946 professional account executives. Dean

Witter was one of the first Wall Street firms to focus on asset management products for

individual investors. Dean Witter InterCapital Inc. has grown from approximately $700 mil-

lion in assets under management in 1978 to over $102 billion today. The focus on asset man-

agement has historically helped make Dean Witter’s earnings less volatile than most other

securities firms and continues to provide a stream of continuing revenues. This business now

includes rapidly growing product areas such as variable annuities, wrap accounts, unit

investment trusts, and asset-related lending products—all offered through Dean Witter

account executives.

To fully leverage our company’s reputation and capabilities in asset management, we will start

in 1998 to market all of our proprietary funds for individuals under the Morgan Stanley Dean

Witter brand. We also will adapt a number of the Morgan Stanley institutional funds for the

O N E  O F  T H E  C O M P A N Y ’ S  T O P  P R I O R I T I E S  I S  G L O B A L  G R O W T H  O F  O U R

A S S E T M A N A G E M E N T  B U S I N E S S

individual investor market and offer them through Dean Witter account executives. A precursor

of the potential synergies of this combination was a Morgan Stanley-advised fund, distributed

through Dean Witter in October, which attracted $496 million in investments in the first month.

Our third major distribution channel is to offer Van Kampen American Capital asset management

products to individuals through intermediaries such as other brokerage firms, banks, and

financial planners. In addition to important distribution relationships, Van Kampen American

Capital gives us a third strong brand, one with a reputation for quality service. It has won the
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DALBAR Quality Tested Seal of Approval for the last eight years. In addition to mutual funds,

Van Kampen American Capital offers unit investment trusts to individual investors through

its multiple distribution relationships.

There clearly are complementary strengths in the Morgan Stanley Dean Witter asset management

business that should lead to future growth. One obvious opportunity is in the still nascent markets

outside the US, where we should be able to leverage the firm’s global presence along with our con-

siderable asset management expertise. About 90% of our asset management revenues come from

US customers, but we already have a sizable presence in Japan—where we went from $3 billion to

$5 billion in assets under management in 1997. We are committed to meeting the global need for

asset management services and thereby hope to capture a large share of the growing global market. 

I N V E S T O R S  T R U S T  O U R  A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S K I L L S  T O  P R O V I D E  T H E M  W I T H  H I G H -

Q U A L I T Y  P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S  T O  M A K E  S O U N D  I N V E S T M E N T  D E C I S I O N S
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N U M B E R  O N E  I N
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C R E D I T  S E R V I C E S
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter is a company that is built on leading, well-estab-

lished franchises, and one of our strongest is Discover Card, which is the

flagship of our credit services business. Discover Card was started from ground

zero in 1985 and marketed as the first value card—with no annual fee and a

Cashback Bonus®. In 1997, credit services was the largest US issuer of general

purpose credit cards, as measured by number of accounts. We reach roughly

a third of the households in the US. Our credit services business has almost

$36 billion in receivables and relationships with more than 3 million merchant

locations across the US.
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Our credit services business had a successful year in 1997, with earnings of $468 million—an

8% increase over 1996. We maintained the strength of our franchise and continued to extend

it in a number of key areas. Credit card receivables, which provide a stream of continuing rev-

enues, increased by 8% to $36 billion. We achieved significant growth with the addition of

400,000 new NOVUS® merchant locations that accept our credit cards, bringing us much closer

to our goal of parity with VISA and MasterCard. Today, our cards are accepted at locations that

account for a vast majority of credit card transactions in the US. In 1997, we also continued our

initiative, through Discover Brokerage Direct, in the promising area of electronic commerce.

C R E D I T  S E R V I C E S

C R E D I T  A N D  T R A N S A C T I O N  S E R V I C E S  A C H I E V E D  $ 4 6 8  M I L L I O N  I N  N E T  I N C O M E ,

A N 8 %  I N C R E A S E  O V E R  L A S T  Y E A R

We achieved these results in an environment that was

difficult for many in the industry in two ways. First,

delinquencies and personal bankruptcies continued

to beleaguer the industry, resulting in continued high

costs of write-offs for bad debt. Second, several years

of fierce competition for new accounts have made it

more difficult for many companies to achieve profitable

growth, several major cards have faltered and industry-

wide consolidation has intensified. We believe our size

and strength have enabled us to withstand the worst

effects of these trends, and we have been able to take

action in response to them.

In 1997, we continued to pursue a number of courses to deal with the trend of rising delin-

quencies, including tightened credit standards, increased collection efforts, and a number of

repricing actions such as overlimit fees and increased fees for late payments. As a result of the

9796959493

29

33

36

39
40

( I N  M I L L I O N S )

G E N E R A L  P U R P O S E  

C R E D I T  C A R D  A C C O U N T S



MSDWD 3

repricing actions, we protected the profitability of the

franchise during 1997—in fact, earnings have continued

to grow despite $2.8 billion in write-offs over the past

two years. 

In early 1997, we initiated further steps to deal with the

continuing problem of bad debts. The tightening of

credit policies begun two years ago applied mostly

to new account acquisition, but we now examine our

entire portfolio (old and new accounts alike) to iden-

tify risks of future delinquencies, and we lower lines

of credit and proactively revoke accounts based on

current credit bureau information on the number of

credit cards held by the cardmember and the cardmember’s current total indebtedness. We

look forward to the future results from this intensified focus on portfolio risk management. 

Many industry observers have been predicting a slowing of growth in the credit card market

for more than a decade—it was cited back in 1985 as the main reason the new Discover Card

would never succeed. But credit cards continued to be a growth industry, attracting new

entrants and fostering fierce competition. As a result, continued profitable growth has become

more difficult for many companies. In 1997, Bank of New York exited the market, Advanta’s

growth stalled (its card portfolio was acquired by Fleet Financial), and AT&T put its Universal

Card on the selling block (and found a buyer in Citibank).

Discover Card continues to have a large, successful consumer franchise, and we are responding

to the competitive environment with increased focus on our strengths. Since it has become more

difficult and expensive to gain profitable new accounts, we will give more emphasis to building

revenues by playing to our strength: namely, our enormous base of existing cardholders. We plan

to build revenues by offering new promotions, opportunities, and products to the many different
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C R E D I T  S E R V I C E S

segments of our customer base of 38 million accounts. We believe this customer base is an immense

strength in a consolidating market.

As we mine the rich Discover Card account base, we are still in a position to opportunistically

pursue additional growth in other segments of the credit card market. We plan to continue to

grow the Private Issue card. We are pleased with the initial success of our NOVUS partner-

ship (co-brand and affinity) programs, which have allowed us to broaden our customer base

T H E  N O V U S  A C C O U N T  B A S E  O F  3 8 M I L L I O N  G I V E S  U S  A  S I G N I F I C A N T

C O M P E T I T I V E  A D V A N T A G E

through our programs with various partners, including the Smithsonian Institution and

Universal Studios. We will continue these efforts.

A long-term goal for Discover Card and the NOVUS Network is expansion overseas—into

markets where there is still a significant undercapacity in credit cards. Since this expansion

will entail relationships with financial and non-financial institutions, as well as foreign

governments, Morgan Stanley’s established presence in markets throughout the world is an

obvious advantage.  

The extension of the Discover brand also offers opportunities in a number of emerging, rapid

growth businesses that cut across the traditional credit card market. One of the most promis-

ing is the realm of electronic commerce. In January 1997, Dean Witter Discover acquired

Lombard Brokerage, Inc., a leading provider of online brokerage services. We renamed it

Discover Brokerage Direct and have committed new resources to this enterprise, with the long-

term goal of offering a wide range of financial services to the growing number of customers

who want alternatives to traditional brokerage channels.
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C O - B R A N D / A F F I N I T Y  C A R D S

D I S C O V E R® C A R D

P R I V A T E  I S S U E® C A R D

D I S C O V E R  B R O K E R A G E  D I R E C T
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W E  B E L I E V E  D I S C O V E R  B R O K E R A G E  D I R E C T  H A S  T R E M E N D O U S  G R O W T H

P O T E N T I A L  I N  T H E  E L E C T R O N I C  F I N A N C I A L  S E R V I C E S  M A R K E T

C R E D I T  S E R V I C E S

We believe the emerging electronic financial services market has tremendous growth poten-

tial. Forrester Research has predicted that online accounts will grow from approximately 3 mil-

lion today to more than 14 million by 2002 and that those accounts will control more than $500

billion in assets. Discover Brokerage Direct is participating in this growth as shown by the

increase in the percentage of our trades processed through the Internet.

Discover Brokerage Direct permits customers

to invest three ways—through its Internet site,

via an automated touch-tone telephone system,

or with a core group of registered representa-

tives. Our user-friendly services include detailed

account information; real-time securities quotes;

stock, options, bonds, and mutual fund execu-

tions; and third-party research data. In April

1997, Discover Brokerage Direct was named the

best overall online broker by Barron’s for the

second consecutive year and in February 1998

was named the #1 online brokerage firm overall

by SmartMoney magazine. Discover Brokerage

Direct also has recently redesigned its Web site (www.discoverbrokerage.com) and launched

a new advertising campaign with the theme “You Are Not Alone.” We are enthusiastic about

building Discover Brokerage Direct into a leading financial services firm for self-directed con-

sumers worldwide, providing them with direct access to financial data and the capability to

execute value-priced transactions. 
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IN TRODUCT ION

T H E  C O M P A N Y
On May 31, 1997, Morgan Stanley Group Inc. (“Morgan
Stanley”) was merged with and into Dean Witter,
Discover & Co. (“Dean Witter Discover”) (the
“Merger”). At that time, Dean Witter Discover changed
its corporate name to Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter,
Discover & Co. (the “Company”). In conjunction with
the Merger, each share of Morgan Stanley common stock
then outstanding was converted into 1.65 shares of the
Company’s common stock (the “Exchange Ratio”), and
each share of Morgan Stanley preferred stock was con-
verted into one share of a corresponding series of pre-
ferred stock of the Company. The Merger was treated as
a tax-free exchange.

The Company is a pre-eminent global financial
services firm that maintains leading market positions in
each of its businesses—Securities and Asset Management,
and Credit and Transaction Services. The Company
combines three well-recognized brands in the financial
services industry: Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter and
Discover® Card. The Company also combines global
strengths in investment banking (including in the origina-
tion of quality underwritten public offerings and mergers
and acquisitions advice) and institutional sales and trad-
ing, with strengths in providing investment and global
asset management services to its customers and in provid-
ing quality consumer credit products primarily through its
Discover® Card brand.

B A S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N
The Company’s consolidated financial statements
give retroactive effect to the Merger in a transaction
accounted for as a pooling of interests. The pooling of
interests method of accounting requires the restatement
of all periods presented as if Dean Witter Discover and
Morgan Stanley always had been combined. The con-
solidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
reflects the accounts of the Company as if the additional
preferred and common stock had been issued during all
of the periods presented.

Prior to the consummation of the Merger, Dean
Witter Discover’s year ended on December 31 and
Morgan Stanley’s fiscal year ended on November 30.
Subsequent to the Merger, the Company adopted a fiscal
year-end of November 30. In recording the pooling of
interests combination, Dean Witter Discover’s financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 1996 and
1995 were combined with Morgan Stanley’s financial
statements for the fiscal years ended November 30, 1996
and 1995 (on a combined basis, “fiscal 1996” and “fiscal
1995,” respectively). The Company’s results for the
twelve months ended November 30, 1997 (“fiscal 1997”)
include the results of Dean Witter Discover that were
restated to conform to the new fiscal year-end date. The
Company’s results of operations for fiscal 1997 and fiscal
1996 include the month of December 1996 for Dean
Witter Discover.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-
year amounts to conform to the current presentation. All
material intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated.

RESULTS  OF  OPERAT IONS

C E R T A I N  F A C T O R S  A F F E C T I N G  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S *

The Company’s results of operations may be materially
affected by market fluctuations and by economic factors.
In addition, results of operations in the past have been
and in the future may continue to be materially affected
by many factors of a global nature, including economic
and market conditions; the availability of capital; the level
and volatility of interest rates; currency values and other
market indices; the availability of credit; inflation; and
legislative and regulatory developments. Such factors also
may have an impact on the Company’s ability to achieve
its strategic objectives, including (without limitation) con-
tinued profitable global expansion.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

MSDWD 36

*This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements, as well as a
discussion of some of the risks and uncertainties involved in the
Company’s businesses that could affect the matters referred to in such
statements.



The Company’s Securities and Asset Management
business, particularly its involvement in primary and sec-
ondary markets for all types of financial products, includ-
ing derivatives, is subject to substantial positive and
negative fluctuations due to a variety of factors that can-
not be predicted with great certainty, including variations
in the fair value of securities and other financial products
and the volatility and liquidity of trading markets. Fluc-
tuations also occur due to the level of market activity,
which, among other things, affects the flow of investment
dollars into mutual funds and the size, number and timing
of transactions or client assignments (including realization
of returns from the Company’s principal and merchant
banking investments). In the Company’s Credit and
Transaction Services business, changes in economic vari-
ables may substantially affect consumer loan growth and
credit quality. Such variables include the number of per-
sonal bankruptcy filings, the rate of unemployment and
the level of consumer debt to income ratios.

The Company’s results of operations also may be
materially affected by competitive factors. In addition to
competition from firms traditionally engaged in the secu-
rities business, there has been increased competition from
other sources, such as commercial banks, insurance com-
panies, mutual fund groups and other companies offering
financial services both in the U.S. and globally. As a result
of recent and pending legislative and regulatory initiatives
in the U.S. to remove or relieve certain restrictions on
commercial banks, competition in some markets that have
traditionally been dominated by investment banks and
retail securities firms has increased and may continue to
increase in the near future. In addition, recent conver-
gence and consolidation in the financial services industry
will lead to increased competition from larger diversified
financial services organizations. Fiscal 1997 was character-
ized by a record level of strategic alliances in the financial
services industry which focused on expanding asset man-
agement capabilities and combining institutional and
retail businesses, including product origination and distri-
bution capabilities.

Such competition, among other things, affects the
Company’s ability to attract and retain highly skilled indi-
viduals. Competitive factors also affect the Company’s
success in attracting and retaining clients and assets
through its ability to meet investors’ saving and invest-
ment needs by consistency of investment performance
and accessibility to a broad array of financial products and
advice. In the credit services industry, competition cen-
ters on merchant acceptance of credit cards, credit card
account acquisition and customer utilization of credit
cards. Merchant acceptance is based on both competitive
transaction pricing and the number of credit cards in cir-
culation. Credit card account acquisition and customer
utilization are driven by the offering of credit cards with
competitive and appealing features such as no annual
fees, low introductory interest rates and other customized
features targeting specific consumer groups and by having
broad merchant acceptance.

As a result of the above economic and competitive
factors, net income and revenues in any particular period
may not be representative of full-year results and may
vary significantly from year to year and from quarter to
quarter. The Company intends to manage its business for
the long term and help mitigate the potential effects of
market downturns by strengthening its competitive posi-
tion in the global financial services industry through
diversification of its revenue sources and enhancement of
its global franchise. The Company’s ability and success in
maintaining high levels of profitable business activities,
emphasizing fee-based assets that are designed to gener-
ate a continuing stream of revenues, managing risks in
both the Securities and Asset Management and Credit
and Transaction Services businesses, evaluating credit
product pricing and monitoring costs will continue to
affect its overall financial results. In addition, the
complementary trends in the financial services industry
of consolidation and globalization present, among other
things, technological, risk management and other infra-
structure challenges that will require effective resource
allocation in order for the Company to remain competitive.

MSDWD 3



M A R K E T  A N D  E C O N O M I C  C O N D I T I O N S  I N  F I S C A L  1 9 9 7
The favorable market and economic conditions which
characterized fiscal 1996 continued throughout much of
fiscal 1997, contributing to higher industry-wide securities
revenues and to record levels of net income and net
revenues for the Company’s Securities and Asset
Management business. In addition, the Company’s
Securities and Asset Management business ended the
fiscal year with record levels of account executives,
customer accounts and assets, and assets under manage-
ment and administration. The Company’s Credit and
Transaction Services business also recorded record levels
of net income, net revenues, managed consumer loans
and customer accounts despite difficult conditions in the
industry which resulted in higher rates of credit card 
loan charge-offs.

Market conditions in the U.S. were favorable for
much of fiscal 1997, as moderate economic growth, low
levels of unemployment and continued growth in corpo-
rate profits generally prevailed. Despite these conditions,
the level of inflation has remained relatively low. U.S.
financial markets also experienced periods of increased
volatility during fiscal 1997. In the first half of the year,
bond markets were affected by fears of inflationary pres-
sures due to consistently strong indicators of economic
growth, which prompted the Federal Reserve Board to
raise the overnight lending rate by .25% in March 1997.
The bond markets rallied later in the year as interest rates
fell across the yield curve. This decline in interest rates
reflected the continuing stability of inflation and the
Federal Reserve Board’s interest rate policy. The market
for U.S. government securities was particularly strong dur-
ing the latter part of the year, as market instability in cer-
tain Asian markets increased investor demand for less
risky investments. The performance of U.S. equity mar-
kets also was very positive in fiscal 1997, primarily result-
ing from strong corporate earnings, high levels of cash
inflows into mutual funds, and a high volume of equity
issuances. U.S. equity markets also experienced periods
of increased volatility, particularly during the second and

fourth fiscal quarters. During both of these periods, equity
markets experienced sharp selloffs that were subse-
quently followed by strong recoveries.

In fiscal 1997, European financial markets provided
investors with solid returns despite a slight downturn dur-
ing the fourth quarter. The robust performance of these
markets reflected strong corporate earnings and optimism
that economic growth in the region will continue to remain
solid. European financial markets also were impacted by
the prospects of the approaching European Economic and
Monetary Union (“EMU”). The EMU is scheduled to com-
mence on January 1, 1999 when the European Currency
Unit (the “ECU”) will be replaced by the “Euro” at a
conversion rate of 1:1. Those national currencies which
are to participate in the EMU will ultimately cease to
exist as separate currencies and will be replaced by the
Euro. Throughout fiscal 1997, varying expectations regard-
ing the probability and timing of the EMU often caused
volatility in certain interest rates and currencies.

In the Far East, the conditions in Japanese financial
markets were generally weak during the fiscal year, as
the nation’s rate of economic growth remained sluggish.
Investors also have been concerned with the strength of
Japan’s financial system. The Japanese banking sector has
been burdened by underperforming real estate loans, ris-
ing unemployment, an anemic stock market and fears
regarding the potential impact of the economic crisis that
began in fiscal 1997 in much of Asia. Financial markets in
Southeast Asia also experienced difficult conditions,
including the currency crisis that impacted the region,
which impaired creditworthiness and undermined inves-
tor confidence in the region’s highly leveraged banking sec-
tor. Conditions in these markets were particularly volatile
in the third and fourth fiscal quarters, as increased investor
concerns resulted in significant declines in certain Asian
equity markets. The currencies of certain nations in 
the region also experienced sizable depreciation during 
this period.

The worldwide market for mergers and acquisitions
continued to be robust during fiscal 1997, resulting in
record levels of revenues by the Company’s investment
banking business. The need for economies of scale, loca-
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tion, financial capacity and the ability to compete globally
contributed to an aggressive acquisition marketplace
which was further stimulated by relatively low interest
rates and the buoyant equity markets. The markets for
the underwriting of securities also were robust, as corpora-
tions, like consumers, were capitalizing on low interest
rates to refinance debt obligations. Primary markets also
benefited from the continued flow of funds into the
equity markets from mutual funds, asset allocation adjust-
ments, the continued cross border flows of capital and a
significant number of privatizations.

In fiscal 1997, consumer demand and retail sales
continued to increase although at a slower rate than the
prior year, favorably impacting credit card transaction
volume and consumer loan growth. In fiscal 1997, the
Company continued to invest in growth through the
expansion of its NOVUS® Network and by increasing its
marketing and solicitation activities. However, credit
quality issues have continued to be a challenge for the
credit services industry and the Company, as levels of
consumer debt and personal bankruptcies continued to
increase during fiscal 1997 with resulting continued
increases in industry-wide credit card loan losses.

F I S C A L  1 9 9 7  A N D  1 9 9 6  R E S U L T S  F O R  T H E  C O M P A N Y
The Company achieved net income of $2,586 million in
fiscal 1997, a 31% increase from fiscal 1996. In fiscal 1996,
net income increased 35% to $1,980 million from fiscal
1995. Primary earnings per common share increased 32%
to $4.25 in fiscal 1997 and 40% to $3.22 in fiscal 1996.
Fully diluted earnings per common share increased 32%
to $4.15 in fiscal 1997 and 40% to $3.14 in fiscal 1996. The
Company’s return on average shareholders’ equity was
22%, 20% and 16% in fiscal 1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal
1995, respectively. The Company’s fiscal 1997 net income
includes $63 million of costs related to the Merger. These
costs, which consisted primarily of proxy solicitation costs,

severance costs, financial advisory and accounting fees,
and legal and regulatory filing fees, were recorded by the
Company during the second fiscal quarter.

The remainder of Results of Operations is presented
on a business segment basis. With the exception of fiscal
1997’s merger-related expenses, substantially all of the
operating revenues and operating expenses of the
Company can be directly attributed to its two business
segments: Securities and Asset Management, and Credit
and Transaction Services. Certain reclassifications have
been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

S E C U R I T I E S  A N D  A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  
S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Revenues:
Investment banking $ 2,694 $ 2,190 $ 1,556
Principal transactions:

Trading 3,191 2,659 1,685
Investments 463 86 121

Commissions 2,059 1,776 1,533
Asset management, distribution 

and administration fees 2,505 1,732 1,377
Interest and dividends 10,455 8,571 8,138
Other 132 122 113

Total revenues 21,499 17,136 14,523
Interest expense 9,633 7,902 7,265

Net revenues 11,866 9,234 7,258

Compensation and benefits 5,475 4,585 3,584
Occupancy and equipment 462 432 406
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees 448 317 289
Information processing and

communications 602 514 474
Marketing and business development 393 296 235
Professional services 378 282 203
Other 511 382 417
Relocation charge – – 59

Total non-interest expenses 8,269 6,808 5,667

Income before income taxes 3,597 2,426 1,591
Provision for income taxes 1,416 880 559

Net income $ 2,181 $ 1,546 $ 1,032



S E C U R I T I E S  A N D  A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T
Securities and Asset Management provides a wide range
of financial products, services and investment advice to
individual and institutional investors. Securities and Asset
Management business activities are conducted in the U.S.
and throughout the world and include investment bank-
ing, research, institutional sales and trading, global asset
management, and investment and asset management
products and services for individual clients. At Novem-
ber 30, 1997, the Company’s Dean Witter Reynolds Inc.
(“DWR”) account executives provided investment services
to more than 3.5 million client accounts with assets of
$302 billion. The Company had the third largest account
executive sales organization in the U.S. with 9,946 profes-
sional account executives and 399 branches at November
30, 1997. With well-recognized brand names, including
those associated with Dean Witter InterCapital Inc.
(“ICAP”), Van Kampen American Capital, Inc.
(“VKAC”), Morgan Stanley Asset Management and
Miller Anderson & Sherrerd, LLP (“MAS”), the
Company has one of the largest global asset management
operations of any full-service securities firm, with total
assets under management or supervision of $338 billion at
November 30, 1997.

Securities and Asset Management achieved record
net revenues and net income of $11,866 million and
$2,181 million in fiscal 1997, increases of 29% and 41%,
respectively, from fiscal 1996. In fiscal 1996, Securities
and Asset Management net revenues and net income
increased 27% and 50%, respectively, from fiscal 1995.
The Company’s fiscal 1997 and 1996 levels of net rev-
enues and net income in its Securities and Asset
Management business reflect a strong global market for
mergers and acquisitions, as well as improved sales and
trading results primarily driven by favorable economic
conditions and increased customer trading volume and
the positive accumulation and management of client
assets. These results were partially offset in both years by
increased costs for incentive-based compensation, as well
as increased non-compensation expenses associated with
the Company’s higher level of global business activities.

The growth in net income in both years was impacted
by favorable business environments and the Company’s
focus on accumulating client assets and building fee-
based assets under management and administration.

Investment Banking
Investment banking revenues are derived from the under-
writing of securities offerings and fees from advisory ser-
vices. Investment banking revenues were as follows:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Advisory fees from merger, acquisition 
and restructuring transactions $ 920 $ 848 $ 622

Equity underwriting revenues 888 722 503
Debt underwriting revenues 886 620 431

Total investment banking revenues $2,694 $2,190 $1,556

Investment banking revenues increased 23% and attained
record levels in fiscal 1997, surpassing the Company’s pre-
vious level of record revenues that were recorded in fiscal
1996. Revenues in both fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996 bene-
fited from increased advisory fees from merger, acquisi-
tion and restructuring transactions, as well as increased
revenues from underwriting debt and equity securities.

The worldwide merger and acquisition markets
remained robust for the third consecutive year with more
than $1.6 trillion of transactions (per Securities Data
Company) announced during calendar year, 1997, includ-
ing record volume in the U.S. The sustained growth of
the merger and acquisition markets, coupled with the
Company’s global presence and strong market share, had
a positive impact on advisory fees, which increased 8% in
fiscal 1997. As was the case in fiscal 1996, merger and
acquisition activity was diversified across many industries
in the Company’s client base. In fiscal 1997, the health
care, banking and other financial services, telecommuni-
cations, technology and energy sectors contributed the
greatest level of activity. Advisory fees from real estate
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transactions were also higher as compared with the prior
year, benefiting from a stable financing environment,
favorable economic conditions and a strong real estate
market, including accelerated consolidation activity
among real estate investment trusts (“REITS”). The 36%
increase in advisory fees in 1996 was primarily due to high
transaction volumes that were propelled in part by rising
stock prices, as well as the Company’s strong global pres-
ence and broad client base.

Equity underwriting revenues increased 23% in
fiscal 1997, primarily due to a higher volume of equity
offerings and an increased market share, particularly in
Europe, as compared with the prior year. The primary
market for equity issuances continued to benefit from
the high volume of cash inflows into equity mutual funds,
as well as from a favorable economic environment.
Equity underwriting revenues increased 44% in fiscal
1996 and were positively affected by a strong primary
calendar as new issuances were readily absorbed by
the increased flows of money into the equity markets.
Additionally, reduced concerns regarding inflation and
lower interest rates positively affected the demand
for new equity issuances.

Revenues from debt underwriting increased 43%
in fiscal 1997. The increase was primarily attributable to
higher revenues from high-yield debt issuances, as the
favorable market conditions which existed for much of fis-
cal 1997 enabled certain high-yield issuers to obtain
attractive rates of financing. Issuers in the telecommuni-
cations sector were particularly active in the high-yield
debt market. Debt financing revenues also were impacted
by higher revenues from securitized debt issuances,
resulting from the Company’s continued focus on this
business sector and an increase in the number of asset-
backed transactions. In fiscal 1996, revenues from debt
financing activity increased 44% and were positively
affected by a relatively stable interest rate environment as
the Federal Reserve Board maintained short-term interest
rates at a constant level subsequent to a modest decrease
in the Federal Funds rate in January 1996. Fiscal 1996
debt underwriting revenues reflected a continued

demand for corporate new issues as interest rates
remained relatively low, an increased level of high-yield
issuance activity and increased revenues from securitized
debt transactions.

Principal Transactions
Principal transactions include revenues from customers’
purchases and sales of securities in which the Company
acts as principal and gains and losses on securities held for
resale. Principal trading revenues were as follows:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Equities $1,310 $1,181 $ 728
Fixed income 1,187 1,172 710
Foreign exchange 500 169 177
Commodities 194 137 70

Total principal trading revenues $3,191 $2,659 $1,685

Equity trading revenues increased 11% to record levels in
fiscal 1997, reflecting favorable market conditions that
contributed to strong customer demand and high trading
volumes. The increased revenues were primarily from
trading in equity cash products, as the strong rates of
return generated by many global equity markets con-
tributed to higher customer trading volumes and the con-
tinuance of high levels of cash inflows into mutual funds.
Revenues also benefited from the strong performance of
many foreign equity markets, particularly in Europe,
which led to higher trading volumes as U.S. investors
sought to increase their positions in these markets. Equity
trading revenues increased 62% in fiscal 1996, reflecting
increased customer trading activity, particularly in the
U.S., as the strong market was driven by low inflation, a
moderately growing economy and relatively low interest
rates. Equity cash products were positively affected as
individual investors infused money into equity mutual
funds at a high level. Revenues from equity derivative
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products increased as the Company expanded its pro-
prietary trading activities to capitalize on increased
levels of volatility, particularly in the U.S. options and
futures markets.

Fixed income trading revenues increased 1% in fis-
cal 1997. Revenues from trading in fixed income products
were positively affected by high levels of customer trad-
ing volumes, a large amount of new debt issuances and
increased demand for credit sensitive fixed income prod-
ucts. Revenues from trading in high-yield debt securities
and fixed income derivative products were particularly
favorably impacted by these developments. Securitized
debt trading revenues also increased, as the Company
continued to focus on this market segment by expanding
its level of activity in several key areas. Trading revenues
benefited from higher revenues from trading in commer-
cial whole loans and mortgage swaps, coupled with
increased securitization volumes and innovative struc-
tures. These increases were offset by lower revenues from
trading in government and investment grade corporate
securities. Fixed income trading revenues increased 65%
in fiscal 1996, primarily due to higher revenues from high-
yield, emerging market, swaps and securitized debt trad-
ing. High-yield trading revenues benefited from increased
volumes as positive corporate earnings increased investor
demand for high-yield issues. Emerging market revenues
increased, in part, due to higher levels of volatility in
Russian securities, as well as the strengthening of Latin
American markets, specifically in developing countries
such as Mexico, Argentina and Brazil. Swaps trading rev-
enue increased significantly, benefiting from an increased
customer base, significant increases in volume and a
favorable interest rate environment. Securitized debt trad-
ing revenues increased substantially as the Company
increased its focus on this market segment by expanding
its level of activity in securitized debt products. Revenues
from trading in mortgage-backed securities and commer-

cial whole loans contributed significantly to the overall
revenue increase as securitizations increased and innova-
tive structures were created.

Revenues from foreign exchange trading increased
196% to record levels in fiscal 1997, primarily resulting
from the Company’s increased client market share and
from high levels of volatility in the foreign exchange mar-
kets. The U.S. dollar appreciated against many currencies
throughout the year due to the strong growth of the U.S.
economy and continued low levels of inflation. In addi-
tion, many European currencies experienced periods of
increased volatility due to uncertainty regarding the tim-
ing of the EMU and the strength of the Euro, while the
performance of the yen was affected by sluggish eco-
nomic growth in Japan. Other Asian currencies were par-
ticularly volatile during the latter half of fiscal 1997,
primarily due to the depreciation of certain currencies,
including Thailand’s baht. Higher trading volumes and an
increasing customer base also contributed to the increase
in revenues. Foreign exchange trading revenues declined
5% in fiscal 1996, primarily due to decreased volatility
in the foreign exchange markets due to the narrowing
of the differences in inflation rates among certain
European nations.

Commodities trading revenues increased 42% and
reached record levels in fiscal 1997, benefiting from
higher revenues from trading in energy products, includ-
ing the Company’s increased presence in the electricity
markets, precious metals and natural gas. Volatility in
these products was high during most of the year due to
fluctuating levels of customer demand and inventory. In
both fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996, commodities trading rev-
enues benefited from the expansion of the customer base
for commodity-related products, including derivatives,
and the use of such products for risk management pur-
poses. Revenues from commodities trading increased 96%
in fiscal 1996, benefiting from volatile markets that were
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buoyed by low inventories, robust demand and the indus-
try’s expectation for much of fiscal 1996 that Iraq would
re-enter the world crude oil market. In fiscal 1996, rev-
enues from energy-related products increased signifi-
cantly due to increased volatility as the prices of natural
gas, crude oil and heating oil increased to their highest
levels since the early 1990s.

Principal transaction investment revenues aggregat-
ing $463 million were recognized in fiscal 1997 as compared
with $86 million in fiscal 1996. Fiscal 1997 revenues reflect
a record level of revenues from the Company’s merchant
banking business. The higher revenues primarily reflect
increases in the carrying value of certain of the Company’s
merchant banking investments, including an increase
related to the Company’s holdings of Fort James Corpora-
tion, the entity created from the merger of Fort Howard
Corporation and James River Corporation of Virginia, as
well as realized gains on certain positions that were sold
during the year. Higher revenues from certain real estate
and venture capital investment gains also contributed to
the increase. Fiscal 1996 revenues also reflect increases in
the carrying value of certain of the Company’s merchant
banking investments, as well as revenues from other prin-
cipal investments, including real estate investments.

Commissions
Commission revenues primarily arise from agency transac-
tions in listed and over-the-counter equity securities and
sales of mutual funds, futures, insurance products and
options. Commission revenues increased 16% in fiscal
1997, primarily reflecting high customer trading volumes,
particularly in the third and fourth fiscal quarters when the
New York Stock Exchange experienced some of the high-
est trading volume in its history. The strong returns posted
by many global equity markets encouraged an increased
investor demand for equity securities and resulted in high
levels of cash inflows into mutual funds. Commission rev-
enues also benefited from an increase in the Company’s
market share and from the continued strength in the mar-
ket for equity issuances. In fiscal 1996, the 16% increase in
commission revenues primarily reflected increased market

participation by investors resulting from favorable market
conditions and a strong primary calendar, particularly in the
U.S., and an increase in sales of mutual fund and insurance
products. In addition, commission revenues improved as
institutional investors purchased more foreign and emerg-
ing market issuances.

Net Interest
Interest and dividend revenues and expense are a func-
tion of the level and mix of total assets and liabilities,
including financial instruments owned, reverse repurchase
and repurchase agreements, customer margin loans and
the prevailing level, term structure and volatility of inter-
est rates. Interest and dividend revenues and expense
should be viewed in the broader context of principal trad-
ing results. Decisions relating to principal transactions in
securities are based on an overall review of aggregate rev-
enues and costs associated with each transaction or series
of transactions. This review includes an assessment of the
potential gain or loss associated with a trade, the interest
income or expense associated with financing or hedging
the Company’s positions, and potential underwriting,
commission or other revenues associated with related
primary or secondary market sales. Net interest revenues
increased 23% in fiscal 1997, reflecting higher levels of
trading activities and retail customer financing activity,
including margin interest. Net interest revenues
decreased 23% in fiscal 1996, partly attributable to
changes in the mix of the Company’s fixed income inven-
tory, coupled with the general trend in interest rates. In
both fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996, net interest revenues
reflected increased financing costs associated with higher
average levels of balance sheet usage, particularly in
equity-related businesses. 

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees
Asset management, distribution and administration fees
include revenues from asset management services,
including fund management fees which are received for
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investment management and for promoting and distribut-
ing mutual funds (“12b-1 fees”), other administrative fees
and non-interest revenues earned from correspondent
clearing and custody services. Fund management fees
arise from investment management services the Company
provides to registered investment companies (the
“Funds”) pursuant to various contractual arrangements.
The Company receives management fees based upon
each Fund’s average daily net assets. The Company
receives 12b-1 fees for services it provides in promoting
and distributing certain open-ended Funds. These fees
are based on either the average daily Fund net asset bal-
ances or average daily aggregate net Fund sales and are
affected by changes in the overall level and mix of assets
under management and administration. The Company
also receives fees from investment management services
provided to segregated customer accounts pursuant to
various contractual arrangements.

Asset management, distribution and administration
fees were as follows:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Asset management, distribution 
and administration fees $2,505 $1,732 $1,377

The Company’s customer assets under management or
supervision and global assets under custody were 
as follows:

( D O L L A R S  I N  B I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Customer assets under management 
or supervision (at fiscal year-end) $ 338 $ 278 $ 149

Global assets under custody 
(at fiscal year-end) $ 377 $ 144 $ 111

In fiscal 1997, asset management, distribution and admin-
istration fees increased 45%, reflecting the Company’s
continuing strategic emphasis on the asset management
business. The increase also reflects revenues from VKAC,
which was acquired by the Company on October 31, 1996.

Fiscal 1997 revenues benefited from higher levels of fund
management fees and increased revenues from interna-
tional equity, emerging market and U.S. domestic equity
and fixed income products and continued growth in cus-
tomer assets under management or supervision. Revenues
also were positively impacted by the Company’s acquisi-
tion of the institutional global custody business of Barclays
Bank PLC (“Barclays”) on April 3, 1997. In fiscal 1996, the
26% increase in asset management, distribution and
administration fees reflected growth in both asset manage-
ment activities, including the acquisition of MAS, and
global clearing and custody services. Higher revenues from
12b-1 fees also contributed to the increase in fiscal 1996.

As of November 30, 1997, assets under management
or supervision had increased significantly as compared
with fiscal year-end 1996. The increase in assets under
management or supervision in both fiscal 1997 and fiscal
1996 reflected continued inflows of customer assets as
well as appreciation in the value of customer portfolios,
particularly in equity funds, and growth in international
equity and domestic fixed income funds. In fiscal 1997,
approximately 50% of the increase in assets under man-
agement or supervision was attributable to the acquisition
of net new assets, while the remaining 50% reflected mar-
ket appreciation.

Global assets under custody also increased signifi-
cantly in fiscal 1997. Approximately $204 billion of the
increase is attributable to the Company’s acquisition of
Barclays, and approximately $150 billion of these assets
remain subject to current clients of Barclays agreeing to
become clients of the Company. In both fiscal 1997 and
fiscal 1996, global assets under custody also increased
due to additional assets placed under custody with the
Company, as well as appreciation in the value of cus-
tomer portfolios.
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Non-Interest Expenses

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Compensation and benefits $5,475 $4,585 $3,584
Occupancy and equipment 462 432 406
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees 448 317 289
Information processing and 

communications 602 514 474
Marketing and business development 393 296 235
Professional services 378 282 203
Other 511 382 417
Relocation charge – – 59

Total non-interest expenses $8,269 $6,808 $5,667

Fiscal 1997’s total non-interest expenses increased 21%
to $8,269 million. Within that category, employee com-
pensation and benefits expense increased 19%, reflecting
increased levels of incentive compensation based on record
fiscal 1997 revenues and earnings. Excluding compensa-
tion and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased
$571 million, including $266 million of operating costs
related to VKAC and the global institutional custody
business of Barclays. Occupancy and equipment expenses
increased 7%, principally reflecting the occupancy costs
of VKAC and increased office space in London and Hong
Kong. Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees increased
41%, primarily reflecting the acquisitions of VKAC and
the institutional global custody business of Barclays, as
well as higher levels of trading volume in the global secu-
rities markets. Information processing and communica-
tions costs increased 17% due to higher data services costs
related to an increased number of employees, incremental
costs related to VKAC and continued enhancements to
the Company’s information technology infrastructure.
Marketing and business development expenses increased
33%, reflecting higher travel and entertainment costs
relating to increased levels of business activity associated
with active financial markets. Additional advertising costs
associated with VKAC’s retail mutual funds also con-

tributed to the increase. Professional services expenses
increased 34%, reflecting higher consulting costs as a
result of information technology initiatives and the
increased level of overall business activity. Other
expenses increased 34%, which includes goodwill amorti-
zation of $43 million associated with the acquisitions of
VKAC and Barclays, as well as the impact of a higher level
of business activity on various operating expenses.

Fiscal 1996’s total non-interest expenses increased
20% to $6,808 million. Within that category, employee
compensation and benefits expense increased 28%,
reflecting increased levels of incentive compensation
based on higher fiscal 1996 revenues and earnings, the
impact of salaries and benefits relating to additional per-
sonnel hired during the year or joining the Company as
the result of the MAS and VKAC acquisitions, and higher
costs related to training new account executives. Exclud-
ing compensation and benefits expense, non-interest
expenses increased $199 million (excluding fiscal 1995’s
relocation charge), including $48 million of operating
costs related to MAS and VKAC. Occupancy and equip-
ment expenses increased 6%, principally reflecting costs
associated with the relocation of Morgan Stanley’s New
York offices, new leased office space in Tokyo, and the
occupancy costs of MAS and VKAC. Brokerage, clearing
and exchange fees increased 10%, reflecting increased
trade volumes, both in the U.S. and in Europe, and the
continued growth in the international component of the
Company’s sales and trading activities. Information proc-
essing and communications costs increased 8% in fiscal
1996 due to continued emphasis on technology initiatives.
Marketing and business development and professional
services expenses increased 32% in fiscal 1996, reflecting
significantly higher travel and entertainment, consulting
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and advertising costs as a result of the increased level of
the Company’s global business activities. Other expenses
decreased 8% in fiscal 1996, which primarily reflects a
reduction in legal expenses partially offset by the amorti-
zation of goodwill related to the acquisitions of MAS
and VKAC.

C R E D I T  A N D  T R A N S A C T I O N  S E R V I C E S
Credit and Transaction Services, which had approxi-
mately 40 million general purpose credit card accounts at
November 30, 1997, was the largest single issuer of general
purpose credit cards in the United States as measured by
number of accounts and cardmembers. Consumers use
general purpose credit cards to purchase goods and ser-
vices and obtain cash advances. Credit and Transaction
Services proprietary general purpose credit cards are
offered principally by the Company’s NOVUS Services
business unit, which operates the NOVUS® Network.
These include the Discover Card, the Private Issue® Card,
and co-branded and affinity program cards. The Prime
OptionSM MasterCard® is a co-branded general purpose
credit card issued by NationsBank of Delaware, N.A., and
serviced by Prime Option Services. SPS Transaction
Services, Inc. (“SPS”) is a 74% owned, publicly held
subsidiary. Services provided by SPS include electronic
transaction processing, consumer private label credit card
program administration, commercial accounts receivable
processing and call center teleservices. Discover Brokerage
Direct offers discount trading services, principally to indi-
vidual investors, through its Internet site, an automated
telephone system and a core group of registered repre-
sentatives, and is an example of the Company’s efforts to
satisfy the demand for financial services outside the tradi-
tional full-service brokerage channel.

C R E D I T  A N D  T R A N S A C T I O N  S E R V I C E S  
S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Fees:
Merchant and cardmember $1,704 $1,505 $1,135
Servicing 762 809 680

Commissions 27 – –
Other 12 4 2

Total non-interest revenues 2,505 2,318 1,817

Interest revenue 3,128 2,717 2,392
Interest expense 1,173 1,032 925

Net interest income 1,955 1,685 1,467
Provision for consumer loan losses 1,493 1,214 722

Net credit income 462 471 745

Net revenues 2,967 2,789 2,562

Compensation and benefits 544 486 421
Occupancy and equipment 64 61 48
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees 12 – –
Information processing 

and communications 478 482 415
Marketing and business development 786 731 639
Professional services 73 52 49
Other 259 286 289

Total non-interest expenses 2,216 2,098 1,861

Income before income taxes 751 691 701
Provision for income taxes 283 257 268

Net income $ 468 $ 434 $ 433

In fiscal 1997, Credit and Transaction Services net income
increased 8% to $468 million. Fiscal 1997 net income was
positively impacted by higher average levels of consumer
loans, credit card fees and interest revenue enhancements
introduced in fiscal 1996 and higher general purpose
credit card transaction volume, partially offset by
increased consumer credit losses and higher non-interest
expenses. In fiscal 1996, Credit and Transaction Services
net income of $434 million remained level compared with
fiscal 1995, as revenues from higher levels of transaction
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volume and average loans and increased credit card fees
were offset by a higher rate of consumer credit losses.

Due to the Company’s recent adoption of a
November 30 fiscal year-end and the seasonality of the
credit card business, certain information for November 30,
1996 is presented in order to provide a more meaningful
comparison with the November 30, 1997 balances (see
also “Seasonal Factors” herein).

Credit and Transaction Services statistical data was
as follows:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  N O V.  3 0 ,
( D O L L A R S  I N  B I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Consumer loans:
Owned $20.9 $20.1 $22.1 $20.4
Managed $36.0 $33.3 $35.3 $30.3

General Purpose 
Credit Card 
transaction 
volume $55.8 $53.1 $53.6 $47.5

Merchant and Cardmember Fees
Merchant and cardmember fees include revenues from
fees charged to merchants on credit card sales, late pay-
ment fees, overlimit fees, insurance fees, cash advance
fees, the administration of credit card programs and trans-
action processing services.

Merchant and cardmember fees increased 13% in
fiscal 1997 and 33% in fiscal 1996. The increase in both
fiscal years was primarily the result of higher revenues
from overlimit fees, late payment fees and merchant fees.
Overlimit fees were implemented in March 1996, and the
amount of the fee was increased in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 1996. The increase in overlimit fees in fiscal 1997
was due to a higher incidence of overlimit occurrences.
The increase in late payment fee revenues in both fiscal
years was due to an increase in the incidence of late pay-
ments and higher levels of delinquent accounts. In both
fiscal years, higher merchant fee revenues were primarily
the result of continued growth in the level of general pur-

pose credit card transaction volume. Fiscal 1996 revenues
also benefited from increases in credit insurance fees,
primarily due to higher enrollments and favorable loss
experience rebates.

Servicing Fees
Servicing fees are revenues derived from consumer loans
which have been sold to investors through asset securiti-
zations. Cash flows from the interest yield and cardmem-
ber fees generated by securitized loans are used to pay
investors in these loans a predetermined fixed or floating
rate of return on their investment, to reimburse the
investors for losses of principal through charged off loans
and to pay the Company a fee for servicing the loans. Any
excess cash flows remaining are paid to the Company.
The servicing fees and excess net cash flows paid to the
Company are reported as servicing fees in the consoli-
dated statements of income. The sale of consumer loans
through asset securitizations therefore has the effect of
converting portions of net credit income and fee income
to servicing fees.

The table below presents the components of servic-
ing fees:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Merchant and 
cardmember fees $ 436 $ 307 $ 137

Interest revenue 2,116 2,025 1,647
Interest expense (829) (792) (681)
Provision for consumer 

loan losses (961) (731) (423)

Servicing fees $ 762 $ 809 $ 680

Servicing fees are affected by the level of securitized loans,
the spread between the interest yield on the securitized
loans and the yield paid to the investors, the rate of credit
losses on securitized loans and the level of cardmember
fees earned from securitized loans. Servicing fees also
include the effects of interest rate contracts entered into by
the Company as part of its interest rate risk management
program. Servicing fees decreased 6% in fiscal 1997 and
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A V E R A G E  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A N A LY S I S

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

A V E R A G E A V E R A G E A V E R A G E
B A L A N C E R A T E I N T E R E S T B A L A N C E R A T E I N T E R E S T B A L A N C E R A T E I N T E R E S T

A S S E T S
Interest earning assets:
General purpose credit card loans $19,512 14.03% $2,738 $17,083 13.99% $2,391 $14,691 14.75% $2,167
Other consumer loans 1,773 15.73 279 1,766 14.25 252 1,312 13.48 177
Investment securities 176 5.45 10 234 5.38 13 195 5.85 11
Other 1,680 6.06 101 1,078 5.60 61 578 6.03 37

Total interest earning assets 23,141 13.52 3,128 20,161 13.47 2,717 16,776 14.25 2,392
Allowance for loan losses (828) (669) (598)
Non-interest earning assets 1,726 1,352 1,221

Total assets $24,039 $20,844 $17,399

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
Interest bearing liabilities:
Interest bearing deposits

Savings $ 963 4.27% $ 41 $ 1,021 4.58% $ 47 $ 1,050 4.71% $ 49
Brokered 4,589 6.66 306 3,418 6.93 237 3,222 7.21 232
Other time 2,212 6.12 135 1,921 6.05 116 1,278 6.41 83

Total interest bearing deposits 7,764 6.21 482 6,360 6.29 400 5,550 6.55 364
Other borrowings 11,371 6.07 691 10,307 6.11 632 8,312 6.75 561

Total interest bearing liabilities 19,135 6.13 1,173 16,667 6.18 1,032 13,862 6.67 925
Shareholder’s equity/other liabilities 4,904 4,177 3,537

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $24,039 $20,844 $17,399

Net interest income $1,955 $1,685 $1,467

Net interest margin(1) 8.45)% 8.36)% 8.74)%

Interest rate spread(2) 7.39)% 7.29)% 7.58)%

(1) Net interest margin represents net interest income as a percentage of total interest earning assets.
(2) Interest rate spread represents the difference between the rate on total interest earning assets and the rate on total interest bearing liabilities.

increased 19% in fiscal 1996. The decline in fiscal 1997 ser-
vicing fees was attributable to higher credit losses, partially
offset by higher merchant and cardmember fees and net
interest revenues. The increased revenues in fiscal 1996
were primarily due to higher net interest cash flows and
cardmember fees from securitized loans, partially offset
by increased credit losses from securitized loans. The
increased net interest cash flows in fiscal 1996 were due to
higher average levels of securitized loans.

Net Interest Income
Net interest income is equal to the difference between
interest revenue derived from Credit and Transaction
Services consumer loans and short-term investment assets
and interest expense incurred to finance those assets.
Credit and Transaction Services assets, consisting primar-

ily of consumer loans, earn interest revenue at both fixed
rates and market indexed variable rates. The Company
incurs interest expense at fixed and floating rates. Interest
expense also includes the effects of interest rate contracts
entered into by the Company as part of its interest rate
risk management program. This program is designed to
reduce the volatility of earnings resulting from changes in
interest rates and is accomplished primarily through
matched financing, which entails matching the repricing
schedules of consumer loans and the related financing.

The following tables present analyses of Credit and
Transaction Services average balance sheets and interest
rates in fiscal 1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995 and changes
in net interest income during those fiscal years:
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R A T E / V O L U M E  A N A LY S I S

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7  V S .  1 9 9 6 1 9 9 6  V S .  1 9 9 5

I N C R E A S E / ( D E C R E A S E )  D U E  T O  C H A N G E S  I N : V O L U M E R A T E T O T A L V O L U M E R A T E T O T A L

I N T E R E S T  R E V E N U E
General purpose credit card loans $339 $ 8 $347 $353 $(129) $224
Other consumer loans 1 26 27 61 14 75
Investment securities (3) – (3) 3 (1) 2
Other 33 7 40 29 (5) 24

Total interest revenue 400 11 411 482 (157) 325

I N T E R E S T  E X P E N S E
Interest bearing deposits

Savings (3) (3) (6) (1) (1) (2)
Brokered 81 (12) 69 15 (10) 5
Other time 18 1 19 41 (8) 33

Total interest bearing deposits 88 (6) 82 53 (17) 36
Other borrowings 64 (5) 59 136 (65) 71

Total interest expense 151 (10) 141 188 (81) 107

Net interest income $249 $ 21 $270 $294 $ (76) $218

Provision for Consumer Loan Losses
The provision for consumer loan losses is the amount nec-
essary to establish the allowance for loan losses at a level
that the Company believes is adequate to absorb esti-
mated losses in its consumer loan portfolio at the balance
sheet date. The Company’s allowance for loan losses is

regularly evaluated by management for adequacy on a
portfolio-by-portfolio basis and was $884 million at fiscal
year-end 1997 and $802 million at fiscal year-end 1996.

The provision for consumer loan losses, which is
affected by net charge-offs, loan volume and changes in the
amount of consumer loans estimated to be uncollectable,

Net interest income increased 16% in fiscal 1997 and 15%
in fiscal 1996. The increases in both years were due to
higher average levels of consumer loans outstanding, par-
tially offset by the effects of higher charge-offs on interest
revenue. The impact of higher charge-offs in fiscal 1997
was mitigated by pricing actions implemented in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 1996. In both years, the effects of changes
in interest rates on the Company’s variable rate loan portfo-
lio were substantially offset by comparable changes in the

Company’s cost of funds for the related financing. Fiscal
1997’s revenues also were impacted by the pricing actions
implemented in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1996. The
Company believes that the effect of changes in market
interest rates on net interest income were mitigated as a
result of its liquidity and interest rate risk policies.

The supplemental table below provides average
managed loan balance and rate information which takes
into account both owned and securitized loans:

S U P P L E M E N T A L  A V E R A G E  M A N A G E D  L O A N  I N F O R M A T I O N

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5  

A V E R A G E  A V E R A G E A V E R A G E
B A L A N C E R A T E B A L A N C E R A T E B A L A N C E R A T E  

Consumer loans $34,619 14.83% $31,459 14.83% $25,897 15.41%
General purpose credit card loans 32,176 14.72 29,021 14.81 23,970 15.41
Total interest earning assets 36,475 14.38 32,770 14.46 26,670 15.14
Total interest bearing liabilities 32,469 6.17 29,277 6.22 23,756 6.75
Consumer loan interest rate spread 8.66 8.61 8.66
Interest rate spread 8.21 8.24 8.39
Net interest margin 8.89 8.90 9.12
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trends, the seasoning of the Company’s loan portfolio, inter-
est rate movements and their impact on consumer behavior,
and the rate and magnitude of changes in the Company’s
consumer loan portfolio, including the overall mix of
accounts, products and loan balances within the portfolio.

Consumer loans are considered delinquent when
interest or principal payments become 30 days past due.
Consumer loans are charged off when they become 180
days past due, except in the case of bankruptcies and
fraudulent transactions, where loans are charged off ear-
lier. Loan delinquencies and charge-offs are primarily
affected by changes in economic conditions and may
vary throughout the year due to seasonal consumer
spending and payment behaviors. The Company
believes that changes in its consumer loan delinquency
rates in fiscal 1997 and 1996 were related to the indus-
try-wide credit conditions discussed previously. 

From time to time, the Company has offered and
may continue to offer cardmembers with accounts in
good standing the opportunity to skip the minimum
monthly payment, while continuing to accrue periodic
finance charges, without being considered to be past due
(“skip-a-payment”). The comparison of delinquency rates
at any particular point in time may be affected depending
on the timing of the “skip-a-payment” program. The
delinquency rate for consumer loans 30-89 days past due
at November 30, 1997 was favorably impacted by a skip-
a-payment offer allowing certain cardmembers to skip
their October 1997 monthly payment. The following
table presents delinquency and net charge-off rates with
supplemental managed loan information:

increased 23% in fiscal 1997 and 68% in fiscal 1996. In both
fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996, the increase was primarily due to
higher net charge-offs, which resulted from an increase in
the percentage of consumer loans charged off and a higher
level of average consumer loans outstanding. In fiscal 1996,
the effect of an increase in the Company’s estimate of the
allowance for loan losses, primarily in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 1996, was partially offset by a lower provision for
losses for consumer loans intended to be securitized. The
increases in both years in the Company’s net charge-off rate
were consistent with the industry-wide trend of increasing
credit loss rates that the Company believes is related, in
part, to increased consumer debt levels and bankruptcy
rates. The Company believes this trend may continue and
the Company may experience a higher net charge-off rate
in fiscal 1998. In fiscal 1996, the Company took steps to
reduce the impact of this trend, including raising credit
quality standards for new accounts, selectively reducing
credit limits and increasing collection activity. The
Company continued to implement similar measures in fis-
cal 1997, including a more stringent screening of new card-
members, tightened overlimit authorization procedures,
and the closing of certain high risk accounts. The Company
believes these measures, designed to improve credit qual-
ity, had a minimal impact in fiscal 1997 due to the period of
time necessary for such measures to have a meaningful
effect on portfolio credit quality, but believes they may
have an increased effect in fiscal 1998. The Company’s
expectations about future charge-off rates and credit quality
are subject to uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from what has been discussed above.
Factors that influence the level and direction of consumer
loan delinquencies and charge-offs include changes in con-
sumer spending and payment behaviors, bankruptcy

A S S E T  Q U A L I T Y

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7  N O V E M B E R  3 0 ,  1 9 9 6 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5  

O W N E D  M A N A G E D O W N E D  M A N A G E D O W N E D  M A N A G E D O W N E D  M A N A G E D

Consumer loans at period-end $20,917 $35,950 $20,085 $33,316 $22,064 $35,261 $20,442 $30,340
Consumer loans contractually past due as a 

percentage of period-end consumer loans:
30 to 89 days 3.96)% 3.91)% 4.45% 4.49% 4.42)% 4.41)% 4.19)% 4.19)%
90 to 179 days 3.11)% 3.07)% 2.78% 2.78% 2.89)% 2.82)% 2.16)% 2.14)%

Net charge-offs as a percentage of 
average consumer loans 6.78)% 6.95)% 5.29% 5.43% 5.45)% 5.59)% 3.69)% 3.92)%
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Professional services expense increased 40% in
fiscal 1997 and remained relatively level in fiscal 1996.
The increase in fiscal 1997 was primarily due to higher
expenditures for consumer credit counseling and collec-
tions services.

Other non-interest expenses decreased 9% in fiscal
1997 and remained relatively level in fiscal 1996. Other
expenses primarily include fraud losses, credit inquiry
fees and other administrative costs. The decrease in
fiscal 1997 was due to a continuing decline in the level
of fraud losses. In fiscal 1995, the Company began imple-
menting several measures designed to reduce fraud
losses. Since the Company began implementing these
measures, fraud losses as a percentage of transaction
volume have declined.

Seasonal Factors
The credit card lending activities of Credit and
Transaction Services are affected by seasonal patterns of
retail purchasing. Historically, a substantial percentage
of credit card loan growth occurs in the fourth calendar
quarter, followed by a flattening or decline of consumer
loans in the subsequent first calendar quarter. Merchant
fees, therefore, have historically tended to increase in the
first fiscal quarter, reflecting higher sales activity in the
month of December. Additionally, higher cardmember
rewards expense is accrued in the fiscal first quarter,
reflecting seasonal growth in retail sales volume.

L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I T A L  R E S O U R C E S

The Balance Sheet
The Company’s total assets increased to $302.3 billion at
November 30, 1997 from $238.9 billion at fiscal year-end
1996, primarily reflecting growth in financial instruments
owned, reverse repurchase agreements, and securities
borrowed. Due to the favorable operating conditions
throughout fiscal 1997, the Company operated with a
larger balance sheet as compared with fiscal 1996, as well
as higher levels of balance sheet leverage. The growth is

Non-Interest Expenses
Total non-interest expenses increased 6% to $2,216 mil-
lion in fiscal 1997 and 13% to $2,098 million in fiscal 1996.

Employee compensation and benefits expense
increased 12% in fiscal 1997 and 15% in fiscal 1996. The
increases in both years were due to higher headcount and
employment costs associated with processing increased
credit card transaction volume and servicing additional
NOVUS Network merchants and active credit card
accounts, including collection activities.

Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees of $12 million
were recorded in fiscal 1997. These expenses relate to the
trading volume recorded by Discover Brokerage Direct,
the Company’s provider of electronic brokerage services
that was acquired in January 1997.

Information processing and communications
expense decreased 1% in fiscal 1997 and increased 16% in
fiscal 1996. In both fiscal years, there were higher costs
associated with processing increased transaction volume,
servicing additional NOVUS Network merchants and
active credit card accounts, and developing the systems
supporting the Company’s multi-card strategy. In fiscal
1997, such increases were offset by an adjustment result-
ing from the sale of the Company’s indirect interest in
one of the Company’s transaction processing vendors.

Marketing and business development expense
increased 8% in fiscal 1997 and 14% in fiscal 1996. In both
years, the increase was primarily attributable to higher
cardmember rewards expense. Cardmember rewards
expense includes the Cashback Bonus® award, pursuant
to which the Company annually pays Discover cardmem-
bers and Private Issue cardmembers electing this feature
a percentage of their purchase amounts ranging up to one
percent (up to 2% for the Private Issue card) based upon
a cardmember’s level of annual purchases. Cardmember
rewards expense increased due to continued growth in
credit card transaction volume and increased cardmember
qualification for higher award levels. Both years’ expenses
also were impacted by higher marketing and promotional
costs associated with the growth of new and existing
credit card brands.
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primarily attributable to the Company’s fixed income
activities, most notably corporate debt, foreign sover-
eign government obligations and reverse repurchase
agreements used in both financing activities and the
Company’s fixed income matched book activities. The
Company was positioned to capitalize on favorable condi-
tions in the global fixed income markets, particularly in
the global high-yield and sovereign debt markets.
Securities borrowed also rose during fiscal 1997, reflecting
an increase in collateralized lending to facilitate higher
levels of customer activity, as well as increases related to
the Company’s proprietary trading activities. A substantial
portion of the Company’s total assets consists of highly
liquid marketable securities and short-term receivables
arising principally from securities transactions. The highly
liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with
flexibility in financing and managing its business.

Funding and Capital Policies
The Company’s senior management establishes the over-
all funding and capital policies of the Company, reviews
the Company’s performance relative to these policies,
monitors the availability of sources of financing, reviews
the foreign exchange risk of the Company, and oversees
the liquidity and interest rate sensitivity of the
Company’s asset and liability position. The primary goal
of the Company’s funding and liquidity activities is to
ensure adequate financing over a wide range of potential
credit ratings and market environments.

Many of the Company’s businesses are capital-
intensive. Capital is required to finance, among other things,
the Company’s securities inventories, underwriting, prin-
cipal investments, merchant banking activities, consumer
loans and investments in fixed assets. As a policy, the
Company attempts to maintain sufficient capital and
funding sources in order to have the capacity to finance
itself on a fully collateralized basis at all times, including
periods of financial stress. Currently, the Company
believes that it has sufficient capital to meet its needs. In
addition, the Company attempts to maintain total equity,

on a consolidated basis, at least equal to the sum of all of
its subsidiaries’ equity. Subsidiary equity capital require-
ments are determined by regulatory requirements (if
applicable), asset mix, leverage considerations and earn-
ings volatility.

The Company views return on equity to be an
important measure of its performance, in the context of
both the particular business environment in which the
Company is operating and its peer group’s results. In this
regard, the Company actively manages its consolidated
capital position based upon, among other things, business
opportunities, capital availability and rates of return
together with internal capital policies, regulatory require-
ments and rating agency guidelines and therefore may, in
the future, expand or contract its capital base to address
the changing needs of its businesses. The Company also
had returned internally generated equity capital which
was in excess of the needs of its businesses through com-
mon stock repurchases and dividends.

The Company’s liquidity policies emphasize diversi-
fication of funding sources. The Company also follows a
funding strategy which is designed to ensure that the
tenor of the Company’s liabilities equals or exceeds the
expected holding period of the assets being financed.
Short-term funding generally is obtained at rates related
to U.S., Euro or Asian money market rates for the cur-
rency borrowed. Repurchase transactions are effected at
negotiated rates. Other borrowing costs are negotiated
depending upon prevailing market conditions (see
Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements).
Maturities of both short-term and long-term financings are
designed to minimize exposure to refinancing risk in any
one period.

The volume of the Company’s borrowings gener-
ally fluctuates in response to changes in the amount of
repurchase transactions outstanding, the level of the
Company’s securities inventories and consumer loans
receivable, and overall market conditions. Availability and
cost of financing to the Company can vary depending 
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upon market conditions, the volume of certain trading
activities, the Company’s credit ratings and the overall
availability of credit. The Company, therefore, maintains
a surplus of unused short-term funding sources at all
times to withstand any unforeseen contraction in credit
capacity. In addition, the Company attempts to maintain
cash and unhypothecated marketable securities equal to
at least 110% of its outstanding short-term unsecured bor-
rowings. The Company has in place a contingency fund-
ing strategy which provides a comprehensive one-year
action plan in the event of a severe funding disruption.

The Company views long-term debt as a stable
source of funding for core inventories, consumer loans and
illiquid assets and therefore maintains a long-term debt-to-
capitalization ratio at a level appropriate for the current
composition of its balance sheet. In general, fixed assets
are financed with fixed rate long-term debt, and securities
inventories and all current assets are financed with a com-
bination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term
debt, or fixed rate long-term debt swapped to a floating
basis. Both fixed rate and variable rate long-term debt
(in addition to sources of funds accessed directly by the
Company’s Credit and Transaction Services business) are
used to finance the Company’s consumer loan portfolio.
Consumer loan financing is targeted to match the repricing
characteristics of the loans financed. The Company uses
derivative products (primarily interest rate and currency
swaps) to assist in asset and liability management, reduce
borrowing costs and hedge interest rate risk (see Note 6
to the consolidated financial statements).

The Company’s reliance on external sources to
finance a significant portion of its day-to-day operations
makes access to global sources of financing important.
The cost and availability of financing generally are
dependent on the Company’s short-term and long-term
debt ratings. In addition, the Company’s debt ratings
can have a significant impact on certain trading revenues,
particularly in those businesses where longer term coun-
terparty performance is critical, such as over-the-counter
derivative transactions.

As of January 31, 1998, the Company’s credit ratings
were as follows:

C O M M E R C I A L S E N I O R
P A P E R D E B T

Moody’s Investors Service P-1 A1
Standard & Poor’s A-1 A+
Thomson BankWatch TBW-1 AA
Dominion Bond Rating Service R-1 (middle) n/a
Duff & Phelps D-1+ AA–
Fitch–IBCA, Inc. F1+ AA–
Japan Bond Research Institute n/a AA–

As the Company continues its global expansion and as
revenues are increasingly derived from various currencies,
foreign currency management is a key element of the
Company’s financial policies. The Company benefits from
operating in several different currencies because weak-
ness in any particular currency often is offset by strength
in another currency. The Company closely monitors its
exposure to fluctuations in currencies and, where cost-jus-
tified, adopts strategies to reduce the impact of these fluc-
tuations on the Company’s financial performance. These
strategies include engaging in various hedging activities
to manage income and cash flows denominated in foreign
currencies and using foreign currency borrowings, when
appropriate, to finance investments outside the U.S.

Principal Sources of Funding
The Company funds its balance sheet on a global basis.
The Company’s funding for its Securities and Asset
Management business is raised through diverse sources.
These sources include the Company’s capital, including
equity and long-term debt; repurchase agreements; U.S.,
Canadian, Euro and French commercial paper; letters of
credit; unsecured bond borrows; German Schuldschein
loans; securities lending; buy/sell agreements; municipal
reinvestments; master notes; and committed and uncommit-
ted lines of credit. Repurchase agreement transactions,
securities lending and a portion of the Company’s bank
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borrowings are made on a collateralized basis and therefore
provide a more stable source of funding than short-term
unsecured borrowings.

The funding sources utilized for the Company’s
Credit and Transaction Services business include the
Company’s capital, including equity and long-term debt,
asset securitizations, commercial paper, deposits, asset-
backed commercial paper, Fed Funds and short-term
bank notes. The Company sells consumer loans through
asset securitizations using several transaction structures.
Riverwoods Funding Corporation (“RFC”), an entity
included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, issues asset-backed commercial paper.

The Company’s bank subsidiaries solicit deposits
from consumers, purchase Fed Funds and issue short-
term bank notes. Interest bearing deposits are classified
by type as savings, brokered and other time deposits.
Savings deposits consist primarily of money market
deposits and certificate of deposit accounts sold directly to
cardmembers and savings deposits from DWR clients.
Brokered deposits consist primarily of certificates of
deposit issued by the Company’s bank subsidiaries. Other
time deposits include institutional certificates of deposit.
The Company, through Greenwood Trust Company, an
indirect subsidiary of the Company, sells notes under a
short-term bank note program.

The Company maintains borrowing relationships
with a broad range of banks, financial institutions, coun-
terparties and others from which it draws funds in a vari-
ety of currencies.

In November 1997, the Company replaced the
predecessor Dean Witter Discover and Morgan Stanley
holding company senior revolving credit agreements with
a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks
to support general liquidity needs, including the issuance
of commercial paper (the “MSDWD Facility”). Under the
terms of the MSDWD Facility, the banks are committed
to provide up to $6.0 billion. The MSDWD Facility con-
tains restrictive covenants which require, among other
things, that the Company maintain shareholders’ equity

of at least $8.3 billion at all times. The Company believes
that the covenant restrictions will not impair the
Company’s ability to pay its current level of dividends.
At November 30, 1997, no borrowings were outstanding
under the MSDWD Facility.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility
that enables Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
(“MS&Co.”), one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealer
subsidiaries, to pledge certain collateral to secure loan
arrangements, letters of credit and other financial accom-
modations (the “MS&Co. Facility”). As part of the
MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured com-
mitted credit agreement with a group of banks that are
parties to the master collateral facility under which such
banks are committed to provide up to $1.5 billion. The
credit agreement contains restrictive covenants which
require, among other things, that MS&Co. maintain spec-
ified levels of consolidated shareholders’ equity and Net
Capital, each as defined. In January 1998, this facility was
renewed, and the amount of the commitment was
increased to $1.875 billion. At November 30, 1997, no
borrowings were outstanding under the MS&Co. Facility.

The Company also maintains a revolving commit-
ted financing facility that enables Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Limited (“MSIL”) to secure committed
funding from a syndicate of banks by providing a broad
range of collateral under repurchase agreements (the
“MSIL Facility”). Such banks are committed to provide
up to an aggregate of $1.85 billion available in 12 major
currencies. The facility agreements contain restrictive
covenants which require, among other things, that MSIL
maintain specified levels of Shareholders’ Equity and
Financial Resources, each as defined. At November 30,
1997, no borrowings were outstanding under the
MSIL Facility.

RFC maintains a senior bank credit facility which
supports the issuance of asset-backed commercial paper.
In fiscal 1997, RFC renewed this facility and increased its
amount to $2.55 billion from $2.1 billion. Under the terms
of the asset-backed commercial paper program, certain



MSDWD 5

assets of RFC were subject to a lien in the amount of $2.6
billion at November 30, 1997. RFC has never borrowed
from its senior bank credit facility.

The Company anticipates that it will utilize the
MSDWD Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL
Facility for short-term funding from time to time
(see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

Fiscal 1997 and Subsequent Activity
During fiscal 1997, the Company took several steps to
extend the maturity of its liabilities, reduce its reliance
on unsecured short-term funding and increase its capital.
These steps contributed to a net increase in capital of
$2,425 million to $33,577 million at November 30, 1997.
The additions to capital included net issuances of senior
notes and subordinated debt aggregating $2,655 million.

During fiscal 1997, the Company and Morgan
Stanley Finance plc, a U.K. subsidiary (“MS plc”), issued
8.03% Capital Units in an aggregate amount of $134 mil-
lion. Each Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated
Debenture of MS plc guaranteed by the Company, and
(b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company
requiring the holder to purchase one Depositary Share
representing shares (or fractional shares) of the Com-
pany’s 8.03% Cumulative Preferred Stock.

During fiscal 1997, the Company redeemed all
975,000 shares of its 8.88% Cumulative Preferred Stock at a
redemption price of $201.632 per share, which reflects the
stated value of $200 per share together with an amount
equal to all dividends accrued and unpaid to, but exclud-
ing, the redemption date. During fiscal 1997, the Company
also redeemed all 750,000 shares of its 8-3⁄4% Cumulative
Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $200 per share,
which was equal to the stated value of $200 per share.

During fiscal 1997, the Company repurchased shares
of its common stock at an aggregate cost of $124 million
and an average cost per share of $34.22. Prior to the con-
summation of the Merger, both Morgan Stanley and Dean
Witter Discover rescinded any outstanding share repur-
chase authorizations.

Between November 30, 1997 and January 31, 1998,
additional debt obligations aggregating approximately
$1,659 million were issued. These notes have maturities
from 1998 to 2004.

At November 30, 1997, certain assets of the
Company, such as real property, equipment and leasehold
improvements of $1.7 billion, and goodwill and other
intangible assets of $1.4 billion, were illiquid. In addition,
certain equity investments made in connection with the
Company’s merchant banking and other principal invest-
ment activities, high-yield debt securities, emerging mar-
ket debt, and certain collateralized mortgage obligations
and mortgage-related loan products are not highly liquid.
In connection with its merchant banking and other princi-
pal investment activities, the Company has equity invest-
ments (directly or indirectly through funds managed by
the Company) in privately and publicly held companies.
As of November 30, 1997, the aggregate carrying value of
the Company’s equity investments in privately held com-
panies (including direct investments and partnership
interests) was $128 million, and its aggregate investment
in publicly held companies was $547 million.

The Company acts as an underwriter of and as a
market-maker in mortgage-backed pass-through securi-
ties, collateralized mortgage obligations and related
instruments, and as a market-maker in commercial, resi-
dential and real estate loan products. In this capacity, the
Company takes positions in market segments in which
liquidity can vary greatly from time to time. The carrying
value of the portion of the Company’s mortgage-related
portfolio at November 30, 1997 traded in markets that the
Company believed were experiencing lower levels of
liquidity than traditional mortgage-backed pass-through
securities approximated $2,697 million.

In addition, at November 30, 1997, the aggregate
value of high-yield debt securities and emerging market
loans and securitized instruments held in inventory was
$2,188 million (a substantial portion of which was subordi-
nated debt) with not more than 4%, 14% and 16% of all
such securities, loans and instruments attributable to any
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one issuer, industry or geographic region, respectively.
Non-investment grade securities generally involve greater
risk than investment grade securities due to the lower
credit ratings of the issuers, which typically have rela-
tively high levels of indebtedness and are, therefore, more
sensitive to adverse economic conditions. In addition, the
market for non-investment grade securities and emerging
market loans and securitized instruments has been, and
may in the future be, characterized by periods of volatility
and illiquidity. The Company has in place credit and
other risk policies and procedures to control total inven-
tory positions and risk concentrations for non-investment
grade securities and emerging market loans and securi-
tized instruments.

The Company also has commitments to fund certain
fixed assets and other less liquid investments, including at
November 30, 1997 approximately $150 million in con-
nection with its merchant banking and other principal
investment activities. Additionally, the Company has pro-
vided and will continue to provide financing, including
margin lending and other extensions of credit to clients.

The Company may, from time to time, also provide
financing or financing commitments to companies in con-
nection with its investment banking and merchant bank-
ing activities. The Company may provide extensions of
credit to leveraged companies in the form of senior or
subordinated debt, as well as bridge financing on a selec-
tive basis (which may be in connection with the
Company’s commitment to the Morgan Stanley Bridge
Fund, LLC). At November 30, 1997, the Company had
one such loan of $355 million outstanding in connection
with its securitized debt underwriting activities.

The Company also engages in senior lending activi-
ties, including origination, syndication and trading of
senior secured loans of non-investment grade companies.
Such companies are more sensitive to adverse economic
conditions than investment grade issuers, but the loans
are generally made on a secured basis and are senior to
the non-investment grade securities of these issuers that
trade in the capital markets. At November 30, 1997, the

aggregate value of senior secured loans and positions held
by the Company was $738 million, and aggregate senior
secured loan commitments were $325 million.

The gross notional and fair value amounts of
derivatives used by the Company for asset and liability
management and as part of its trading activities are
summarized in Notes 6 and 8, respectively, to the consoli-
dated financial statements (see also “Derivative Financial
Instruments” herein).

Year 2000 and EMU
Many of the world’s computer systems currently record
years in a two-digit format. Such computer systems will
be unable to properly interpret dates beyond the year
1999, which could lead to business disruptions in the U.S.
and internationally (the “Year 2000” issue). The potential
costs and uncertainties associated with the Year 2000 issue
will depend on a number of factors, including software,
hardware and the nature of the industry in which a com-
pany operates. Additionally, companies must coordinate
with other entities with which they electronically interact,
such as customers, creditors and borrowers. 

To ensure that the Company’s computer systems are
Year 2000 compliant, a team of information technology
professionals began preparing for the Year 2000 issue in
1995. Since then, the Company has been reviewing each
of its systems and programs to identify those that contain
two-digit year codes. The Company is assessing the
amount of programming required to upgrade or replace
each of the affected programs with the goal of completing
all relevant internal software remediation and testing by
the end of 1998 with continuing Year 2000 compliance
efforts through 1999. In addition, the Company is actively
working with all of its major external counterparties and
suppliers to assess their compliance efforts and the Com-
pany’s exposure to them. 

Based upon current information, the Company
believes that its Year 2000 expenditures for 1998 and
through the project’s completion will be approximately
$125 million. Costs incurred relating to this project are
being expensed by the Company during the period in
which they are incurred. The Company’s expectations
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about future costs associated with the Year 2000 issue are
subject to uncertainties that could cause actual results to
differ materially from what has been discussed above.
Factors that could influence the amount and timing of
future costs include the success of the Company in identi-
fying systems and programs that contain two-digit year
codes, the nature and amount of programming required to
upgrade or replace each of the affected programs, the rate
and magnitude of related labor and consulting costs, and
the success of the Company’s external counterparties and
suppliers in addressing the Year 2000 issue.

Modifications to the Company’s computer systems
and programs are also being made in order to prepare for
the upcoming EMU. The EMU, which will ultimately
result in the replacement of certain European currencies
with the “Euro,” will primarily impact the Company’s
Securities and Asset Management business. Costs associ-
ated with the modifications necessary to prepare for the
EMU are also being expensed by the Company during
the period in which they are incurred.

Preparation relating to the Year 2000 issue and the
EMU transition will also create additional resource alloca-
tion challenges that the Company and other international
financial institutions will need to address.

Regulatory Capital Requirements
DWR and MS&Co. are registered broker-dealers and reg-
istered futures commission merchants and, accordingly,
are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the
New York Stock Exchange and the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission. MSIL, a London-based broker-
dealer subsidiary, is regulated by the Securities and
Futures Authority (“SFA”) in the United Kingdom and,
accordingly, is subject to the Financial Resources
Requirements of the SFA. Morgan Stanley Japan Limited
(“MSJL”), a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is regulated by
the Japanese Ministry of Finance with respect to regula-
tory capital requirements. DWR, MS&Co., MSIL and
MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their
respective regulatory requirements (see Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements).

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured finan-
cial institutions. Such subsidiaries are therefore subject to
the regulatory capital requirements adopted by the FDIC.
These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of
these and other regulatory requirements.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are
subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations and capital adequacy requirements promul-
gated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have
consistently operated in excess of their applicable local
capital adequacy requirements. In addition, Morgan
Stanley Derivative Products Inc., a triple-A rated subsidiary
through which the Company conducts some of its deriva-
tive activities, has established certain operating restric-
tions which have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

Effects of Inflation and Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Because the Company’s assets to a large extent are liquid
in nature, they are not significantly affected by inflation.
However, inflation may result in increases in the
Company’s expenses, which may not be readily recover-
able in the price of services offered. To the extent infla-
tion results in rising interest rates and has other adverse
effects upon the securities markets, on the value of finan-
cial instruments and upon the markets for consumer
credit services, it may adversely affect the Company’s
financial position and profitability.

A portion of the Company’s business is conducted
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Non-U.S. dollar
assets typically are financed by direct borrowing or swap-
based funding in the same currency. Changes in foreign
exchange rates affect non-U.S. dollar revenues as well as
non-U.S. dollar expenses. Those foreign exchange expo-
sures that arise and are not hedged by an offsetting foreign
currency exposure are actively managed by the Company
to minimize risk of loss due to currency fluctuations.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company actively offers to clients and trades for its
own account a variety of financial instruments described
as “derivative products” or “derivatives.” These products
generally take the form of futures, forwards, options,
swaps, caps, collars, floors, swap options and similar
instruments which derive their value from underlying
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, or commodity or
equity instruments and indices. All of the Company’s
trading-related divisions use derivative products as an
integral part of their respective trading strategies, and
such products are used extensively to manage the market
exposure that results from a variety of proprietary trading
activities (see Note 8 to the consolidated financial state-
ments). In addition, as a dealer in certain derivative prod-
ucts, most notably interest rate and currency swaps, the
Company enters into derivative contracts to meet a vari-
ety of risk management and other financial needs of its
clients. Given the highly integrated nature of derivative
products and related cash instruments in the determina-
tion of overall trading division profitability and the con-
text in which the Company manages its trading areas, it is
not meaningful to allocate trading revenues between the
derivative and underlying cash instrument components.
Moreover, the risks associated with the Company’s deriva-
tive activities, including market and credit risks, are man-
aged on an integrated basis with associated cash
instruments in a manner consistent with the Company’s
overall risk management policies and procedures (see
“Risk Management” following Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations). It should be noted that while particular risks
may be associated with the use of derivatives, in many
cases derivatives serve to reduce, rather than increase, the
Company’s exposure to market, credit and other risks.

The total notional value of derivative trading con-
tracts outstanding at November 30, 1997 was $2,529 billion
(as compared with $1,317 billion at fiscal year-end 1996).
While these amounts are an indication of the degree of the
Company’s use of derivatives for trading purposes, they do
not represent the Company’s market or credit exposure
and may be more indicative of customer utilization of
derivatives. The Company’s exposure to market risk
relates to changes in interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates or the fair value of the underlying financial
instruments or commodities. The Company’s exposure to
credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair
value of such contracts reported as assets. Such total fair
value outstanding as of November 30, 1997 was $17.1 bil-
lion. Approximately $14.2 billion of that credit risk expo-
sure was with counterparties rated single-A or better (see
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements).

The Company also uses derivative products (primar-
ily interest rate, currency and equity swaps) to assist in
asset and liability management, reduce borrowing costs
and hedge interest rate risk (see Notes 5 and 6 to the con-
solidated financial statements).

The Company believes that derivatives are valuable
tools that can provide cost-effective solutions to complex
financial problems and remains committed to providing
its clients with innovative financial products. The
Company established Morgan Stanley Derivative
Products Inc. to offer derivative products to clients who
will enter into derivative transactions only with triple-A
rated counterparties. In addition, the Company, through
its continuing involvement with regulatory, self-regulatory
and industry activities such as the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association Inc. (ISDA), the Securities
Industry Association, the Group of 30 and the U.S. securi-
ties firms’ Derivatives Policy Group, provides leadership
in the development of policies and practices in order to
maintain confidence in the markets for derivative prod-
ucts, which is critical to the Company’s ability to assist
clients in meeting their overall financial needs.
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R ISK  MANAGEMENT

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  P O L I C Y  A N D  C O N T R O L  S T R U C T U R E
Risk is an inherent part of the Company’s business and
activities. The extent to which the Company properly and
effectively identifies, assesses, monitors and manages
each of the various types of risk involved in its activities is
critical to its soundness and profitability. The Company’s
broad-based portfolio of business activities helps reduce
the impact that volatility in any particular area or related
areas may have on its net revenues as a whole. The
Company seeks to identify, assess, monitor and manage,
in accordance with defined policies and procedures, the
following principal risks involved in the Company’s
business activities: market risk, credit risk, operational
risk, legal risk and funding risk. Funding risk is discussed
in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations beginning on page 36.

Risk management at the Company is a multi-faceted
process with independent oversight which requires con-
stant communication, judgment and knowledge of spe-
cialized products and markets. The Company’s senior
management takes an active role in the risk management
process and has developed policies and procedures that
require specific administrative and business functions to
assist in the identification, assessment and control of vari-
ous risks. In recognition of the increasingly varied and
complex nature of the global financial services business,
the Company’s risk management policies and procedures
are evolutionary in nature and are subject to ongoing
review and modification. 

The Management Committee, composed of the
Company’s most senior officers, establishes the overall
risk management policies for the Company and reviews
the Company’s performance relative to these policies.
The Management Committee has created several Risk
Committees to assist it in monitoring and reviewing the
Company’s risk management practices. These Risk
Committees, among other things, review the general
framework, levels and monitoring procedures relating
to the Company’s market and credit risk profile, general
sales practice policies, pricing of consumer loans and

reserve adequacy, legal enforceability and operational
and systems risks. The Controllers, Treasury, Law,
Compliance and Governmental Affairs and Market
Risk Departments, which are all independent of the
Company’s business units, assist senior management and
the Risk Committees in monitoring and controlling the
Company’s risk profile. In addition, the Internal Audit
Department, which also reports to senior management,
evaluates the Company’s operations and control environ-
ment through periodic examinations of business opera-
tional areas. The Company continues to be committed to
employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise
in each of its various administrative and business areas to
implement effectively the Company’s risk management
and monitoring systems and processes.

The following is a discussion of the Company’s risk
management policies and procedures for its principal risks
(other than funding risk). The discussion focuses on the
Company’s securities trading (primarily its institutional
trading activities) and consumer lending and related activ-
ities. The Company believes that these activities generate
a substantial portion of its principal risks. This discussion
and the estimated amounts of the Company’s market
risk exposure generated by the Company’s statistical
analyses are forward looking statements. However, the
analyses used to assess such risks are not projections of
future events, and actual results may vary significantly
from such analyses due to actual events in the markets in
which the Company operates and certain other factors
described below.

M A R K E T  R I S K
Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level
of one or more market prices, rates, indices, volatilities,
correlations or other market factors, such as liquidity, will
result in losses for a specified position or portfolio. For a
discussion of the Company’s currency exposure relating to
its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional
currency subsidiaries, see Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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which are compatible with the trading division limits.
Trading division risk managers, desk risk managers and
the Market Risk Department all monitor market risk
measures against limits and report major market and posi-
tion events to senior management. 

The Market Risk Department independently
reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular
basis from a market risk perspective utilizing Value-at-
Risk and other quantitative and qualitative risk measure-
ments and analyses. The Company may use measures,
such as rate sensitivity, convexity, volatility and time
decay measurements, to estimate market risk and to
assess the sensitivity of positions to changes in market
conditions. Stress testing, which measures the impact on
the value of existing portfolios of specified changes in
market factors, for certain products is performed periodi-
cally and reviewed by trading division risk managers, desk
risk managers and the Market Risk Department.

Value-at-Risk 
The Company uses a statistical technique known as 
Value-at-Risk (“VaR”) to assist management in measuring
its exposure to market risk related to its trading positions.
The VaR model is one of the tools used by senior man-
agement to monitor and review the market risk exposure
of the Company’s trading portfolios.

VaR Methodology, Assumptions and Limitations. VaR incorpo-
rates numerous variables that could impact the fair value of
the Company’s trading portfolio, including equity and com-
modity prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates and
associated volatilities, as well as correlation that exists
among these variables. The VaR model generally takes into
account linear and non-linear exposures to price and inter-
est rate risk and linear exposure to implied volatility risks.
The Company estimates VaR using a model based on his-
torical simulation with a confidence level of 99%. Historical
simulation involves constructing a distribution of hypothet-
ical daily changes in trading portfolio value. The hypotheti-
cal changes in portfolio value are based on daily observed
percentage changes in key market indices or other market
factors (“market risk factors”) to which the portfolio is sen-
sitive. In the case of the Company’s VaR, the historical

T R A D I N G  A N D  R E L A T E D  A C T I V I T I E S

Primary Market Risk Exposures and Market Risk Management
During fiscal 1997, the Company had exposures to a wide
range of interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange
rates and commodity prices — and associated volatilities
and spreads — related to a broad spectrum of global mar-
kets in which it conducts its trading activities. The
Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of
maintaining market making and proprietary positions and
trading in interest rate sensitive financial instruments
(e.g., risk arising from changes in the level or volatility of
interest rates, the timing of mortgage prepayments, the
shape of the yield curve and credit spreads for corporate
bonds and emerging market debt). The Company is
exposed to equity price risk as a result of making markets
in equity securities and equity derivatives and maintain-
ing proprietary positions. The Company is exposed to
foreign exchange rate risk in connection with making
markets in foreign currencies, foreign currency options
and maintaining foreign exchange positions. The Company’s
currency trading covers many foreign currencies including
the yen, deutsche mark, pound sterling and French franc.
The Company is exposed to commodity price risk as a
result of trading in commodity-related derivatives and
physical commodities. 

The Company manages its trading positions by
employing a variety of hedging strategies, which include
diversification of risk exposures and the purchase or sale
of positions in related securities and financial instruments,
including a variety of derivative products (e.g., swaps,
options, futures and forwards). The Company manages
the market risk associated with its trading activities
Company-wide, on a trading division level worldwide and
on an individual product basis. The Company manages
and monitors its market risk exposures in such a way as to
maintain a portfolio that the Company believes is well-
diversified with respect to market risk factors. Market risk
guidelines and limits have been approved for the
Company and each trading division of the Company
worldwide (equity, fixed income, foreign exchange and
commodities). Discrete market risk limits are assigned to
trading divisions and trading desks within trading areas
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observation period is approximately four years. The
Company’s one-day 99% VaR corresponds to the negative
change in portfolio value that, based on observed market
risk factor moves, would have been exceeded with a fre-
quency of 1%, or once in 100 trading days.

VaR models such as the Company’s are continually
evolving as trading portfolios become more diverse and
modeling techniques and systems capabilities improve.
During fiscal 1997, the position and risk coverage of the
Company’s VaR model were broadened and risk measure-
ment methodologies were refined. Among the most
significant enhancements were the incorporation of 
name-specific risk in global equities and in U.S. corporate
and high-yield bonds. As of November 30, 1997, a total of
approximately 420 market risk factor benchmark data
series were incorporated in the Company’s VaR model
covering interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange
rates, commodity prices and associated volatilities. In addi-
tion, the model includes market risk factors for approxi-
mately 7,500 equity names and 60 classes of corporate and
high-yield bonds. 

Among their benefits, VaR models permit estimation
of a portfolio’s aggregate market risk exposure, incorporat-
ing a range of varied market risks; reflect risk reduction
due to portfolio diversification; and are comprehensive yet
relatively easy to interpret. However, VaR risk measures
should be interpreted in light of the methodology’s limita-
tions, which include that past changes in market risk fac-
tors will not always accurately predict future changes in a
portfolio’s value; it is not possible to perfectly model all of
a trading portfolio’s market risk factors; published VaR
results reflect past trading positions while future risk
depends on future positions; and VaR using a one-day
time horizon does not fully capture the market risk of
positions that cannot be liquidated or hedged within one
day. The Company is aware of these and other limitations
and therefore uses VaR as only one component in its risk
management review process. This process also incorpo-
rates stress testing and extensive risk monitoring and con-
trol at the trading desk, division and Company levels.

VaR for Fiscal 1997. The table below presents the results
of the Company’s VaR for each of the Company’s primary
market risk exposures and on an aggregate basis at 
November 30, 1997 incorporating substantially all finan-
cial instruments generating market risk (including fund-
ing liabilities related to trading positions and certain
merchant banking positions). A small proportion of trad-
ing positions however, were not covered, and the model-
ing of the risk characteristics of some positions involved
approximations which could be significant under certain
circumstances. Market risks that the Company has found
particularly difficult to incorporate in its VaR model
include certain risks associated with mortgage-backed
securities and certain commodity price risks (such as elec-
tricity price risk).

Since VaR is based on historical data and changes in
market risk factor returns, VaR should not be viewed as
predictive of the Company’s future financial performance
or its ability to manage and monitor risk and there can be
no assurance that the Company’s actual losses on a partic-
ular day will not exceed the VaR amounts indicated below
or that such losses will not occur more than once in 100
trading days.

P R I M A R Y  M A R K E T  R I S K  C A T E G O R Y 9 9 % / O N E - D A Y  V a R
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  P R E - T A X ) A T  N O V E M B E R  3 0 ,  1 9 9 7

Interest rate $28
Equity price 17
Foreign exchange rate 7
Commodity price 6

Subtotal 58
Less diversification benefit(1) 19

Aggregate Value-at-Risk $39

(1) Equals the difference between aggregate VaR and the sum of the VaRs for
the four risk categories. This benefit arises because the simulated 99%/one-
day losses for each of the four primary market risk categories occur on
different days; similar diversification benefits are also taken into account
within each such category.
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In order to facilitate comparison with other global finan-
cial services firms, the Company notes that its aggregate
year-end VaR for other confidence levels and time hori-
zons was as follows: $21 million for 95%/one-day VaR and
$98 million for 99%/two-week VaR.

The chart below presents supplemental information
regarding 99%/one-day VaR over the course of fiscal 1997
for substantially all of the Company’s institutional trading
activities. These activities include most of the Company’s
trading-related market risk, but exclude certain market
risks incorporated in the Company’s November 30, 1997
VaR calculation discussed above such as market risks
related to the Company’s retail trading activities, equity
price risk in certain merchant banking positions and fund-
ing liabilities related to trading positions.

The Company evaluates the reasonableness of its VaR
model by comparing the potential declines in portfolio
values generated by the model with actual trading results. 
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The histogram below shows daily trading revenue net of
interest expense for fiscal 1997 for substantially all of the
Company’s institutional trading activities. In fiscal 1997,
the Company did not incur any daily trading losses in its
institutional trading business in excess of the correspond-
ing daily 99%/one-day VaR.

C O N S U M E R  L E N D I N G  A N D  R E L A T E D  A C T I V I T I E S  

Interest Rate Risk and Management
In its consumer lending activities, the Company is
exposed to market risk primarily from changes in interest
rates. Such changes in interest rates impact interest earn-
ing assets, principally credit card and other consumer
loans and net servicing fees received in connection with
consumer loans sold through asset securitizations, as well
as the interest sensitive liabilities which finance these
assets, including asset securitizations, commercial paper,
medium-term notes, long-term borrowings, deposits,
asset-backed commercial paper, Fed Funds and short-
term bank notes.
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The Company’s interest rate risk management poli-
cies are designed to reduce the potential volatility of earn-
ings which may arise from changes in interest rates. This
is accomplished primarily by matching the repricing of
credit card and consumer loans, and the related financing. 
To the extent that asset and related financing repricing
characteristics of a particular portfolio are not matched
effectively, the Company utilizes interest rate derivative
contracts, such as swap, cap and cost of funds agreements,
to achieve its matched financing objectives. Interest rate
swap agreements effectively convert the underlying asset
or financing from fixed to variable repricing, variable to
fixed repricing, or in more limited circumstances from
variable to variable repricing. Interest rate cap agreements
effectively establish a maximum interest rate on certain
variable rate financings. Cost of funds agreements, entered
into in connection with certain private label credit card
merchant agreements, effectively establish a fixed rate of
financing for the related private label credit card portfolio.

Sensitivity Analysis Methodology, Assumptions and Limitations
For its consumer lending activities, the Company uses a
variety of techniques to assess its interest rate risk expo-
sure, one of which is interest rate sensitivity simulation.
For purposes of presenting the possible earnings effect of
a hypothetical, adverse change in interest rates over the
12-month period from November 30, 1997, the Company
assumed that all interest rate sensitive assets and liabili-
ties will be impacted by a hypothetical, immediate 100
basis point increase in interest rates as of the beginning of
the period.

Interest rate sensitive assets are assumed to be those
for which the stated interest rate is not contractually fixed
for the next 12-month period. Thus, assets which have a
market-based index, such as the prime rate, which will
reset before the end of the 12-month period, or assets
whose rates are fixed at November 30, 1997, but which
will mature, or otherwise contractually reset to a market-
based indexed rate prior to the end of the 12-month
period, are rate-sensitive. The latter category includes
certain credit card loans which may be offered at below-
market rates for an introductory period, such as for bal-
ance transfers and special promotional programs, after
which the loans will contractually reprice in accordance

with the Company’s normal market-based pricing struc-
ture. For purposes of measuring rate-sensitivity for such
loans, only the effect of the hypothetical 100 basis point
change in the underlying market-based index, such as the
prime rate, has been considered rather than the full change
in the rate to which the loan would contractually reprice.
For assets which have a fixed rate at November 30, 1997
but which contractually will, or are assumed to, reset to a
market-based index during the next 12 months, earnings
sensitivity is measured from the expected repricing date.
In addition, for all interest rate sensitive assets, earnings
sensitivity is calculated net of expected loan losses.

Interest rate sensitive liabilities are assumed to be
those for which the stated interest rate is not contractually
fixed for the next 12-month period. Thus, liabilities which
have a market-based index, such as the prime, commer-
cial paper, or LIBOR rates, which will reset before the
end of the 12-month period, or liabilities whose rates are
fixed at November 30, 1997, but which will mature and be
replaced with a market-based indexed rate prior to the
end of the 12-month period, are rate-sensitive. For liabili-
ties which have a fixed rate at November 30, 1997, but
which are assumed to reset to a market-based index dur-
ing the next 12 months, earnings sensitivity is measured
from the expected repricing date.

Assuming a hypothetical, immediate 100 basis point
increase in the interest rates affecting all interest rate sen-
sitive assets and liabilities as of November 30, 1997, pre-
tax income of consumer lending activities (Credit and
Transaction Services) over the next 12-month period
would be reduced by approximately $66 million.

The hypothetical model assumes that the balances
of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities at Novem-
ber 30, 1997 will remain constant over the next 12-month
period. It does not assume any growth, strategic change in
business focus, change in asset pricing philosophy, or
change in asset/liability funding mix. Thus, this model
represents a static analysis which cannot adequately por-
tray how the Company would respond to significant
changes in market conditions. Furthermore, the analysis
does not necessarily reflect the Company’s expectations
regarding the movement of interest rates in the near term,
including the likelihood of an immediate 100 basis point
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change in market interest rates nor necessarily the actual
effect on earnings if such rate changes were to occur.

C R E D I T  R I S K
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from the
possibility that a customer or counterparty to a transaction
might fail to perform under its contractual commitment,
resulting in the Company incurring losses. With respect to
its trading activities, the Company has credit guidelines
which limit the Company’s credit exposure to any one
counterparty. Specific credit risk limits based on the credit
guidelines are also in place for each type of counterparty
(by rating category) as well as for secondary positions in
high-yield and emerging market debt. In addition to mon-
itoring credit limits, the Company manages the credit
exposure relating to the Company’s trading activities by
reviewing counterparty financial soundness periodically,
by entering into master netting agreements and collateral
arrangements with counterparties in appropriate circum-
stances and by limiting the duration of exposure. With
respect to its consumer lending activities, potential credit
card holders undergo credit reviews by the Credit
Department to establish that they meet standards of
ability and willingness to pay. Credit card applications are
evaluated using credit scoring systems (statistical evalua-
tion models that assign point values to information con-
tained in applications). The Company’s credit scoring
systems are customized using the Company’s criteria and
historical data. Each cardmember’s credit line is reviewed
at least annually, and actions resulting from such review
may include lowering a cardmember’s credit line or closing
the account. In addition, the Company reviews the credit-
worthiness of prospective Novus Network merchants and
conducts annual reviews of merchants, with greatest
scrutiny given to merchants with substantial sales volume.

O P E R A T I O N A L  R I S K
Operational risk refers to the risk of loss resulting from
improper processing of transactions or deficiencies in the
Company’s operating systems or control processes. With
respect to its trading activities, the Company has devel-
oped and continues to enhance specific policies and pro-
cedures that are designed to provide, among other things,
that all transactions are accurately recorded and properly
reflected in the Company’s books and records and con-

firmed on a timely basis; position valuations are subject to
periodic independent review procedures; and collateral
and adequate documentation (e.g., master agreements)
are obtained from counterparties in appropriate circum-
stances. With respect to its consumer lending activities,
operating systems are designed to provide for the efficient
servicing of consumer loan accounts. The Company man-
ages operational risk through its system of internal con-
trols which provides checks and balances to ensure that
transactions and other account-related activity (e.g., new
account solicitation, transaction authorization and process-
ing, billing and collection of delinquent accounts) are
properly approved, processed, recorded and reconciled.
Disaster recovery plans are in place on a Company-wide
basis for critical systems, and redundancies are built into
the systems as deemed appropriate.

L E G A L  R I S K
Legal risk includes the risk of non-compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the risk
that a counterparty’s performance obligations will be
unenforceable. The Company is generally subject to
extensive regulation in the different jurisdictions in which
it conducts its business. The Company has established
procedures based on legal and regulatory requirements on
a worldwide basis that are designed to ensure compliance
with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.
The Company, principally through the Law, Compliance
and Governmental Affairs Department, also has estab-
lished procedures that are designed to ensure that senior
management’s policies relating to conduct, ethics and
business practices are followed globally. In connection
with its business, the Company has various procedures
addressing issues, such as regulatory capital requirements,
sales and trading practices, new products, use and safe-
keeping of customer funds and securities, credit granting,
collection activities, money-laundering and recordkeeping.
The Company also has established procedures to mitigate
the risk that a counterparty’s performance obligations will
be unenforceable, including consideration of counterparty
legal authority and capacity, adequacy of legal documenta-
tion, the permissibility of a transaction under applicable
law and whether applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws
limit or alter contractual remedies. 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan

Stanley, Dean Witter, Discover & Co.

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan

Stanley, Dean Witter, Discover & Co.We have audited the

accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition

of Morgan Stanley , Dean Witter , Discover & Co. and

subsidiaries at fiscal years ended November 30, 1997 and

1996, and the related consolidated statements of income,

cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of

the three fiscal years in the period ended November 30,

1997. These consolidated financial statements are the

responsibility of the Company’s management. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated

financial statements based on our audits. The consolidated

financial statements give retroactive effect to the merger of

Morgan Stanley Group Inc. and Dean Witter, Discover & Co.,

which has been accounted for as a pooling of interests as

described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

We did not audit the consolidated statement of financial

condition of Morgan Stanley Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of

November 30, 1996, or the related statements of income,

cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the fiscal

years ended November 30, 1996 and 1995, which statements

reflect total assets of $196,446 million as of November 30,

1996 and total revenues of $13,144 million and $10,797

million for the fiscal years ended November 30, 1996 and

1995, respectively. Those statements were audited by other

auditors  whose  report has been  furnished  to us,  and our

opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for

Morgan Stanley Group Inc. and subsidiaries for such periods,

is based solely on the report of such other auditors.

     We conducted our audits in accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that

we plan and per for m the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the

report of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our

opinion.

     In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the

other auditors, the accompanying consolidated financial

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the

consolidated financial position of Morgan Stanley , Dean

Witter , Discover & Co. and subsidiaries at fiscal years ended

November 30, 1997 and 1996, and the consolidated results of

their operations and their cash flows for each of the three

fiscal years in the period ended November 30, 1997, in

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

FPO

New York, New York

January 23, 1998



A T  F I S C A L
N O V E M B E R  3 0 , Y E A R - E N D

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  E X C E P T  S H A R E  D A T A ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

A S S E T S

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,255 $ 6,544

Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under 
federal and other regulations (including securities at fair value of $4,655 
at November 30, 1997 and $3,759 at fiscal year-end 1996) 6,890 5,209

Financial instruments owned:

U.S. government and agency securities 12,901 12,032

Other sovereign government obligations 22,900 19,473

Corporate and other debt 24,499 16,899

Corporate equities 10,329 12,662

Derivative contracts 17,146 11,220

Physical commodities 242 375

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 84,516 64,021

Securities borrowed 55,266 43,546

Receivables:

Consumer loans (net of allowances of $884 at November 30, 1997 and 
$802 at fiscal year-end 1996) 20,033 21,262

Customers, net 12,259 8,600

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 13,263 5,421

Fees, interest and other 4,705 3,981

Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation and amortization of 
$1,279 at November 30, 1997 and $1,060 at fiscal year-end 1996) 1,705 1,681

Other assets 7,378 5,934

Total assets $302,287 $238,860

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N
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A T  F I S C A L
N O V E M B E R  3 0 , Y E A R - E N D

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  E X C E P T  S H A R E  D A T A ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings $ 22,614 $ 26,326
Deposits 8,993 7,213
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:

U.S. government and agency securities 11,563 11,395
Other sovereign government obligations 12,095 6,513
Corporate and other debt 1,699 1,176
Corporate equities 13,305 8,900
Derivative contracts 15,599 9,982
Physical commodities 68 476

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 111,680 86,863
Securities loaned 14,141 12,907
Payables:

Customers 25,086 22,062
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 16,097 1,820
Interest and dividends 970 1,678

Other liabilities and accrued expenses 8,630 6,340
Long-term borrowings 24,792 22,642

287,332 226,293

Capital Units 999 865

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock 876 1,223
Common stock(1) ($0.01 par value, 1,750,000,000 shares authorized, 

602,829,994 and 611,314,509 shares issued, 594,708,971 and 572,682,876 shares 
outstanding at November 30, 1997 and fiscal year-end 1996) 6 6

Paid-in capital(1) 3,952 4,007
Retained earnings 9,330 7,477
Cumulative translation adjustments (9) (11)

Subtotal 14,155 12,702
Note receivable related to sale of preferred stock to ESOP (68) (78)
Common stock held in treasury, at cost(1) ($0.01 par value, 8,121,023 and 

38,631,633 shares at November 30, 1997 and fiscal year-end 1996) (250) (1,005)
Stock compensation related adjustments 119 83

Total shareholders’ equity 13,956 11,702

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $302,287 $238,860

MSDWD 6

(1) Amounts have been restated to reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  E X C E P T  S H A R E  A N D  P E R  S H A R E  D A T A ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Revenues:
Investment banking $ 2,694 $ 2,190 $ 1,556
Principal transactions:

Trading 3,191 2,659 1,685
Investments 463 86 121

Commissions 2,086 1,776 1,533
Fees:

Asset management, distribution and administration 2,505 1,732 1,377
Merchant and cardmember 1,704 1,505 1,135
Servicing 762 809 680

Interest and dividends 13,583 11,288 10,530
Other 144 126 115

Total revenues 27,132 22,171 18,732
Interest expense 10,806 8,934 8,190
Provision for consumer loan losses 1,493 1,214 722

Net revenues 14,833 12,023 9,820

Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits 6,019 5,071 4,005
Occupancy and equipment 526 493 454
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees 460 317 289
Information processing and communications 1,080 996 889
Marketing and business development 1,179 1,027 874
Professional services 451 334 252
Other 770 668 706
Relocation charge – – 59
Merger-related expenses 74 – –

Total non-interest expenses 10,559 8,906 7,528

Income before income taxes 4,274 3,117 2,292
Provision for income taxes 1,688 1,137 827

Net income $ 2,586 $ 1,980 $ 1,465

Preferred stock dividend requirements $ 66 $ 66 $ 65

Earnings applicable to common shares(1) $ 2,520 $ 1,914 $ 1,400

Earnings per common share(2)

Primary $ 4.25 $ 3.22 $ 2.30

Fully diluted $ 4.15 $ 3.14 $ 2.25

Average common shares outstanding(2)

Primary 594,182,885 594,478,535 608,246,433

Fully diluted 609,043,924 611,012,101 622,098,868

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E
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(1) Amounts shown are used to calculate primary earnings per common share.
(2) Per share and share data have been restated to reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FISCAL YEAR (DOLLARS IN MILLIONS) 1997 1996 1995

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
     Net income $ 2,586 $ 1,980 $ 1,465
     Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used for
          operating activities:
               Non-cash charges included in net income:
                    Defer red income taxes (77) (426) (212)
                    Compensation payable in common or preferred stock    374 513 353
                    Depreciation and amortization 338 251 201
                    Relocation charge Ð Ð 59
                    Provision for losses on credit receivables 1,493 1,214 722
               Changes in assets and liabilities:
                    Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations
                         or segregated under federal and other regulations (1,691) (1,943) 519
                    Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments
                         sold, not yet purchased 1,730 (2,536) (9,846)
                    Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned2, (10,561) (13,087) 489
                    Receivables and other assets (13,808) (8,227) 390
                    Payables and other liabilities 19,028 6,910 2,484
Net cash used for operating activities (588) (15,351) (1,376)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
     Net (payments for) proceeds from:
          Of fice facilities (301) (152) (403)
          Purchase of Miller Anderson & Sherrerd, LLP , net of cash acquired Ð (200) Ð
          Purchase of Van Kampen American Capital, Inc., net of cash acquired Ð (986) Ð
          Net principal disbursed on consumer loans (4,994) (7,532) (7,429)
          Purchases of consumer loans (11)  (51) (307)
          Sales of consumer loans 2,783 4,824 1,827
          Other investing activities (5) (40) (116)
Net cash used for investing activities (2,528) (4,137) (6,428)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
     Net (payments for) proceeds from short-term borrowings (1,336) 8,106 5,833
     Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities
          purchased under agreements to resell 3,080 7,748 (1,384)
     Proceeds from:
               Deposits 2,113 1,022 982
               Issuance of cumulative prefer red stock Ð 540 Ð
               Issuance of common stock 224 156 122
               Issuance of long-term borrowings 6,619 8,745 4,311
               Issuance of Capital Units 134 Ð 513
     Payments for:
               Repayments of long-term borrowings (3,964) (2,637) (1,604)
               Redemption of cumulative prefer red stock (345)  (138) Ð
               Repurchases of common stock (124) (1,133) (267)
               Cash dividends (416) (313) (235)
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,985 22,096 8,271
Dean Witter , Discover & Co’ s net cash activity for the month of
     December 1996 (1,158) Ð Ð
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,711 2,608 467
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period 6,544 3,936 3,469
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period $ 8,255 $ 6,544 $ 3,936

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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N O T E  R E C E I V A B L E C O M M O N  S T O C K
C U M U L A T I V E R E L A T E D  T O  S A L E H E L D  I N

P R E F E R R E D C O M M O N P A I D - I N R E T A I N E D T R A N S L A T I O N O F  P R E F E R R E D T R E A S U R Y,
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) S T O C K S T O C K ( 1 ) C A P I T A L ( 1 ) E A R N I N G S A D J U S T M E N T S S T O C K  T O  E S O P A T  C O S T ( 1 ) O T H E R T O T A L

B A L A N C E  A T  
F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 4 $ 819 $6 $3,384 $4,758 $ (3) $(109) $ (310) $ 36 $ 8,581
Net income – – – 1,465 – – – – 1,465
Dividends – – – (242) – – – – (242)
Conversion of ESOP Preferred 

Stock (1) – 1 – – – – – –
Issuance of common stock – – 73 – – – 90 – 163
Repurchases of common stock – – – – – – (267) – (267)
Compensation payable in 

common stock – – 149 – – – 126 19 294
ESOP shares allocated, at cost – – – – – 20 – – 20
Translation adjustments – – – – (6) – – – (6)

B A L A N C E  A T  
F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 5 818 6 3,607 5,981 (9) (89) (361) 55 10,008
Net income – – – 1,980 – – – – 1,980
Dividends – – – (323) – – – – (323)
Issuance of common stock in 

connection with MAS acquisition – – 9 – – – 74 – 83
Redemption of 9.36%

Cumulative Preferred Stock (138) – – – – – – – (138)
Issuance of 7-3⁄4% Cumulative

Preferred Stock 200 – (3) – – – – – 197
Issuance of Series A

Fixed/Adjustable Rate 
Cumulative Preferred Stock 345 – (2) – – – – – 343

Conversion of ESOP Preferred
Stock (2) – 2 – – – – – –

Issuance of common stock – – 97 – – – 133 – 230
Repurchases of common stock – – – – – – (1,133) – (1,133)
Retirement of treasury stock – – (4) (161) – – 165 – –
Compensation payable in 

common stock – – 301 – – – 117 28 446
ESOP shares allocated, at cost – – – – – 11 – – 11
Translation adjustments – – – – (2) – – – (2)

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
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N O T E  R E C E I V A B L E C O M M O N  S T O C K
C U M U L A T I V E R E L A T E D  T O  S A L E H E L D  I N

P R E F E R R E D C O M M O N P A I D - I N R E T A I N E D T R A N S L A T I O N O F  P R E F E R R E D T R E A S U R Y,
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) S T O C K S T O C K ( 1 ) C A P I T A L ( 1 ) E A R N I N G S A D J U S T M E N T S S T O C K  T O  E S O P A T  C O S T ( 1 ) O T H E R T O T A L

B A L A N C E  A T  
F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 6 $1,223 $6 $4,007 $7,477 $(11) $(78) $(1,005) $ 83 $11,702
Net income – – – 2,586 – – – – 2,586
Dividends – – – (387) – – – – (387)
Redemption of 8.88%

Cumulative Preferred Stock (195) – – – – – – – (195)
Redemption of 8-3⁄4%

Cumulative Preferred Stock (150) – – – – – – – (150)
Conversion of ESOP Preferred

Stock (2) – (1) – – – 3 – –
Issuance of common stock – – (22) – – – 246 – 224
Repurchases of common stock – – – – – – (124) – (124)
Compensation payable in 

common stock – – (38) – – – 278 124 364
ESOP shares allocated, at cost – – – – – 10 – – 10
Retirement of treasury stock – – (6) (265) – – 271 – –
Translation adjustments – – – – 2 – – – 2
Issuance of common stock 

in connection with 
Lombard acquisition – – 14 – – – 49 – 63

Adjustment for change in 
Dean Witter Discover’s year-end – – (2) (81) – – 32 (88) (139)

B A L A N C E  A T  
N O V E M B E R  3 0 ,  1 9 9 7 $ 876 $6 $3,952 $9,330 $ (9) $(68) $ (250) $119 $13,956

MSDWD 7

(1) Amounts have been restated to reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
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1 .  IN TRODUCT ION  AND  BAS IS  OF  PRESENTAT ION

T H E  M E R G E R
On May 31, 1997, Morgan Stanley Group Inc. (“Morgan
Stanley”) was merged with and into Dean Witter,
Discover & Co. (“Dean Witter Discover”) (the
“Merger”). At that time, Dean Witter Discover changed
its corporate name to Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter,
Discover & Co. (the “Company”). In conjunction with
the Merger, the Company issued 260,861,078 shares of its
common stock, as each share of Morgan Stanley common
stock then outstanding was converted into 1.65 shares of
the Company’s common stock (the “Exchange Ratio”). In
addition, each share of Morgan Stanley preferred stock
was converted into one share of a corresponding series of
preferred stock of the Company. The Merger was treated
as a tax-free exchange.

T H E  C O M P A N Y
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter, Discover &
Co. and its U.S. and international subsidiaries, including
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”), Morgan
Stanley & Co. International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan
Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Dean Witter Reynolds
Inc. (“DWR”), Dean Witter InterCapital Inc. (“ICAP”),
and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, provides a
wide range of financial and securities services on a global
basis and provides credit and transaction services nation-
ally. Its securities and asset management businesses
include securities underwriting, distribution and trading;
merger, acquisition, restructuring, real estate, project
finance and other corporate finance advisory activities;
asset management; merchant banking and other principal
investment activities; brokerage and research services; the
trading of foreign exchange and commodities as well as
derivatives on a broad range of asset categories, rates and
indices; and global custody, securities clearance services
and securities lending. The Company’s credit and transac-
tion services businesses include the operation of the
NOVUS Network, a proprietary network of merchant and
cash access locations, and the issuance of the Discover®

Card and other proprietary general purpose credit cards.

The Company’s services are provided to a large and diver-
sified group of clients and customers, including corpora-
tions, governments, financial institutions and individuals.

B A S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N
The consolidated financial statements give retroactive
effect to the Merger, which was accounted for as a pooling
of interests. The pooling of interests method of account-
ing requires the restatement of all periods presented as if
Dean Witter Discover and Morgan Stanley had always
been combined. The fiscal year end 1996, 1995 and 1994
shareholders’ equity data reflects the accounts of the
Company as if the preferred and additional common stock
had been issued during all of the periods presented.

Prior to the consummation of the Merger, Dean
Witter Discover’s year ended on December 31 and
Morgan Stanley’s fiscal year ended on November 30.
Subsequent to the Merger, the Company adopted a fiscal
year end of November 30. In recording the pooling of
interests combination, Dean Witter Discover’s financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 1996 and
1995 were combined with Morgan Stanley’s financial
statements for the fiscal years ended November 30, 1996
and 1995 (on a combined basis, “fiscal 1996” and “fiscal
1995,” respectively). The Company’s results for the
12 months ended November 30, 1997 (“fiscal 1997”)
include the results of Dean Witter Discover that were
restated to conform with the new fiscal year-end date.
The Company’s results of operations for fiscal 1997 and
fiscal 1996 include the month of December 1996 for
Dean Witter Discover.

The separate results of operations for Dean Witter
Discover and Morgan Stanley during the periods preced-
ing the Merger that are included in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income were as follows:

S I X  M O N T H S  E N D E D F I S C A L  F I S C A L  
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) M A Y  3 1 ,  1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Net Revenues:
Dean Witter Discover $3,318 $ 6,247 $5,698
Morgan Stanley 3,676 5,776 4,122

Combined $6,994 $12,023 $9,820

Net Income:
Dean Witter Discover $ 472 $ 951 $ 856
Morgan Stanley 626 1,029 609

Combined $1,098 $ 1,980 $1,465



In connection with the Merger, the Company incurred
pre-tax expenses of $74 million ($63 million after tax) in
the second fiscal quarter of 1997. These expenses con-
sisted primarily of proxy solicitation costs, severance costs,
financial advisory and accounting fees, legal costs and reg-
ulatory filing fees.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, which require management to make estimates and
assumptions regarding certain trading inventory valua-
tions, consumer loan loss levels, the potential outcome of
litigation and other matters that affect the financial state-
ments and related disclosures. Management believes that
the estimates utilized in the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements are prudent and reasonable.
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior
year amounts to conform to the current presentation. All
material intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated.

2 .  SUMMARY  OF  S IGN I F ICANT  ACCOUNT ING  POL IC I ES

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equiva-
lents consist of cash and highly liquid investments not
held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three
months or less.

In connection with the fiscal 1997 purchase of
Lombard Brokerage, Inc. (“Lombard”), the Company issued
1.9 million shares of common stock having a fair value
on the date of acquisition of approximately $63 million.
In connection with the purchase of Miller Anderson &
Sherrerd, LLP (“MAS”) in fiscal 1996, the Company
issued approximately $66 million of notes payable, as well
as 3.3 million shares of common stock having a fair value
on the date of acquisition of approximately $83 million.
In addition, in connection with the purchase in fiscal 1996
of VK/AC Holding, Inc., the parent of Van Kampen
American Capital, Inc. (“VKAC”), the Company assumed
approximately $162 million of long-term debt (see
Note 16).

C O N S U M E R  L O A N S
Consumer loans, which consist primarily of credit card
and other consumer installment loans, are reported at
their principal amounts outstanding, less applicable
allowances. Interest on consumer loans is credited to
income as earned.

Interest is accrued on credit card loans until the date
of charge-off, which generally occurs at the end of the
month during which an account becomes 180 days past
due, except in the case of bankruptcies and fraudulent
transactions, which are charged off earlier. The interest
portion of charged off credit card loans is written off
against interest revenue. Origination costs related to the
issuance of credit cards are charged to earnings over
periods not exceeding 12 months.

A L L O W A N C E  F O R  C O N S U M E R  L O A N  L O S S E S
The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant
estimate that is regularly evaluated by management for
adequacy on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis and is estab-
lished through a charge to the provision for loan losses.
The evaluations take into consideration such factors as
changes in the nature and volume of the loan portfolio,
overall portfolio quality, review of specific problem loans
and current economic conditions that may affect the bor-
rower’s ability to pay.

The Company uses the results of these evaluations
to provide an allowance for loan losses. The exposure for
credit losses for owned loans is influenced by the perfor-
mance of the portfolio and other factors discussed above,
with the Company absorbing all related losses. The expo-
sure for credit losses for securitized loans is represented
by the Company retaining a contingent risk based on the
amount of credit enhancement provided.

In fiscal 1996, the Company revised its estimate of the
allowance for losses for loans intended to be securitized.
This revision was based on the Company’s experience with
credit losses related to securitized loans in a mature asset
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securitization market and the issuance of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 125,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), which eliminated
the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate accounting
treatment for asset securitization transactions. 

S E C U R I T I Z A T I O N  O F  C O N S U M E R  L O A N S
The Company periodically sells consumer loans through
asset securitizations and continues to service these loans.
The revenues derived from servicing these loans are
recorded in the consolidated statements of income as
servicing fees over the term of the securitized loans rather
than at the time the loans are sold. The effects of recording
these revenues over the term of the securitized loans rather
than at the time the loans were sold are not material.

F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  U S E D  F O R  T R A D I N G
A N D I N V E S T M E N T
Financial instruments, including derivatives, used in the
Company’s trading activities are recorded at fair value,
and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in trading
revenues. Interest revenue and expense arising from
financial instruments used in trading activities are
reflected in the consolidated statements of income as
interest revenue or expense. The fair values of the trading
positions generally are based on listed market prices. If
listed market prices are not available or if liquidating the
Company’s positions would reasonably be expected to
impact market prices, fair value is determined based on
other relevant factors, including dealer price quotations
and price quotations for similar instruments traded in dif-
ferent markets, including markets located in different
geographic areas. Fair values for certain derivative con-
tracts are derived from pricing models which consider cur-
rent market and contractual prices for the underlying
financial instruments or commodities, as well as time
value and yield curve or volatility factors underlying the
positions. Purchases and sales of financial instruments are
recorded in the accounts on trade date. Unrealized gains
and losses arising from the Company’s dealings in over-
the-counter (“OTC”) financial instruments, including
derivative contracts related to financial instruments and
commodities, are presented in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of financial condition on a net-by-
counterparty basis, when appropriate.

Equity securities purchased in connection with mer-
chant banking and other principal investment activities
are initially carried in the consolidated financial state-
ments at their original costs. The carrying value of such
equity securities is adjusted when changes in the underly-
ing fair values are readily ascertainable, generally as evi-
denced by listed market prices or transactions which
directly affect the value of such equity securities.
Downward adjustments relating to such equity securities
are made in the event that the Company determines that
the eventual realizable value is less than the carrying
value. The carrying value of investments made in connec-
tion with principal real estate activities which do not
involve equity securities are adjusted periodically based
on independent appraisals, estimates prepared by the
Company of discounted future cash flows of the underly-
ing real estate assets or other indicators of fair value.

Loans made in connection with merchant banking
and investment banking activities are carried at cost plus
accrued interest less reserves, if deemed necessary, for
estimated losses.

F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  U S E D  F O R  A S S E T  A N D
L I A B I L I T Y M A N A G E M E N T
The Company has entered into various contracts as
hedges against specific assets, liabilities or anticipated
transactions. These contracts include interest rate swaps,
foreign exchange forwards, foreign currency swaps and
cost of funds agreements. The Company uses interest
rate and currency swaps to manage the interest rate and
currency exposure arising from certain borrowings and to
match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with
those of the borrowings that fund these loans. For con-
tracts that are designated as hedges of the Company’s
assets and liabilities, gains and losses are deferred and rec-
ognized as adjustments to interest revenue or expense
over the remaining life of the underlying assets or liabili-
ties. For contracts that are hedges of asset securitizations,
gains and losses are recognized as adjustments to servic-
ing fees. Gains and losses resulting from the termination
of hedge contracts prior to their stated maturity are recog-
nized ratably over the remaining life of the instrument
being hedged. The Company also uses foreign exchange
forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relat-
ing to its net monetary investment in non-U.S. dollar
functional currency operations. The gain or loss from
revaluing these contracts is deferred and reported within



cumulative translation adjustments in shareholders’
equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized
amounts due from or to counterparties included in receiv-
ables from or payables to brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations.

S E C U R I T I E S  T R A N S A C T I O N S
Clients’ securities transactions are recorded on a settle-
ment date basis with related commission revenues and
expenses recorded on trade date. Securities purchased
under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agree-
ments) and securities sold under agreements to repur-
chase (repurchase agreements), principally government
and agency securities, are treated as financing transactions
and are carried at the amounts at which the securities will
subsequently be resold or reacquired as specified in the
respective agreements; such amounts include accrued
interest. Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements
are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appro-
priate. It is the Company’s policy to take possession of
securities purchased under agreements to resell. The
Company monitors the fair value of the underlying securi-
ties as compared with the related receivable or payable,
including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests
additional collateral. Where deemed appropriate, the
Company’s agreements with third parties specify its rights
to request additional collateral.

Securities borrowed and securities loaned are carried
at the amounts of cash collateral advanced and received in
connection with the transactions. The Company measures
the fair value of the securities borrowed and loaned
against the collateral on a daily basis. Additional collateral
is obtained as necessary to ensure such transactions are
adequately collateralized.

I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G
Underwriting revenues and fees for mergers and acquisi-
tions and advisory assignments are recorded when ser-
vices for the transaction are substantially completed.
Transaction-related expenses are deferred and later
expensed to match revenue recognition.

O F F I C E  F A C I L I T I E S
Office facilities are stated at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization of
buildings and improvements are provided principally by
the straight-line method, while depreciation and amortiza-
tion of furniture, fixtures and equipment are provided by
both straight-line and accelerated methods. Property and
equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets, while leasehold improvements
are amortized over the lesser of the economic useful life
of the asset or, where applicable, the remaining term of
the lease.

I N C O M E  T A X E S
Income tax expense is provided for using the asset and
liability method, under which deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities are determined based upon the temporary differ-
ences between the financial statement and income tax
bases of assets and liabilities, using currently enacted
tax rates.

E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E
The calculations of earnings per common share are based
on the weighted average number of common shares and
share equivalents outstanding and give effect to preferred
stock dividend requirements. All per share and share
amounts reflect stock splits effected by Dean Witter
Discover and Morgan Stanley prior to the Merger, as well
as the additional shares issued to Morgan Stanley share-
holders pursuant to the Exchange Ratio.

C A R D M E M B E R  R E W A R D S
Cardmember rewards, primarily the Cashback Bonus
award, pursuant to which the Company annually pays
Discover cardmembers and Private Issue cardmembers a
percentage of their purchase amounts ranging up to one
percent (up to two percent for the Private Issue Card), are
based upon a cardmember’s level of annual purchases.
The liability for cardmember rewards expense, included
in other liabilities and accrued expenses, is accrued at the
time that qualified cardmember transactions occur and is
calculated on an individual cardmember basis.
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S T O C K - B A S E D  C O M P E N S A T I O N
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
encourages, but does not require, companies to record
compensation cost for stock-based employee compensation
plans at fair value. The Company has elected to continue
to account for its stock-based compensation plans using the
intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB No. 25”). Under the provisions of APB
No. 25, compensation cost for stock options is measured as
the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock.

T R A N S L A T I O N  O F  F O R E I G N  C U R R E N C I E S
Assets and liabilities of operations having non-U.S. dollar
functional currencies are translated at year-end rates of
exchange, and the income statements are translated at
weighted average rates of exchange for the year. In
accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Trans-
lation,” gains or losses resulting from translating foreign
currency financial statements, net of hedge gains or
losses and related tax effects, are reflected in cumulative
translation adjustments, a separate component of share-
holders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign
currency transactions are included in net income.

G O O D W I L L  A N D  O T H E R  I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S
Goodwill and other intangible assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over periods from five to 40 years, gen-
erally not exceeding 25 years, and are periodically evalu-
ated for impairment. At November 30, 1997, goodwill of
approximately $1.4 billion was included in the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial condition as a compo-
nent of Other Assets (see Note 16).

N E W  A C C O U N T I N G  P R O N O U N C E M E N T S
As of January 1, 1997, the Company adopted SFAS No.
125, which was effective for transfers of financial assets
made after December 31, 1996, except for transfers of cer-
tain financial assets for which the effective date has been
delayed for one year. SFAS No. 125 provides financial
reporting standards for the derecognition and recognition 

of financial assets, including the distinction between
transfers of financial assets which should be recorded as
sales and those which should be recorded as secured bor-
rowings. The adoption of the enacted provisions of SFAS
No. 125 had no material effect on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations. With respect to the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 125 which became effective in 1998,
the Company does not expect the impact of the adoption
of the deferred provisions to be material to the Company’s
financial condition or results of operations.

In February 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share” (“EPS”), effective for periods end-
ing after December 15, 1997, with restatement required
for all prior periods. SFAS No. 128 replaces the current
EPS categories of primary and fully diluted with “basic
EPS,” which reflects no dilution from common stock
equivalents, and “diluted EPS,” which reflects dilution
from common stock equivalents and other dilutive
securities based on the average price per share of the
Company’s common stock during the period. The adop-
tion of SFAS No. 128 would not have had, and is not
expected to have, a material effect on the Company’s
EPS calculations. 

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income” and SFAS No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information.” These statements, which are effec-
tive for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997,
establish standards for the reporting and display of com-
prehensive income and the disclosure requirements
related to segments.

3 .  CONSUMER  LOANS

Consumer loans were as follows:

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Credit card $20,914 $22,062
Other consumer installment 3 2

20,917 22,064
Less

Allowance for loan losses 884 802

Consumer loans, net $20,033 $21,262



Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as
follows:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Balance beginning of period $ 781)
(2) $ 709 $ 556

Additions
Provision for loan losses 1,493 1,214 722
Purchase of loan portfolios – 4 31

Total additions 1,493 1,218 753

Deductions
Charge-offs 1,639 1,182 711
Recoveries (196) (155) (120)

Net charge-offs 1,443 1,027 591

Other(1) 53 (98) (9)

Balance end of period $ 884 $ 802 $ 709

(1) Primarily reflects net transfers related to asset securitizations.
(2) Beginning balance differs from the fiscal 1996 end of period balance due

to the Company’s change in fiscal year-end.

Interest accrued on loans subsequently charged off,
recorded as a reduction of interest revenue, was $301 mil-
lion, $181 million and $115 million in fiscal 1997, 1996
and 1995.

At fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, $5,385 million
and $5,695 million of the Company’s consumer loans had
minimum contractual maturities of less than one year.
Because of the uncertainty regarding consumer loan
repayment patterns, which historically have been higher
than contractually required minimum payments, this
amount may not necessarily be indicative of the
Company’s actual consumer loan repayments.

At fiscal year-end 1997, the Company had commit-
ments to extend credit in the amount of $178.5 billion.
Commitments to extend credit arise from agreements to
extend to customers unused lines of credit on certain
credit cards provided there is no violation of conditions
established in the related agreement. These commit-
ments, substantially all of which the Company can termi-
nate at any time and which do not necessarily represent
future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based
on account usage and customer creditworthiness.

The Company received proceeds from asset securi-
tizations of $2,783 million, $4,528 million, and $1,827 mil-
lion in fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995. The uncollected
balances of consumer loans sold through asset securitiza-
tions were $15,033 million and $13,197 million at fiscal
year-end 1997 and 1996. 

The Company uses interest rate exchange agree-
ments to hedge the risk from changes in interest rates on
servicing fee revenues (which are derived from loans
sold through asset securitizations). Gains and losses from
these agreements are recognized as adjustments to ser-
vicing fees. Under these interest rate exchange agree-
ments the Company primarily pays floating rates and
receives fixed rates.

In connection with certain asset securitizations, the
Company has written interest rate cap agreements with
notional amounts of $303 million and strike rates of 11%.
Any settlement payments made under these agreements
will generally be passed back to the Company through an
adjustment of servicing fees, although this is subject to
the risk of counterparty nonperformance. At fiscal year
end 1997 and 1996, the fair values of these agreements
were not material. No payments have been made by
the Company under these agreements, which expire
through 2000.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s con-
sumer loans approximated carrying value at fiscal year end
1997 and 1996. The Company’s consumer loan portfolio,
including securitized loans, is geographically diverse, with
a distribution approximating that of the population of the
United States.

4 .  DEPOS I TS

Deposits were as follows:

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Demand, passbook and 
money market accounts $1,210 $1,716

Consumer certificate accounts 1,498 1,354
$100,000 minimum certificate accounts 6,285 4,143

Total $8,993 $7,213

The weighted average interest rates of interest-bearing
deposits outstanding during fiscal 1997 and 1996 were
6.2% and 6.3%.

At fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, the notional
amounts of interest rate exchange agreements that
hedged deposits outstanding were $535 million and $495
million and had fair values of $7 million and $5 million.
Under these interest rate exchange agreements the
Company primarily pays floating rates and receives fixed
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rates. At November 30, 1997, the weighted average inter-
est rate of the Company’s deposits including the effect of
interest rate exchange agreements was 6.16%.

At November 30, 1997, certificate accounts maturing
over the next five years were as follows: 

( D O L L A R S  I N M I L L I O N S )

1998 $3,810
1999 1,579
2000 963
2001 819
2002 312

The estimated fair value of the Company’s deposits, using
current rates for deposits with similar maturities, approxi-
mated carrying value at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996.

5 .  SHORT- TERM BORROWINGS

At fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, commercial paper in
the amount of $15,447 million and $18,890 million, with
weighted average interest rates of 5.5% and 5.4%,
was outstanding.

At fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, the notional
amounts of interest rate contracts that hedged commercial
paper outstanding were $732 million and $808 million and
had fair values of $(5) million and $(7) million. These
interest rate contracts converted the commercial paper to
fixed rates. These contracts had no material effect on the
weighted average interest rates of commercial paper.

At fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, other short-term
borrowings of $7,167 million and $7,436 million were out-
standing. These borrowings included bank loans, federal
funds and bank notes.

In November 1997, the Company replaced the
predecessor Dean Witter Discover and Morgan Stanley
holding company senior revolving credit agreements with
a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks
to support general liquidity needs, including the issuance
of commercial paper (the “MSDWD Facility”). Under the
terms of the MSDWD Facility, the banks are committed
to provide up to $6.0 billion. The MSDWD Facility con-
tains restrictive covenants which require, among other
things, that the Company maintain shareholders’ equity
of at least $8.3 billion at all times. The Company believes

that the covenant restrictions will not impair the
Company’s ability to pay its current level of dividends.
At November 30, 1997, no borrowings were outstanding
under the MSDWD Facility.

Riverwoods Funding Corporation (“RFC”), an entity
included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, maintains a senior bank credit facility to support
the issuance of asset-backed commercial paper. In fiscal
1997, RFC renewed this facility and increased its amount
to $2.55 billion from $2.1 billion. Under the terms of the
asset-backed commercial paper program, certain assets of
RFC were subject to a lien in the amount of $2.6 billion at
November 30, 1997. RFC has never borrowed from its
senior bank credit facility.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility
that enables MS&Co. to pledge certain collateral to secure
loan arrangements, letters of credit and other financial
accommodations (the “MS&Co. Facility”). As part of the
MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured com-
mitted credit agreement with a group of banks that are par-
ties to the master collateral facility under which such banks
are committed to provide up to $1.5 billion. The credit
agreement contains restrictive covenants which require,
among other things, that MS&Co. maintain specified levels
of consolidated shareholders’ equity and Net Capital, as
defined. In January 1998, the MS&Co. Facility was
renewed and the amount of the commitment of the credit
agreement was increased to $1.875 billion. At November
30, 1997, no borrowings were outstanding under the
MS&Co. Facility.

The Company also maintains a revolving committed
financing facility that enables MSIL to secure committed
funding from a syndicate of banks by providing a broad
range of collateral under repurchase agreements (the
“MSIL Facility”). Such banks are committed to provide
up to an aggregate of $1.85 billion available in 12 major
currencies. The facility agreements contain restrictive
covenants which require, among other things, that MSIL
maintain specified levels of Shareholders’ Equity and
Financial Resources, each as defined. At November 30,
1997, no borrowings were outstanding under the
MSIL Facility.

The Company anticipates that it will utilize the
MSDWD Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL
Facility for short-term funding from time to time.



M E D I U M - T E R M  N O T E S
Included in the table above are medium-term notes of
$14,049 million and $13,272 million at fiscal year-end 1997
and 1996. The effective weighted average interest rate on
all medium-term notes was 5.9% in fiscal 1997 and 5.8%
in fiscal 1996. Maturities of these notes range from fiscal
1998 through fiscal 2023.

S T R U C T U R E D  B O R R O W I N G S
U.S. dollar index/equity linked borrowings include
various structured instruments whose payments and
redemption values are linked to the performance of a spe-
cific index (i.e., Standard & Poor’s 500), a basket of stocks
or a specific equity security. To minimize the exposure
resulting from movements in the underlying equity posi-
tion or index, the Company has entered into various
equity swap contracts and purchased options which effec-
tively convert the borrowing costs into floating rates based
upon London Interbank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”).
These instruments are included in the preceding table at
their redemption values based on the performance of the
underlying indices, baskets of stocks, or specific equity
securities at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996.

O T H E R  B O R R O W I N G S
U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear inter-
est based on a variety of money market indices, including
LIBOR and Federal Funds rates. Non-U.S. dollar con-
tractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based on
Euro floating rates.

Included in the Company’s long-term borrowings
are subordinated notes of $1,302 million and $1,325 mil-
lion at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996 respectively. The
effective weighted average interest rate on these subor-
dinated notes was 7.2% in fiscal 1997 and 7.0% in fiscal
1996. Maturities of the subordinated notes range from
fiscal 1999 to fiscal 2016.

Certain of the Company’s long-term borrowings are
redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the holder.
These notes contain certain provisions which effectively
enable noteholders to put the notes back to the Company
and therefore are scheduled in the foregoing table to
mature in fiscal 1998 through fiscal 1999. The stated
maturities of these notes, which aggregate $1,495 million,
are from fiscal 1998 to fiscal 2004.

MS&Co., a registered U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary
of the Company, has outstanding approximately $313
million of 6.81% fixed rate subordinated Series C notes, 

MSDWD 7

6 .  LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

M A T U R I T I E S  A N D  T E R M S
Long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end consist of the following:

U . S .  D O L L A R N O N - U . S .  D O L L A R ( 1 ) A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D

I N D E X /
F I X E D  F L O A T I N G  E Q U I T Y  F I X E D  F L O A T I N G  1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) R A T E R A T E L I N K E D R A T E R A T E T O T A L T O T A L

Due in fiscal 1997 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 4,057
Due in fiscal 1998 1,190 3,488 747 468 277 6,170 5,616
Due in fiscal 1999 774 2,474 488 200 757 4,693 3,218
Due in fiscal 2000 774 1,501 22 48 73 2,418 1,686
Due in fiscal 2001 1,335 719 68 52 108 2,282 2,226
Due in fiscal 2002 1,077 1,097 91 17 341 2,623 1,299
Thereafter 5,460 140 194 774 38 6,606 4,540

Total $10,610 $9,419 $1,610 $1,559 $1,594 $24,792 $22,642

Weighted average coupon
at fiscal year-end 7.1)% 5.9)% n/a 5.3)% 5.0)% 6.1)% 6.2)%

(1) Weighted average coupon was calculated utilizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates.
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$96 million of 7.03% fixed rate subordinated Series D
notes, $82 million of 7.28% fixed rate subordinated Series
E notes and $25 million of 7.82% fixed rate subordinated
Series F notes. These notes have maturities from 2001 to
2016. The terms of such notes contain restrictive
covenants which require, among other things, that
MS&Co. maintain specified levels of Consolidated
Tangible Net Worth and Net Capital, each as defined.

A S S E T  A N D  L I A B I L I T Y  M A N A G E M E N T
A portion of the Company’s fixed rate long-term borrow-
ings is used to fund highly liquid marketable securities,
short-term receivables arising from securities transactions
and consumer loans. The Company uses interest rate
swaps to more closely match the duration of these bor-
rowings to the duration of the assets being funded and to
minimize interest rate risk. These swaps effectively con-
vert certain of the Company’s fixed rate borrowings into
floating rate obligations. In addition, for non-U.S. dollar
currency borrowings that are not used to fund assets in
the same currency, the Company has entered into cur-
rency swaps which effectively convert the borrowings

into U.S. dollar obligations. The Company’s use of swaps
for asset and liability management reduced its interest
expense and effective average borrowing rate as follows:

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Net reduction in interest expense 
from swaps for the fiscal year $21 $29 $20

Weighted average coupon of long-term 
borrowings at fiscal year-end(1) 6.1)% 6.2)% 6.6)%

Effective average borrowing rate for 
long-term borrowings after swaps 
at fiscal year-end(1) 6.0)% 6.1)% 6.4)%

(1) Included in the weighted average and effective average calculations are
non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

The effective weighted average interest rate on the
Company’s index/equity linked notes, which is not
included in the table above, was 5.7% and 5.6% in fiscal
1997 and fiscal 1996, respectively, after giving effect to
the related hedges.

The table below summarizes the notional or contract
amounts of these swaps by maturity and weighted average
interest rates to be received and paid at fiscal year end
1997. Swaps utilized to hedge the Company’s structured
borrowings are presented at their redemption values:

U . S .  D O L L A R N O N - U . S .  D O L L A R ( 1 )

R E C E I V E R E C E I V E R E C E I V E R E C E I V E
F I X E D F L O A T I N G I N D E X / F I X E D F L O A T I N G A T  F I S C A L

P A Y P A Y E Q U I T Y P A Y P A Y N O V.  3 0 , Y E A R - E N D
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) F L O A T I N G F L O A T I N G L I N K E D F L O A T I N G F L O A T I N G ( 2 ) 1 9 9 7  T O T A L 1 9 9 6  T O T A L

Maturing in fiscal 1997 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 1,878
Maturing in fiscal 1998 974 320 747 468 235 2,744 2,411
Maturing in fiscal 1999 542 375 488 187 380 1,972 1,668
Maturing in fiscal 2000 375 120 22 48 73 638 379
Maturing in fiscal 2001 924 5 68 52 33 1,082 1,093
Maturing in fiscal 2002 720 – 91 17 3 831 533
Thereafter 3,434 – 194 774 38 4,440 2,227

Total $6,969 $820 $1,610 $1,546 $762 $11,707 $10,189

Weighted average at fiscal 
year-end(3)

Receive rate 6.72)% 6.17)% n/a 5.06)% 3.67)%
Pay rate 5.83)% 5.96)% n/a 5.87)% 6.75)%

(1) The differences between the receive rate and the pay rate may reflect differences in the rate of interest associated with the underlying currency.
(2) These amounts include currency swaps used to effectively convert borrowings denominated in one currency into obligations denominated in

another currency.
(3) The table was prepared under the assumption that interest rates remain constant at year-end levels. The variable interest rates to be received or

paid will change to the extent that rates fluctuate. Such changes may be substantial. Variable rates presented generally are based on LIBOR or
Treasury bill rates.
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7 .  COMMITMENTS  AND  CONT INGENC IES

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases cover-
ing office space and equipment. At fiscal year-end 1997,
future minimum rental commitments under such leases
(net of subleases, principally on office rentals) were as
follows:

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S )

1998 $309
1999 268
2000 240
2001 210
2002 183
Thereafter 701

Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to base rentals,
generally provide for rent and operating expense escala-
tions resulting from increased assessments for real estate
taxes and other charges. Total rent expense, net of sub-
lease rental income, was $262 million, $264 million and
$271 million in fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.

The Company has an agreement with IBM, under
which the Company receives information processing, data
networking and related services. Under the terms of the
agreement, the Company has an aggregate minimum
annual commitment of $166 million subject to annual cost
of living adjustments.

During fiscal 1995, the Company recognized a pre-
tax charge of $59 million ($39 million after tax, which
reduced primary and fully diluted earnings per share by
$0.06). The charge was in connection with the relocation
of the majority of Morgan Stanley’s New York City
employees from leased space at 1221 and 1251 Avenue of
the Americas to space in the Company’s buildings at 1585
Broadway and 750 Seventh Avenue that were purchased
in fiscal 1993 and fiscal 1994, respectively, as well as a
move to new leased office space in Tokyo. The charge
specifically covered the Company’s termination of certain
leased office space and the write-off of remaining lease-
hold improvements in both cities.

As noted above, the Company uses interest rate and cur-
rency swaps to modify the terms of its existing borrow-
ings. Activity during the periods in the notional value of
the swap contracts used by the Company for asset and lia-
bility management (and the unrecognized gain at period
end) is summarized in the table below:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Notional value at beginning of period $10,189 $ 7,355
Additions 3,567 4,137
Matured (1,657) (1,068)
Terminated (216) (157)
Effect of foreign currency translation 

on non-U.S. dollar notional values and 
changes in redemption values on 
structured borrowings (176) (78)

Notional value at fiscal year-end $11,707 $10,189

Unrecognized gain at fiscal year-end $ 104 $ 139

The Company also uses interest rate swaps to modify cer-
tain of its repurchase financing agreements. The
Company had interest rate swaps with notional values of
approximately $1.8 billion and $1.1 billion at fiscal year
end 1997 and 1996, and unrecognized gains of approxi-
mately $13 million and $14 million as of fiscal year end
1997 and 1996, for such purpose. The unrecognized gains
on these swaps were offset by unrecognized losses on cer-
tain of the Company’s repurchase financing agreements.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s long-
term borrowings approximated carrying value based on
rates available to the Company at year-end for borrowings
with similar terms and maturities.

Cash paid for interest for the Company’s borrowings
and deposits approximated interest expense in fiscal 1997,
1996 and 1995.
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8 .  TRAD ING  ACT IV I T I ES

T R A D I N G  R E V E N U E S
The Company’s trading activities include providing secu-
rities brokerage, derivatives dealing, and underwriting
services to clients. While trading activities are generated
by client order flow, the Company also takes proprietary
positions based on expectations of future market move-
ments and conditions. The Company’s trading strategies
rely on the integrated management of its client-driven
and proprietary transactions, along with the hedging and
financing of these positions.

The Company manages its trading businesses by
product groupings and therefore has established distinct,
worldwide trading divisions having responsibility for
equity, fixed income, foreign exchange and commodities
products. Because of the integrated nature of the markets
for such products, each product area trades cash instru-
ments as well as related derivative products (i.e., options,
swaps, futures, forwards and other contracts with respect
to such underlying instruments or commodities).
Revenues related to principal trading are summarized
below by trading division:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Equities $1,310 $1,181 $ 728
Fixed Income 1,187 1,172 710
Foreign Exchange 500 169 177
Commodities 194 137 70

Total principal trading revenues $3,191 $2,659 $1,685

Interest revenue and expense are integral components of
trading activities. In assessing the profitability of trading
activities, the Company views net interest and principal
trading revenues in the aggregate.

The Company’s trading portfolios are managed with
a view toward the risk and profitability of the portfolios to
the Company. The nature of the equities, fixed income,
foreign exchange and commodities activities conducted
by the Company, including the use of derivative products
in these businesses, and the market, credit and concentra-
tion risk management policies and procedures covering
these activities are discussed below.

In the normal course of business, the Company has
been named as a defendant in various lawsuits and has
been involved in certain investigations and proceedings.
Some of these matters involve claims for substantial
amounts. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters
cannot be ascertained at this time, it is the opinion of
management, after consultation with outside counsel, that
the resolution of such matters will not have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of
the Company, but may be material to the Company’s
operating results for any particular period, depending
upon the level of the Company’s income for such period.

The Company had approximately $5.5 billion of let-
ters of credit outstanding at November 30, 1997 to satisfy
various collateral requirements.

Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased repre-
sent obligations of the Company to deliver specified
financial instruments at contracted prices, thereby creat-
ing commitments to purchase the financial instruments in
the market at prevailing prices. Consequently, the
Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of finan-
cial instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the
amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of
financial condition.

The Company also has commitments to fund certain
fixed assets and other less liquid investments, including at
November 30, 1997, approximately $150 million in con-
nection with its merchant banking and other principal
investment activities. Additionally, the Company has pro-
vided and will continue to provide financing, including
margin lending and other extensions of credit to clients
(including subordinated loans on an interim basis to lever-
aged companies associated with its investment banking
and its merchant banking and other principal investment
activities), that may subject the Company to increased
credit and liquidity risks.
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E Q U I T I E S
The Company makes markets and trades in the global
secondary markets for equities and convertible debt and
is a dealer in equity warrants, exchange traded and OTC
equity options, index futures, equity swaps and other
sophisticated equity derivatives. The Company’s activi-
ties as a dealer primarily are client-driven, with the objec-
tive of meeting clients’ needs while earning a spread
between the premiums paid or received on its contracts
with clients and the cost of hedging such transactions in
the cash or forward market or with other derivative trans-
actions. The Company limits its market risk related to
these contracts, which stems primarily from underlying
equity/index price and volatility movements, by employ-
ing a variety of hedging strategies, such as delta hedging
(delta is a measure of a derivative contract’s price move-
ment based on the movement of the price of the security
or index underlying the contract). The Company also
takes proprietary positions in the global equity markets by
using derivatives, most commonly futures and options, in
addition to cash positions, intending to profit from market
price and volatility movements in the underlying equities
or indices positioned.

Equity option contracts give the purchaser of the
contract the right to buy (call) or sell (put) the equity
security or index underlying the contract at an agreed-
upon price (strike price) during or at the conclusion of a
specified period of time. The seller (writer) of the con-
tract is subject to market risk, and the purchaser is subject
to market risk (to the extent of the premium paid) and
credit risk. Equity swap contracts are contractual agree-
ments whereby one counterparty receives the apprecia-
tion (or pays the depreciation) on an equity investment in
return for paying another rate, often based upon equity
index movements or interest rates. The counterparties to
the Company’s equity transactions include commercial
banks, investment banks, broker-dealers, investment
funds and industrial companies.

F I X E D  I N C O M E
The Company is a market-maker for U.S. and non-U.S.
government securities, corporate bonds, money market
instruments, medium-term notes and Eurobonds, high-
yield securities, emerging market securities, mortgage-

and other asset-backed securities, preferred stock and tax-
exempt securities. In addition, the Company is a dealer in
interest rate and currency swaps and other related deriva-
tive products, OTC options on U.S. and foreign govern-
ment bonds and mortgage-backed forward agreements
(“TBA”), options and swaps. In this capacity, the
Company facilitates asset and liability management for its
customers in interest rate and currency swaps and related
products and OTC government bond options.

Swaps used in fixed income trading are, for the most
part, contractual agreements to exchange interest pay-
ment streams (i.e., an interest rate swap may involve
exchanging fixed for floating interest payments) or curren-
cies (i.e., a currency swap may involve exchanging yen for
U.S. dollars in one year at an agreed-upon exchange rate).
The Company profits by earning a spread between the
premium paid or received for these contracts and the cost
of hedging such contracts. The Company seeks to man-
age the market risk of its swap portfolio, which stems
from interest rate and currency movements and volatility,
by using modeling that quantifies the sensitivity of its
portfolio to movements in interest rates and currencies
and by adding positions to or selling positions from its
portfolio as needed to minimize such sensitivity.
Typically, the Company adjusts its positions by entering
into additional swaps or interest rate and foreign currency
futures, foreign currency forwards and by purchasing or
selling additional underlying government bonds. The
Company manages the risk related to its option portfolio
by using a variety of hedging strategies such as delta
hedging, which includes the use of futures and forward
contracts to hedge market risk. The Company also is
involved in using debt securities to structure products
with multiple risk/return factors designed to suit
investor objectives.

The Company is an underwriter of and a market-
maker in mortgage-backed securities and collateralized
mortgage obligations (“CMO”) as well as commercial, resi-
dential and real estate loan products. The Company also
structures mortgage-backed swaps for its clients, enabling
them to derive the cash flows from an underlying mort-
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gage-backed security without purchasing the cash position.
The Company earns the spread between the premium
inherent in the swap and the cost of hedging the swap con-
tract through the use of cash positions or TBA contracts.
The Company also uses TBAs in its role as a dealer in
mortgage-backed securities and facilitates customer trades
by taking positions in the TBA market. Typically, these
positions are hedged by offsetting TBA contracts or under-
lying cash positions. The Company profits by earning the
bid-offer spread on such transactions. Further, the
Company uses TBAs to ensure delivery of underlying
mortgage-backed securities in its CMO issuance business.
As is the case with all mortgage-backed products, market
risk associated with these instruments results from interest
rate fluctuations and changes in mortgage prepayment
speeds. The counterparties to the Company’s fixed
income transactions include investment advisors, commer-
cial banks, insurance companies, investment funds and
industrial companies.

F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E
The Company is a market-maker in a number of foreign
currencies. In this business, it actively trades currencies
in the spot and forward markets earning a dealer spread.
The Company seeks to manage its market risk by enter-
ing into offsetting positions. The Company conducts an
arbitrage business in which it seeks to profit from ineffi-
ciencies between the futures, spot and forward markets.
The Company also makes a market in foreign currency
options. This business largely is client-driven and
involves the purchasing and writing of European and
American style options and certain sophisticated prod-
ucts to meet specific client needs. The Company profits
in this business by earning spreads between the options’
premiums and the cost of the hedging of such positions.
The Company limits its market risk by using a variety of
hedging strategies, including the buying and selling of
the currencies underlying the options based upon the
options’ delta equivalent. Foreign exchange option con-
tracts give the purchaser of the contract the right to buy
(call) or sell (put) the currency underlying the contract at
an agreed-upon strike price at or over a specified period
of time. Forward contracts and futures represent com-
mitments to purchase or sell the underlying currencies

at a specified future date at a specified price. The
Company also takes proprietary positions in currencies
to profit from market price and volatility movements in
the currencies positioned.

The majority of the Company’s foreign exchange
business relates to major foreign currencies such as
deutsche marks, yen, pound sterling, French francs, Swiss
francs, Italian lire and Canadian dollars. The balance of
the business covers a broad range of other currencies. The
counterparties to the Company’s foreign exchange trans-
actions include commercial banks, investment banks,
broker-dealers, investment funds and industrial companies.

C O M M O D I T I E S
The Company, as a major participant in the world com-
modities markets, trades in physical precious, base and
platinum group metals, electricity, energy products (prin-
cipally oil, refined oil products and natural gas) as well as a
variety of derivatives related to these commodities such as
futures, forwards and exchange traded and OTC options
and swaps. Through these activities, the Company pro-
vides clients with a ready market to satisfy end users’ cur-
rent raw material needs and facilitates their ability to
hedge price fluctuations related to future inventory needs.
The former activity at times requires the positioning of
physical commodities. Derivatives on those commodities,
such as futures, forwards and options, often are used to
hedge price movements in the underlying physical inven-
tory. The Company profits as a market-maker in physical
commodities by capturing the bid-offer spread inherent in
the physical markets.

To facilitate hedging for its clients, the Company
often is required to take positions in the commodity mar-
kets in the form of forward, option and swap contracts
involving oil, natural gas, precious and base metals, and
electricity. The Company generally hedges these posi-
tions by using a variety of hedging techniques such as
delta hedging, whereby the Company takes positions in
the physical markets and/or positions in other commodity
derivatives such as futures and forwards to offset the mar-
ket risk in the underlying derivative. The Company prof-
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its from this business by earning a spread between the
premiums paid or received for these derivatives and the
cost of hedging such derivatives.

The Company also maintains proprietary trading
positions in commodity derivatives, including futures, for-
wards and options in addition to physical commodities, to
profit from price and volatility movements in the underly-
ing commodities markets.

Forward, option and swap contracts on commodities
are structured similarly to like-kind derivative contracts
for cash financial instruments. The counterparties to OTC
commodity contracts include precious metals producers,
refiners and consumers as well as shippers, central banks,
and oil, gas and electricity producers.

The following discussions of risk management,
market risk, credit risk, concentration risk and customer
activities relate to the Company’s trading activities.

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T
Risk management at the Company is a multi-faceted
process with independent oversight which requires con-
stant communication, judgment and knowledge of spe-
cialized products and markets. The Company’s senior
management takes an active role in the risk management
process and has developed policies and procedures that
require specific administrative and business functions to
assist in the identification, assessment and control of vari-
ous risks. In recognition of the increasingly varied and
complex nature of the financial services business, the
Company’s risk management policies and procedures are
evolutionary in nature and are subject to ongoing review
and modification. Many of the Company’s risk manage-
ment and control practices are subject to periodic review
by the Company’s internal auditors as well as to interac-
tions with various regulatory authorities.

The Management Committee, composed of the
Company’s most senior officers, establishes the overall
risk management policies for the Company and reviews
the Company’s performance relative to these policies.
The Management Committee has created several Risk
Committees to assist it in monitoring and reviewing the
Company’s risk management practices. These Risk
Committees, among other things, review the general

framework, levels and monitoring procedures relating to
the Company’s market and credit risk profile, general
sales practice policies, legal enforceability and operational
and systems risks. The Controllers, Treasury, Law,
Compliance and Governmental Affairs and Market
Risk Departments, which are all independent of the
Company’s business units, assist senior management and
the Risk Committees in monitoring and controlling the
Company’s risk profile. In addition, the Internal Audit
Department, which also reports to senior management,
evaluates the Company’s operations and control environment
through periodic examinations of business operational
areas. The Company continues to be committed to
employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise
in each of its various administrative and business areas to
implement effectively the Company’s risk management
and monitoring systems and processes.

M A R K E T  R I S K
Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of
one or more market prices, rates, indices, volatilities, cor-
relations or other market factors, such as liquidity, will
result in losses for a specified position or portfolio.

The Company manages the market risk associated
with its trading activities Company-wide, on a trading
division level worldwide and on an individual product
basis. Market risk guidelines and limits have been
approved for the Company and each trading division of
the Company worldwide. Discrete market risk limits are
assigned to trading divisions and trading desks within
trading areas which are compatible with the trading divi-
sion limits. Trading division risk managers, desk risk
managers and the Market Risk Department all monitor
market risk measures against limits and report major
market and position events to senior management.

The Market Risk Department independently
reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular
basis from a market risk perspective utilizing Value-at-
Risk and other quantitative and qualitative risk measure-
ments and analyses. The Company may use measures,
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such as rate sensitivity, convexity, volatility and time
decay measurements, to estimate market risk and to
assess the sensitivity of positions to changes in market
conditions. Stress testing, which measures the impact on
the value of existing portfolios of specified changes in
market factors, for certain products is performed periodi-
cally and is reviewed by trading division risk managers,
desk risk managers and the Market Risk Department.

C R E D I T  R I S K
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from the
possibility that a counterparty to a transaction might fail to
perform under its contractual commitment, resulting in
the Company incurring losses. The Company has credit
guidelines which limit the Company’s credit exposure to
any one counterparty. Specific credit risk limits based on
the credit guidelines are also in place for each type of
counterparty (by rating category) as well as for secondary
positions of high-yield and emerging market debt.

The Credit Department administers and monitors
the credit limits among trading divisions on a world-
wide basis. In addition to monitoring credit limits, the
Company manages the credit exposure relating to the
Company’s trading activities by reviewing counterparty
financial soundness periodically, by entering into master
netting agreements and collateral arrangements with
counterparties in appropriate circumstances and by limit-
ing the duration of exposure. In certain cases, the
Company also may close out transactions or assign them
to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.

C O N C E N T R A T I O N  R I S K
The Company is subject to concentration risk by holding
large positions in certain types of securities or commit-
ments to purchase securities of a single issuer, including
sovereign governments and other entities, issuers located
in a particular country or geographic area, public and pri-
vate issuers involving developing countries or issuers
engaged in a particular industry. Financial instruments
owned by the Company include U.S. government and
agency securities and securities issued by other sovereign
governments (principally Japan and Italy), which, in the
aggregate, represented approximately 12% of the
Company’s total assets at fiscal year end 1997. In addition,

substantially all of the collateral held by the Company for
resale agreements or bonds borrowed, which together rep-
resented approximately 34% of the Company’s total assets
at fiscal year end 1997, consists of securities issued by the
U.S. government, federal agencies or other sovereign gov-
ernment obligations. Positions taken and commitments
made by the Company, including positions taken and
underwriting and financing commitments made in con-
nection with its merchant banking and principal invest-
ment activities, often involve substantial amounts and
significant exposure to individual issuers and businesses,
including non-investment grade issuers. The Company
seeks to limit concentration risk through the use of the
systems and procedures described in the preceding dis-
cussions of market and credit risk.

C U S T O M E R  A C T I V I T I E S
The Company’s customer activities involve the execution,
settlement, custody and financing of various securities
and commodities transactions on behalf of customers.
Customer securities activities are transacted on either a
cash or margin basis. Customer commodities activities,
which include the execution of customer transactions in
commodity futures transactions (including options on
futures), are transacted on a margin basis.

The Company’s customer activities may expose it to
off-balance sheet credit risk. The Company may have to
purchase or sell financial instruments at prevailing market
prices in the event of the failure of a customer to settle a
trade on its original terms or in the event cash and securi-
ties in customer margin accounts are not sufficient to fully
cover customer losses. The Company seeks to control the
risks associated with customer activities by requiring cus-
tomers to maintain margin collateral in compliance with
various regulations and Company policies.

N O T I O N A L / C O N T R A C T  A M O U N T S  A N D
F A I R V A L U E S O F D E R I V A T I V E S
The gross notional or contract amounts of derivative
instruments and fair value (carrying amount) of the related
assets and liabilities at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, as
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well as the average fair value of those assets and liabilities
for fiscal year 1997 and 1996, are presented in the table
which follows. Fair value represents the cost of replacing
these instruments and is further described in Note 2.
Future changes in interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates or the fair values of the financial instru-
ments, commodities or indices underlying these contracts
may ultimately result in cash settlements exceeding fair
value amounts recognized in the consolidated statements

of financial condition. Assets represent unrealized gains on
purchased exchange traded and OTC options and other
contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange and
other forward contracts and swaps) net of any unrealized
losses owed to these counterparties on offsetting positions
in situations where netting is appropriate. Similarly, liabili-
ties represent net amounts owed to counterparties. These
amounts will vary based on changes in the fair values of
underlying financial instruments and/or the volatility of
such underlying instruments:

F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D A V E R A G E  ‚

G R O S S  N O T I O N A L / C O N T R A C T  A M O U N T ( 1 ) ( 2 ) F A I R  V A L U E S ( 3 ) F A I R  V A L U E S ( 3 ) ( 4 )

( D O L L A R S  I N  B I L L I O N S ,  A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D ) A S S E T S L I A B I L I T I E S A S S E T S L I A B I L I T I E S

1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Interest rate and currency swaps 
and options (including caps, 

$1,042 $ 622 floors and swap options) $ 7.1 $ 4.9 $ 6.3 $ 5.0 $ 4.8 $4.2 $ 5.9 $3.8
Foreign exchange forward and 

1,035 362 futures contracts and options 4.6 2.2 4.2 2.0 3.4 1.6 3.2 1.6
Mortgage-backed securities 

forward contracts, swaps 
42 31 and options .3 .2 – .1 .3 .2 – .1

Other fixed income securities 
contracts (including futures 

220 178 contracts and options) – .2 .1 .2 – .2 – .4
Equity securities contracts 

(including equity swaps, 
futures contracts, and 

112 61 warrants and options) 3.8 2.3 3.8 1.5 2.6 1.6 2.6 1.1
Commodity forwards, futures, 

78 63 options and swaps 1.3 1.4 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.3 .9 .7

$2,529 $1,317 Total $17.1 $11.2 $15.6 $10.0 $12.2 $9.1 $12.6 $7.7

(1) The notional amounts of derivatives have been adjusted to reflect the effects of leverage, where applicable.
(2) Notional amounts include purchased and written options of $572 billion and $549 billion, respectively, at fiscal year-end 1997, and $247 billion and $193

billion, respectively, at fiscal year-end 1996.
(3) These amounts represent carrying value (exclusive of collateral) at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996, respectively, and do not include receivables or payables

related to exchange traded futures contracts.
(4) Amounts are calculated using a monthly average.
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L E S S  T H A N 1  T O  3 3  T O  5 M O R E  T H A N
( D O L L A R S  I N  B I L L I O N S ) 1  Y E A R Y E A R S Y E A R S 5  Y E A R S T O T A L

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 7
Interest rate and currency swaps and options (including caps, floors and 

swap options) $ 210 $318 $209 $305 $1,042
Foreign exchange forward and futures contracts and options 1,026 7 2 – 1,035
Mortgage-backed securities forward contracts, swaps and options 20 1 4 17 42
Other fixed income securities contracts (including futures contracts and options) 109 80 26 5 220
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, futures contracts, and 

warrants and options) 87 17 7 1 112
Commodity forwards, futures options and swaps 58 14 4 2 78

Total $1,510 $437 $252 $330 $2,529

Percent of total 60)% 17)% 10))% 13)% 100)%

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 6
Interest rate and currency swaps and options (including caps, floors and 

swap options) $ 132 $191 $119 $180 $ 622
Foreign exchange forward and futures contracts and options 338 20 4 – 362
Mortgage-backed securities forward contracts, swaps and options 20 1 2 8 31
Other fixed income securities contracts (including futures contracts and options) 132 39 6 1 178
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, futures contracts, and 

warrants and options) 50 9 2 – 61
Commodity forwards, futures options and swaps 50 10 2 1 63

Total $ 722 $270 $135 $190 $1,317

Percent of total 55)% 21)% 10)% 14)% 100)%

The gross notional or contract amounts of these instru-
ments are indicative of the Company’s degree of use of
derivatives for trading purposes but do not represent the
Company’s exposure to market or credit risk. Credit risk
arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform
according to the terms of the contract. The Company’s
exposure to credit risk at any point in time is repre-
sented by the fair value of the contracts reported as
assets. These amounts are presented on a net-by-coun-
terparty basis when appropriate, but are not reported net
of collateral, which the Company obtains with respect to

certain of these transactions to reduce its exposure to
credit losses. The Company monitors the creditworthi-
ness of counterparties to these transactions on an ongo-
ing basis and requests additional collateral when deemed
necessary. The Company believes that the ultimate set-
tlement of the transactions outstanding at fiscal year-end
1997 will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial condition.

The remaining maturities of the Company’s swaps
and other derivative products at fiscal year-end 1997 and
1996 are summarized in the following table, showing
notional values by year of expected maturity:
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C O L L A T E R A L I Z E D O T H E R
N O N -  N O N -

I N V E S T M E N T I N V E S T M E N T
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) A A A A A A B B B G R A D E G R A D E T O T A L

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 7
Interest rate and currency swaps and options 

(including caps, floors and swap options) $ 740 $2,757 $2,534 $ 434 $ 26 $ 560 $ 7,051
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 788 2,504 1,068 72 – 176 4,608
Mortgage-backed securities forward contracts, 

swaps and options 156 90 50 2 – 10 308
Other fixed income securities contracts (including options) 14 4 10 2 7 8 45
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, 

warrants and options) 1,141 917 567 233 780 152 3,790
Commodity forwards, options and swaps 70 425 380 312 12 145 1,344

Total $2,909 $6,697 $4,609 $1,055 $825 $1,051 $17,146

Percent of total 17)% 39)% 27)% 6)% 5)% 6)% 100)%

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  1 9 9 6
Interest rate and currency swaps and options 

(including caps, floors and swap options) $ 739 $1,393 $1,977 $ 674 $ 25 $ 152 $ 4,960
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 727 824 539 28 – 50 2,168
Mortgage-backed securities forward contracts, 

swaps and options 66 65 64 19 – 5 219
Other fixed income securities contracts (including options) 53 52 41 22 6 31 205
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, 

warrants and options) 1,074 274 408 60 426 43 2,285
Commodity forwards, options and swaps 95 318 318 280 72 300 1,383

Total $2,754 $2,926 $3,347 $1,083 $529 $ 581 $11,220

Percent of total 24)% 26)% 30)% 10)% 5)% 5)% 100)%

The credit quality of the Company’s trading-related deriva-
tives at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996 is summarized in the
table below, showing the fair value of the related assets by

counterparty credit rating. The actual credit ratings are
determined by external rating agencies or by equivalent
ratings used by the Company’s Credit Department:

The Company has also obtained assets posted as collateral
by investment grade counterparties amounting to $1,219

million and $948 million at fiscal year-end 1997 and fiscal
year-end 1996, respectively.

9 .  PREFERRED  STOCK  AND  CAP I TAL  UN I TS

Preferred stock is composed of the following issues:

S H A R E S  O U T S T A N D I N G  A T B A L A N C E  A T
F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $35.88 3,646,664 3,699,302 $131 $ 133
Series A Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, stated value $200 1,725,000 1,725,000 345 345
7-3⁄4% Cumulative Preferred Stock, stated value $200 1,000,000 1,000,000 200 200
7-3⁄8% Cumulative Preferred Stock, stated value $200 1,000,000 1,000,000 200 200
8.88% Cumulative Preferred Stock, stated value $200 – 975,000 – 195
8-3⁄4% Cumulative Preferred Stock, stated value $200 – 750,000 – 150

Total $876 $1,223
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Each issue of outstanding preferred stock ranks in parity
with all other outstanding preferred stock of the
Company.

During fiscal 1997, the Company redeemed all
975,000 shares of its 8.88% Cumulative Preferred Stock at a
redemption price of $201.632 per share, which reflects the
stated value of $200 per share together with an amount
equal to all dividends accrued and unpaid to, but exclud-
ing, the redemption date. During fiscal 1997, the Company
also redeemed all 750,000 shares of its 8-3⁄4% Cumulative
Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $200 per share,
which was equal to the stated value of $200 per share.

The Company has Capital Units outstanding which
were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley
Finance plc (“MS plc”), a U.K. subsidiary. A Capital Unit
consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MS plc guar-
anteed by the Company and having maturities from 2013
to 2017 and (b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the
Company, which may be accelerated by the Company
beginning approximately one year after the issuance of
each Capital Unit, requiring the holder to purchase one
Depositary Share representing shares (or fractional shares)
of the Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The
aggregate amount of Capital Units outstanding was $999
million at fiscal year end 1997 and $865 million at fiscal
year end 1996.

During fiscal 1997, the Company and MS plc issued
8.03% Capital Units in the aggregate amount of $134 mil-
lion which mature in 2017.

The estimated fair value of the Capital Units approx-
imated carrying value at fiscal year-end 1997 and fiscal
year-end 1996.

1 0 .  COMMON  STOCK  AND  SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQU I T Y

In conjunction with the Merger, the Company increased
the number of authorized common shares to 1,750 million
and changed the number of authorized preferred shares to
30 million.

Prior to the consummation of the Merger, both
Morgan Stanley and Dean Witter Discover rescinded their
respective outstanding share repurchase authorizations.
At the time of the Merger, 5,902,751 shares of Morgan
Stanley common stock which had been held in treasury
were retired.

MS&Co. and DWR are registered broker-dealers
and registered futures commission merchants and, accord-
ingly, subject to the minimum net capital requirements of
the Securities Exchange Commission, the New York
Stock Exchange and the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission. MS&Co. and DWR have consistently oper-
ated in excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net
capital totaled $2,186 million at November 30, 1997 which
exceeded the amount required by $1,753 million. DWR’s
net capital totaled $764 million at November 30, 1997
which exceeded the amount required by $643 million.
MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is sub-
ject to the capital requirements of the Securities and
Futures Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-
dealer, is subject to the capital requirements of the
Japanese Ministry of Finance. MSIL and MSJL have con-
sistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory
capital requirements.

Under regulatory net capital requirements adopted
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”)
and other regulatory capital guidelines, FDIC-insured
financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1
capital, as defined, to total assets (“leverage ratio”) and
(b) 8% combined Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, as defined,
to risk weighted assets (“risk-weighted capital ratio”). At
November 30, 1997, the leverage ratio and risk-weighted
capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured
financial institutions exceeded these and all other regu-
latory minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are
subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations, and capital adequacy requirements promul-
gated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have
consistently operated in excess of their local capital ade-
quacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products
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Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative products sub-
sidiary, also has established certain operating restrictions
which have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

The regulatory capital requirements referred to
above, and certain covenants contained in various agree-
ments governing indebtedness of the Company, may
restrict the Company’s ability to withdraw capital from its
subsidiaries. At November 30, 1997, approximately $4,303
million of net assets of consolidated subsidiaries may be
restricted as to the payment of cash dividends and
advances to the Company.

Cumulative translation adjustments include gains or
losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial
statements from their respective functional currencies to
U.S. dollars, net of hedge gains or losses and related tax
effects. The Company uses foreign currency contracts and
designates certain non-U.S. dollar currency debt as
hedges to manage the currency exposure relating to its
net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional
currency subsidiaries. Increases or decreases in the value
of the Company’s net foreign investments generally are
tax-deferred for U.S. purposes, but the related hedge
gains and losses are taxable currently. Therefore, the gross
notional amounts of the contracts and debt designated as
hedges exceed the Company’s net foreign investments to
result in effective hedging on an after-tax basis. The
Company attempts to protect its net book value from the
effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates on its
net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar subsidiaries
by selling the appropriate non-U.S. dollar currency in the
forward market. However, under some circumstances, the
Company may elect not to hedge its net monetary invest-
ments in certain foreign operations due to market condi-
tions, including the availability of various currency
contracts at acceptable costs. Information relating to the
hedging of the Company’s net monetary investments in

non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries and their
effects on cumulative translation adjustments is summa-
rized below:

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Net investments in non-U.S. dollar functional 
currency subsidiaries $1,128 $1,279

Gross notional amounts of foreign exchange 
contracts and non-U.S. dollar debt 
designated as hedges(1) $1,881 $2,247

Cumulative translation adjustments resulting 
from net investments in subsidiaries with 
a non-U.S. dollar functional currency $ 6 $ 100

Cumulative translation adjustments resulting 
from realized or unrealized gains or losses 
on hedges, net of tax $ (15) $ (111)

Total cumulative translation adjustments $ (9) $ (11)

(1) Notional amounts represent the contractual currency amount translated at
respective fiscal year-end spot rates.

1 1 .  EMPLOYEE  COMPENSAT ION  PL ANS

The Company has adopted a variety of compensation
plans for certain of its employees as well as the Company’s
non-employee directors. These plans are designed to
facilitate a pay-for-performance policy, provide compensa-
tion commensurate with other leading financial services
companies and provide for internal ownership in order to
align the interests of employees with the long-term inter-
ests of the Company’s shareholders. These plans are
summarized below.

E Q U I T Y - B A S E D  C O M P E N S A T I O N  P L A N S
The Company is authorized to issue up to approximately
260 million shares of its common stock in connection with
awards under its equity-based compensation plans. At
November 30, 1997, approximately 164 million shares were
available for future grant under these plans.

Stock Option Awards
Stock option awards have been granted pursuant to sev-
eral equity-based compensation plans. Each plan provides
for the granting of stock options having an exercise price
not less than the fair value of the Company’s common
stock (as defined in the plan) on the date of grant. Such
options generally become exercisable over a one to five
year period and expire seven to 10 years from the date
of grant.
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The following table presents information relating to
the Company’s stock options outstanding at November 30,
1997 (share data in millions):

O P T I O N S  O U T S T A N D I N G O P T I O N S  E X E R C I S A B L E

W E I G H T E D  A V E R A G E W E I G H T E D  
A V E R A G E R E M A I N I N G A V E R A G E

R A N G E  O F  N U M B E R  E X E R C I S E L I F E N U M B E R  E X E R C I S E
E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S O U T S T A N D I N G P R I C E ( Y E A R S ) E X E R C I S A B L E P R I C E

$ 6.00 - $12.99 4.0 $ 8.51 1.9 4.0 $ 8.51
$13.00 - $19.99 31.8 17.24 6.9 26.0 17.07
$20.00 - $26.99 2.0 23.02 4.2 .7 23.62
$27.00 - $33.99 5.9 30.02 5.1 — 33.13
$34.00 - $40.99 3.5 35.55 8.9 .1 36.19
$41.00 - $47.99 4.9 43.33 6.2 3.7 43.23
$48.00 - $54.99 11.9 53.75 10.0 9.7 53.73
$55.00 - $61.99 .1 57.35 5.2 .1 57.35

Total 64.1 7.0 44.3

Deferred Compensation Awards
The Company has made deferred compensation awards
under a number of equity-based compensation plans.
These plans provide for the deferral of a portion of cer-
tain key employees’ compensation with payments made
in the form of the Company’s common stock or in the
right to receive unrestricted shares (collectively,
“Restricted Stock”). Compensation expense for all such
awards (including those subject to forfeiture) amounted
to $347 million, $534 million and $235 million in fiscal
1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995. Compensation expense
for Restricted Stock awards was determined based on
the fair value of the Company’s common stock (as
defined in the plans). The number of Restricted Stock
shares outstanding were 62 million at fiscal year-end
1997, 65 million at fiscal year-end 1996, and 56 million at
fiscal year-end 1995.

Restricted Stock awarded under these plans are sub-
ject to restrictions on sale, transfer or assignment until the
end of a specified restriction period, generally 5 to 10
years from the date of grant. Holders of Restricted Stock
generally may forfeit ownership of a portion of their award
if employment is terminated before the end of the relevant
restriction period. Holders of vested Restricted Stock
generally will forfeit ownership only in certain limited
situations, including termination for cause during the
restriction period. 

Employees Equity Accumulation Plan
Shareholders approved the Employees’ Equity Accumu-
lation Plan on May 28, 1997. This plan is intended to
align key employees’ interest with shareholders’ through
equity-based compensation and to permit the granting
of awards that will constitute performance-based compen-
sation for certain executive officers. Under this plan,
the Company will issue an aggregate of not more than
30 million shares of common stock, as calculated in accor-
dance with the plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, employees
may purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at
not less than 85% of the fair value on the date of purchase.
Employees of the Company purchased 0.5 million shares
of common stock in fiscal 1997, 0.7 million shares in fiscal
1996 and 0.8 million shares in fiscal 1995.

F I S C A L  1 9 9 7 F I S C A L  1 9 9 6 F I S C A L  1 9 9 5

N U M B E R  W E I G H T E D  N U M B E R  W E I G H T E D  N U M B E R W E I G H T E D
O F  A V E R A G E  O F  A V E R A G E  O F  A V E R A G E

S H A R E S E X E R C I S E  P R I C E  S H A R E S E X E R C I S E  P R I C E  S H A R E S E X E R C I S E  P R I C E  

Options outstanding at beginning of period 60.3 $17.04 63.1 $14.46 39.0 $10.60
Granted 20.2 48.16 7.5 30.15 32.0 17.89
Exercised (14.9) 11.68 (9.0) 9.45 (7.3) 8.60
Forfeited (1.5) 26.66 (1.3) 21.14 (.6) 17.17

Options outstanding at end of period 64.1 $27.85 60.3 $17.04 63.1 $14.46

Options exercisable at end of period 44.3 $26.67) 36.4 $13.82 36.0 $12.38

The following table sets forth activity relating to the
Company’s stock option awards (share data in millions):
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The discount to fair value was $2 million for both
fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996 and $1 million in fiscal 1995.
The plan is “non-compensatory” under APB No. 25, and,
accordingly, no charge to earnings has been recorded for
the amount of the discount to fair value.

Non-Employee Director Awards
The Company sponsors a stock plan for non-employee
directors under which shares of the Company’s common
stock have been authorized for issuance in the form of
option grants, stock awards or deferred compensation.
The effect of these grants on results of operations was
not material.

O T H E R  C O M P E N S A T I O N  P L A N S

Capital Accumulation Plan
Under the Capital Accumulation Plan (“CAP”), vested
units consisting of unsecured rights to receive payments
based on notional interests in existing and future risk-
capital investments made directly or indirectly by the
Company (“CAP Units”) are granted to key employees.
The value of the CAP Units awarded for services ren-
dered in fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995 was approximately
$14 million, $7 million and $12 million, respectively, all
of which relate to vested units.

Carried Interest Plans
Under various Carried Interest Plans, certain key employ-
ees effectively participate in a portion of the Company’s
realized gains from certain of its equity investments in
merchant banking transactions. Compensation expense
for fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995 related to these plans
aggregated $38 million, $0.2 million and $14 million,
respectively.

Real Estate Fund Plans
Under the Real Estate Compensation Plan and the Real
Estate Profits Participation Plan, select employees and
consultants may participate in certain gains realized by
the Company’s real estate funds. Compensation expense
relating to these plans aggregated $8 million, $13 million
and $9 million for fiscal 1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995,
respectively.

Profit Sharing Plans
The Company sponsors qualified profit sharing plans cov-
ering substantially all U.S. employees and also provides
cash payment of profit sharing to employees of its interna-
tional subsidiaries. Contributions are made to eligible
employees at the discretion of management based upon
the financial performance of the Company. Total profit
sharing expense for fiscal 1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995
(excluding Company contributions to the Employee
Stock Ownership Plan, which increased in fiscal 1995) was
$113 million, $72 million and $51 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan
The Company has a $140 million leveraged employee
stock ownership plan, funded through an independently
managed trust. The Employee Stock Ownership Plan
(“ESOP”) was established to broaden internal ownership
of the Company and to provide benefits to its employees
in a cost-effective manner. Each of the 3,646,664 pre-
ferred shares outstanding at fiscal year end 1997 is held 
by the ESOP trust, is convertible into 3.3 shares of the
Company’s common stock and is entitled to annual divi-
dends of $2.78 per preferred share. The ESOP trust
funded its stock purchase through a loan of $140 million
from the Company. The ESOP trust note, due September
19, 2010 (extendable at the option of the ESOP trust to
September 19, 2015), bears a 10-3⁄8% interest rate per
annum with principal payable without penalty on or
before the due date. The ESOP trust expects to make
principal and interest payments on the note from funds
provided by dividends on the shares of convertible pre-
ferred stock and contributions from the Company. The
note receivable from the ESOP trust is reflected as a
reduction in the Company’s shareholders’ equity. Shares
allocated to employees generally may not be withdrawn
until the employee’s death, disability, retirement or termi-
nation. Upon withdrawal, each share of ESOP preferred
stock generally will be converted into 3.3 shares of the
Company’s common stock. If the fair value of such 3.3
common shares at conversion is less than the $35.88 liqui-
dation value of an ESOP preferred share, the Company
will pay the withdrawing employee the difference in addi-
tional common shares or cash.
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Contributions to the ESOP by the Company and
allocation of ESOP shares to employees are made annu-
ally at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The cost
of shares allocated to participants’ accounts amounted to
$8 million in fiscal 1997, $9 million in fiscal 1996 and
$13 million in fiscal 1995. The ESOP debt service costs
for fiscal 1997, fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995 were paid from
dividends received on preferred stock held by the plan
and from Company contributions.

P R O  F O R M A  E F F E C T  O F  S F A S  N O .  1 2 3
Had the Company elected to recognize compensation
cost pursuant to SFAS No. 123 for its stock option plans
and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, net income
would have been reduced by $196 million, $41 million
and $147 million for fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995. Primary
and fully diluted earnings per common share would have
been reduced by $0.36, $0.08 and $0.25 for fiscal 1997,
1996 and 1995.

The weighted average fair value at date of grant for
stock options granted during fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995
was $16.76, $9.08 and $7.27 per option, respectively. The
fair value of stock options at date of grant was estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model utilizing the
following weighted average assumptions:

F I S C A L  Y E A R 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Risk-free interest rate 6.0% 5.5% 7.4%
Expected option life in years 6.0 5.3 8.1
Expected stock price volatility 28.0% 27.5% 29.7%
Expected dividend yield 1.3% 1.6% 1.9%

1 2 .  EMPLOYEE  BENEF I T  PL ANS

The Company sponsors various pension plans for the
majority of its worldwide employees. The Company pro-
vides certain other postretirement benefits, primarily
health care and life insurance, to eligible employees. The
Company also provides certain benefits to former or inac-
tive employees prior to retirement. The following summa-
rizes these plans:

Pension Plans
Substantially all of the U.S. employees of the Company
and its U.S. affiliates are covered by non-contributory
pension plans that are qualified under Section 401(a) of
the Internal Revenue Code (the “Qualified Plans”).
Unfunded supplementary plans (the “Supplemental

Plans”) cover certain executives. In addition to the
Qualified Plans and the Supplemental Plans (collectively,
the “U.S. Plans”), ten of the Company’s international
subsidiaries also have pension plans covering substantially
all of their employees. These pension plans generally pro-
vide pension benefits that are based on each employee’s
years of credited service and on compensation levels
specified in the plans. For the Qualified Plans and the
other international plans, the Company’s policy is to fund
at least the amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding
requirements under applicable employee benefit and tax
regulations. Liabilities for benefits payable under the
Supplemental Plans are accrued by the Company and are
funded when paid to the beneficiaries.

The Company also maintains a separate pension
plan which covers substantially all employees of the
Company’s U.K. subsidiaries (the “U.K. Plan”). During
fiscal 1996, the benefit structure of the U.K. Plan was
changed from a defined benefit plan to a defined contri-
bution plan. Under the defined contribution plan, bene-
fits are determined by the purchasing power of the
accumulated value of contributions paid. Under the
defined benefit plan, benefits were expressed as a propor-
tion of earnings at or near retirement based on years of
service. In fiscal 1997 and 1996, the Company’s expense
related to the defined contribution U.K. Plan was $15 mil-
lion and $3 million, respectively.

The following tables present information for the
Dean Witter Discover predecessor pension plans and
Morgan Stanley predecessor pension plans on an aggre-
gate basis.

Pension expense includes the following components:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

U.S. Plans
Service cost, benefits earned during 

the period $ 54 $ 48 $ 35
Interest cost on projected benefit 

obligation 67 58 50
Return on plan assets (170) (111) (103)
Difference between actual and 

expected return on assets 104 53 51
Net amortization 1 2 (1)

Total U.S. Plans 56 50 32
International plans 9 12 13

Total pension expense $ 65 $ 62 $ 45
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The following table provides the assumptions used in
determining the projected benefit obligation for the
U.S. Plans:

F I S C A L  Y E A R 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Weighted average discount rate 7.25% 7.50-7.75%
Rate of increase in future 

compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of return 

on plan assets 9.00% 9.00%

The following table sets forth the funded status of the
U.S. Plans:

1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) Q U A L I F I E D S U P P L E M E N T A L Q U A L I F I E D S U P P L E M E N T A L

Actuarial present value 
of vested benefit
obligation $ (735) $ (34) $(592) $(38)

Accumulated benefit 
obligation $ (807) $ (71) $(636) $(59)

Effect of future 
salary increases (181) (30) (140) (19)

Projected benefit 
obligation (988) (101) (776) (78)

Plan assets at fair 
market value 
(primarily listed 
stocks and bonds) 1,006 – 785 –

Projected benefit 
obligation less than 
or (in excess of) 
plan assets 18 (101) 9 (78)

Unrecognized net 
(gain) or loss (4) 27 (15) 13

Unrecognized prior 
service cost 31 (4) 5 (4)

Unrecognized net 
transition 
obligation 3 5 – 5

Prepaid (accrued) 
pension cost at 
fiscal year-end $ 48 $ (73) $ (1) $(64)

P O S T R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S
The Company has unfunded postretirement benefit plans
that provide medical and life insurance for eligible
retirees, employees and dependents. At fiscal year end
1997 and 1996, the Company’s accrued postretirement
benefit costs were $91 million and $85 million.

P O S T E M P L O Y M E N T  B E N E F I T S
Postemployment benefits include, but are not limited to,
salary continuation, supplemental unemployment bene-
fits, severance benefits, disability-related benefits, and
continuation of health care and life insurance coverage
provided to former or inactive employees after employ-
ment but before retirement. These benefits were not
material to the consolidated financial statements in fiscal
1997, 1996 and 1995.

1 3 .  INCOME  TA XES

The provision for income taxes consists of:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Current
U.S. federal $1,079 $1,096 $ 730
U.S. state and local 348 290 205
Non-U.S. 338 177 104

1,765 1,563 1,039

Deferred
U.S. federal (45) (326) (120)
U.S. state and local (17) (74) (54)
Non-U.S. (15) (26) (38)

(77) (426) (212)

Provision for income taxes $1,688 $1,137 $ 827

The following table reconciles the provision to the U.S.
federal statutory income tax rate:

F I S C A L  Y E A R 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.S. state and local income taxes, net 

of U.S. federal income tax benefits 5.1 4.6 4.2
Lower tax rates applicable to 

non-U.S. earnings (1.1) (1.7) (2.9)
Reduced tax rate applied to dividends (.1) (.1) (.2)
Other .6 (1.3) –

Effective income tax rate 39.5% 36.5% 36.1%
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T O T A L  R E V E N U E S N E T  R E V E N U E S

F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

International
Europe $ 6,468 $ 5,616 $ 4,551 $ 1,757 $ 1,429 $ 1,079
Asia 952 768 748 866 700 626

Total 7,420 6,384 5,299 2,623 2,129 1,705
North America 28,711 24,235 18,110 12,519 10,193 8,374

Eliminations (8,999) (8,448) (4,677) (309) (299) (259)

Total $27,132 $22,171 $18,732 $ 14,833 $ 12,023 $ 9,820

I N C O M E  B E F O R E  T A X E S I D E N T I F I A B L E  A S S E T S

F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L  F I S C A L
( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

International
Europe $ 399 $ 328 $ 237 $ 126,138 $ 113,734 $ 85,393
Asia 240 161 158 30,656 21,561 17,363

Total 639 489 395 156,794 135,295 102,756
North America 3,635 2,628 1,897 307,728 242,510 178,009

Eliminations – – – (162,235) (138,945) (98,804)

Total $ 4,274 $ 3,117 $ 2,292 $ 302,287 $ 238,860 $181,961

with a view to the profitability of the enterprise as a
whole, and, as such, profitability by geographic area is
not necessarily meaningful.

Because of the international nature of the financial mar-
kets and the resulting geographic integration of the
Company’s business, the Company manages its business

1 4 .  GEOGRAPH IC  AREA  DATA

Total revenues, net revenues, income before taxes and
identifiable assets of the Company’s operations by geo-
graphic area are as follows:

As of November 30, 1997 the Company had approxi-
mately $2.2 billion of earnings attributable to foreign sub-
sidiaries for which no tax provisions have been recorded
for income tax that could occur upon repatriation. Except
to the extent such earnings can be repatriated tax effi-
ciently, they are permanently invested abroad. It is not
practicable to determine the amount of income taxes
payable in the event all such foreign earnings are repatri-
ated. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of
temporary differences between the financial reporting and
tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using
the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
such differences are expected to reverse. Significant com-
ponents of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties at fiscal year-end 1997 and 1996 are as follows:

A T  F I S C A L  Y E A R - E N D  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

Deferred tax assets
Employee compensation and benefit plans $1,168 $1,061
Loan loss allowance 459 437
Other valuation and liability allowances 545 448
Other 180 100

Total deferred tax assets 2,352 2,046

Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid commissions 233 200
Valuation of inventory, investments and 

receivables 298 225
Other 265 169

Total deferred tax liabilities 796 594

Net deferred tax assets $1,556 $1,452

Cash paid for income taxes were $1,251 million,
$1,190 million and $887 million in fiscal 1997, 1996 and 1995.
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1 5 .  SEGMENT  INFORMAT ION

The Company is in the business of providing financial
services, and operates in two business segments —
Securities and Asset Management and Credit and
Transaction Services. Securities and Asset Management
engages in delivering a broad range of financial products
and services, including asset management, to individual
and institutional investors. Credit and Transaction
Services is engaged in the issuance and servicing of gen-
eral purpose credit cards, consumer lending and electronic
transaction processing services.

The following table presents certain information
regarding these business segments:

F I S C A L  Y E A R  ( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ) 1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6 1 9 9 5

Total revenues
Securities & Asset 

Management $ 21,499 $ 17,136 $ 14,523
Credit & Transaction Services 5,633 5,035 4,209

Income before income taxes(1)

Securities & Asset 
Management 3,597 2,426 1,591

Credit & Transaction Services 751 691 701
Identifiable assets at 

end of period(2)

Securities & Asset 
Management 277,878 213,967 159,318

Credit & Transaction 
Services 24,409 24,893 22,643

(1)  Excludes merger-related expenses of $74 million.
(2) Corporate assets have been fully allocated to the Company’s business

segments.

1 6 .  ACQU IS I T IONS  AND  D ISPOS I T ION

In January 1997, the Company acquired Lombard, a com-
pany which provides discount trading services, principally
to individual investors, through its Internet site, an auto-
mated telephone system, and a core group of registered
representatives. Subsequent to the date of acquisition,
Lombard’s corporate name was changed to Discover
Brokerage Direct, Inc.

In April 1997, the Company acquired the institu-
tional global custody business of Barclays PLC
(“Barclays”). The amount of consideration for this busi-
ness is to be fixed over a period of time based on account
retention. Barclays has agreed to provide global subcusto-
dial services to the Company for a period of time after
completion of the acquisition.

In July 1997, the Company sold the DWR institu-
tional futures business to Carr Futures, Inc., a subsidiary
of Credit Agricole Indosuez. This sale did not have a
material effect on the Company’s results of operations or
financial position.

In fiscal 1996, the Company completed its purchase
of MAS, an institutional investment manager, for $350
million, payable in a combination of cash, notes and com-
mon stock of the Company. The Company’s fiscal 1996
results include the results of MAS since January 3, 1996,
the date of acquisition.

In fiscal 1996, the Company completed its purchase
of VKAC for $1.175 billion. The consideration for the pur-
chase of the equity of VKAC consisted of cash and
approximately $26 million of preferred securities issued
by one of the Company’s subsidiaries and exchangeable
into common stock of the Company. The Company’s fis-
cal 1996 results include the results of VKAC since
October 31, 1996, the date of acquisition.
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1 7 .  QUARTERLY  RESULTS  (UNAUD I TED )

1 9 9 7 1 9 9 6

F I S C A L  Q U A R T E R F I S C A L  Q U A R T E R

( D O L L A R S  I N  M I L L I O N S ,  
E X C E P T  S H A R E  A N D  P E R  S H A R E  D A T A ) F I R S T S E C O N D T H I R D F O U R T H F I R S T S E C O N D T H I R D F O U R T H

Revenues
Investment banking $ 522 $ 581 $ 818 $ 773 $ 464 $ 599 $ 477 $ 650
Principal transactions:

Trading 869 722 778 822 823 679 534 623
Investments 56 136 206 65 (7) 38 29 26

Commissions 490 484 559 553 455 463 412 446
Fees:

Asset management, distribution 
and administration 587 610 656 652 397 429 427 479

Merchant and cardmember 436 424 433 411 319 346 379 461
Servicing 202 184 196 180 198 189 220 202

Interest and dividends 3,369 3,197 3,570 3,447 2,794 2,809 3,038 2,647
Other 29 38 41 36 30 37 23 36

Total revenues 6,560 6,376 7,257 6,939 5,473 5,589 5,539 5,570
Interest expense 2,709 2,478 2,765 2,854 2,250 2,245 2,419 2,020
Provision for consumer 

loan losses 379 376 385 353 224 270 302 418

Net revenues 3,472 3,522 4,107 3,732 2,999 3,074 2,818 3,132

Non-interest expenses
Compensation and benefits 1,490 1,505 1,849 1,175 1,275 1,303 1,171 1,322
Occupancy and equipment 128 127 134 137 119 120 122 132
Brokerage, clearing and 

exchange fees 95 113 130 122 77 79 76 85
Information processing 

and communications 270 267 249 294 232 239 249 276
Marketing and business 

development 288 274 293 324 229 243 247 308
Professional services 93 99 127 132 60 80 85 109
Other 180 180 219 191 167 166 160 175
Merger-related expenses – 74 – – – – – –

Total non-interest expenses 2,544 2,639 3,001 2,375 2,159 2,230 2,110 2,407

Income before income taxes 928 883 1,106 1,357 840 844 708 725
Provision for income taxes 357 356 428 547 322 304 250 261

Net income $ 571 $ 527 $ 678 $ 810 $ 518 $ 540 $ 458 $ 464

Earnings applicable to 
common shares(1) $ 552 $ 509 $ 663 $ 796 $ 502 $ 523 $ 443 $ 446

Per common share(2)

Primary earnings(3) $ .93 $ .85 $ 1.11 $ 1.33 $ .83 $ .87 $ .75 $ .76
Fully diluted earnings(3) $ .91 $ .83 $ 1.09 $ 1.30 $ .81 $ .86 $ .73 $ .74
Dividends to common 

shareholders $ .14 $ .14 $ .14 $ .14 $ .11 $ .11 $ .11 $ .11
Book value $18.70 $19.37 $20.25 $22.11 $15.86 $16.42 $16.93 $18.43

Average common and 
equivalent shares(2)

Primary 593,495,440 598,282,535 597,921,853 600,038,489 606,585,943 600,219,450 591,882,036 587,117,776
Fully diluted 606,621,425 611,724,590 610,187,894 612,255,249 620,807,404 612,616,954 604,879,722 601,438,805

Stock price range(4) $32.19-43.75 $34.50-41.50 $41.00-53.88 $47.31-58.75 $22.50-29.00 $25.56-31.06 $24.13-28.88 $27.56-34.38

(1) Amounts shown are used to calculate primary earnings per share.
(2) Per share and share data have been restated to reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split.
(3) Summation of the quarters’ earnings per common share may not equal the annual amounts due to the averaging effect of the number of shares and share

equivalents throughout the year.
(4) Prices represent the range of sales per share on the New York Stock Exchange for the periods indicated. The number of stockholders of record at

November 30, 1997 approximated 192,440. The number of beneficial owners of common stock is believed to exceed this number.



MSDWD 100

I N T E R N A T I O N A L  L O C A T I O N S
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Fax: (352) 3464 6220

M A D R I D
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S H A R E  P U R C H A S E  A N D  D I V I D E N D  R E I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  
& S H A R E H O L D E R  S E R V I C E S
Dean Witter Trust FSB is the Record Keeper for 

the Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan and the 

Transfer Agent for the Company’s common stock. For more 

information about the plan or assistance with address changes,

lost stock certificates, and share ownership, contact:

Dean Witter Trust FSB

Harborside Financial Center, Plaza Two

Jersey City, NJ 07311-3977

800-622-2393

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  O N  F O R M  1 0 - K  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R  I N Q U I R I E S
For general information about the Company and to request 

copies of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission, contact:

Shareholder Helpline:

800-733-2307

I N V E S T O R  R E L A T I O N S
Security analysts, portfolio managers, and representatives of 

financial institutions seeking information about the Company 

are invited to contact:

Investor Relations

212-762-8131

S H A R E H O L D E R  I N F O R M A T I O N

C O M M O N  S T O C K
Ticker Symbol: MWD

The common stock of Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter, Discover

& Co. is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and on the

Pacific Stock Exchange.

D I V I D E N D S
Effective January 1998, Morgan Stanley, Dean Witter,

Discover & Co.’s Board of Directors increased the quarterly

cash dividend to $0.20 per share of common stock.

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Two World Financial Center

New York, NY 10281

212-436-2000

Home page on the World Wide Web:

http://www.msdwd.com
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